Advances in Amorphous Oxide Semiconductor Devices, Materials, and Processes for Customizable Scalable Manufacturing of Thin-Film Electronics

by

Christopher R. Allemang

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Electrical and Computer Engineering) in the University of Michigan 2021

Doctoral Committee:

Associate Professor Rebecca L. Peterson, Chair Associate Professor Kira Barton Associate Professor Neil Dasgupta Professor Wei Lu Professor Max Shtein Christopher R. Allemang

allemang@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0000-0001-8712-0782

© Christopher R. Allemang 2021

To my parents, for giving me the world.

Acknowledgements

Throughout my life, there have been countless decisions, opportunities, and people that have all led me to be writing this thesis. Many of these were out of pure chance or privileges I have and I, therefore, acknowledge that privileges in my life have made this possible, or easier, than it would be for others.

I am extremely grateful for my research advisor, Professor Becky Peterson, who interviewed and accepted me into her group after I applied for the Ph.D. program at the University of Michigan. She has been an excellent mentor and supporter throughout this entire process. Without her support and encouragement when I was questioning my work, this would not have been possible. We have all faced unprecedented challenges during this time and Prof. Peterson has always been there for support and guidance. I also appreciate her willingness to discuss things outside of our work and consider her a great ally and friend.

I also thank my doctoral committee, Prof. Kira Barton, Prof. Neil Dasgupta, Prof. Wei Lu, and Prof. Max Shtein, for their willingness to serve on my committee and for their insightful suggestions.

The PetersonLab group members, both current and former, were invaluable as a resource to bounce ideas off of and to improve and refine my work. I specifically thank former group members, Youngbae Son and Wenbing Hu, for teaching me microfabrication and developing many of the processes this thesis relies on. I am thankful for Prof. Peterson giving me the opportunity to mentor Shantam Ravan, a former undergraduate lab member, who assisted in the development of the ALD processes used in this thesis. Both within and outside of the university, I am grateful for the friendships I have made. Making it past the first semester, and every other milestone, was, in large, because of their support.

I thank the Defense Advanced Research Project Agency and the National Science Foundation for their financial support. I would also like to thank Prof. Neil Dasgupta and Prof. Kira Barton and their current and former group members, especially Orlando Trejo, Tae Cho, Carli Huber, and Nazanin Farjam, for their collaboration on the National Science Foundation project. Without this interdisciplinary collaboration, this thesis would not be possible.

I thank the staff of the Electrical Engineering and Computer Science Department, the Lurie Nanofabrication Facility, and the Michigan Center for Materials Characterization for their support throughout my PhD. Working with them has been a pleasure and enabled this work.

I acknowledge and thank those in my undergraduate career, and earlier, who supported me in research and education, especially my undergraduate research advisor, Prof. Rudy Schlaf, and my mentor and friend, Dr. Eric Tridas.

Finally, I thank my parents, Tim and Toni Allemang, my partner, Andy Boehnlein, and the rest of my family for their unconditional support. They have supported me through my toughest days and given me confidence in anything I pursue. For that, I will always be grateful.

Table of Contents

Dedication	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	X
Abstract	xxvi
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Motivation for scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics	1
1.2 Amorphous oxide semiconductors for active layers in scalable manufacturing of thin-film electro	onics 4
1.3 Atomic layer deposition for scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics	6
1.4 Electrohydrodynamic-jet printing and area-selective ALD for scalable manufacturing customizable thin-film electronics	g of 10
1.5 Thesis objectives	12
1.6 Thesis overview	13
Chapter 2 High-Performance Zinc-Tin-Oxide TFTs with Active Layers Deposited by Ato Layer Deposition	omic 15
2.1 Introduction	15
2.2 Experimental Section	18
2.2.1 ALD ZTO Process	18
2.2.2 Device Fabrication – Common Gate	20
2.2.3 Device Fabrication – Separated Gate	21
2.2.4 Materials Characterization	21
2.2.5 Electrical Measurements	22
2.3 ALD Growth of Zinc Tin Oxide	23
2.4 Electrical Properties of Common Gate ALD ZTO Thin-Film Transistors	27
2.5 ALD ZTO TFTs with ex situ ALD Gate Insulator	43
2.6 Steep Subthreshold Swing ALD ZTO TFTs with in situ Gate Insulator	45
2.7 Impact of active layer thickness on device performance	48
2.8 Conclusions	51
Chapter 3 High voltage ZTO thin film transistor	53
3.1 Introduction	53

3.2 Experimental Section	55
Silvaco Atlas Simulations	55
3.2.1 Sample fabrication	56
3.3 Increased Blocking Voltage in ZTO HVTFTs through Drain Offset	58
3.3.1 Simulations Varying Offset Length	58
3.3.2 Reducing Series Resistance of Offset Region	60
3.3.3 Electrical and Breakdown Performance of Fabricated HVTFTs	62
3.4 Potential Next Generation HVTFTs	65
3.5 Conclusions	70
Chapter 4 Enhancement-mode ZTO TFTs with Improved Ambient Stability	72
4.1 Introduction	72
4.2 Experimental Section	74
4.3 Thinning of solution-processed ZTO active layer	76
4.4 Vacuum measurements and passivation of ZTO TFTs with various active layer thickness	77
4.5 Bias stress stability of solution-processed ZTO TFTs	83
4.6 Conclusions	84
Chapter 5 Robustness of Passivated ALD Zinc Tin Oxide TFTs to Aging and Bias St	tress 86
5.1 Introduction	86
5.2 Experimental Section	88
5.3 Results and Discussion	92
5.4 Conclusion	100
Chapter 6 Schottky Contact to ALD ZTO	102
6.1 Introduction	102
6.2 Experimental Section	107
6.2.1 Silver and Reactively Sputtered Silver Process	107
6.2.2 Process to Screen Other Potential Bottom Schottky Contacts	108
6.2.3 Process to Further Investigate Platinum as a Bottom Schottky Contact	108
6.3 Demonstration of the First Schottky Contact to ALD ZTO	109
6.4 Screening of Several Metals for Bottom Contact Behavior to ALD ZTO	115
6.5 Platinum as a Bottom Schottky Contact to ALD ZTO	121
6.6 Conclusions and future work	125
6.6.1 Conclusions	125
6.6.2 Outstanding Scientific Questions and Future Work	127
Chapter 7 Scalable Precision Customizable Thin-film Electronics	129
7.1 Introduction	129
7.2 Experimental Section	132

7.2.1 Atomic Layer Deposition and Electrohydrodynamic Jet Patterning	132
7.2.2 Thin-film Transistor Fabrication and Electrical Measurements	133
7.3 Developing the E-jet and AS-ALD Process to Fabricate the First E-jet Patterned AS-ALD De TFT	posited 134
7.4 Exploring Performance Limitations of the First E-jet/AS-ALD Device	136
7.4.1 The ALD ZTO Film	136
7.4.2 Ohmic Contacts to ALD ZTO	140
7.5 Towards an All E-jet/AS-ALD Device	144
7.6 Conclusions and Future Work	145
7.6.1 Conclusions	145
7.6.2 Outstanding Scientific Questions and Future Work	146
Chapter 8 Conclusion and Future Work	148
8.1 Contributions to date	148
8.2 Future Work	151
Bibliography	154

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Summary of 3D-IC approaches. 3
Table 1.2 Summary of the advantages and challenges of AOS deposition techniques9
Table 2.1: Growth conditions used for the ZnO and SnO_x steps within the thermal ALD process.
The binary GPC were measured by ellipsometry for films deposited at 200°C. Reprinted
with permission from reference [70]20
Table 2.2: Electrical properties of ALD ZTO TFTs discussed in this chapter. The corresponding
<i>I-V</i> curves are shown in Figure 2.7 and Figure 2.9. The ZTO layers were deposited with f_{Sn}
= 45%. Reprinted with permission from reference [70]29
Table 2.3: Comparison of previously published ALD ZTO TFTs with those reported in this
chapter. Reprinted with permission from reference [70]31
Table 2.4: Atomic fractions of oxygen atom components for various ALD ZTO films. The table
indicates three oxygen found in three environments: (1) fully oxidized surroundings (M-
O); (2) in oxygen-deficient regions (V_0); and (3) in hydroxyls (M-OH). The fractions are
obtained by deconvolution of the O 1s XPS spectra shown in Figure 2.12, taken after Ar
sputtering to measure bulk properties. The deconvolution procedure is described in the
Section 2.2.4. Reprinted with permission from reference [70]
Table 2.5: ZTO density for films with $f_{Sn} = 45\%$ determined by fitting the XRR spectra shown in

Figure 2.14. The fitting method is described in the note below. For comparison, note the density of SnO_2 is 6.85 g cm⁻³ and the density of ZnO is 5.6 g cm⁻³,[83] and a previous

- Table 2.6: Electrical properties of TFTs made using SiO₂ or Al₂O₃ gate insulator. The ZTO layer is deposited by thermal ALD at 150°C with $c_{Sn} = 21\%$ ALD ZTO annealed at 500°C. The *I-V* behavior and extracted mobility are shown in Figure 2.16a and Figure 2.16b, respectively. The peak mobility is the maximum value obtained for the V_{GS} range shown in Figure 2.16. Reprinted with permission from reference [70]......44
- Table 2.7 Comparison with other BEOL-compatible MISFETs. Adapted from [79].....47
- Table 2.8: Electrical properties of TFTs made with different ZTO layer thicknesses. The ZTO layers are deposited by thermal ALD at 200°C with 21% tin composition and annealed at 500°C. The *I-V* behavior and extracted mobility are shown in Figure 2.18a and Figure 2.18b, respectively. The last column gives the refractive index of the ZTO films measured

 Table 6.1 Brief summary of current AOS MESFETs
 105

 Table 6.2 Summary of sputtering parameters used.
 113

 Table 6.3 A brief summary of the properties of bottom Schottky contacts to AOS thin-films...116 Table 7.1 Summary of TFTs with direct printed semiconductor channel. Adapted with permission from [57].....131 Table 7.2 Comparison of O₃-based ALD ZTO performance with some of our other ALD ZTO

List of Figures

- Figure 1.3 An erosion ring appears in sputtering targets as they are used. The erosion ring causes non-uniformities, as illustrated here, for the resistivity of a transparent conducting oxide deposited by DC magnetron sputtering. Reprinted from [32] with permission from Elsevier.
- - Barton's group.....11

- Figure 2.2: Binary saturation curves of ZnO (red) and SnO_x (black) at an ALD deposition temperature of 200°C. Errors bars indicate uniformity across multiple samples placed in the deposition chamber during the same ALD run. Reprinted with permission reference [70].

- Figure 2.5: GIXRD patterns of ALD ZTO: deposited using a) and b) the thermal or c) the hybrid process at a) 150°C or b) and c) 200°C for a) as-deposited films with various tin

- Figure 2.6: a) Top: Schematic illustration of a TFT and bottom: top-down microscope image of a fabricated device. b) Transfer curves of thermal films deposited at 150°C annealed at 500°C. All TFTs have W/L of 10 and $V_{DS} = 1$ V. The legend indicates the tin composition obtained by XPS. c) Field effect mobility as a function of tin composition, extracted from the transfer curves shown in (b) and in reference [70]. Error bars indicate standard deviation based on measurement of at least four different transistors for each composition. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].
- Figure 2.8: The symbols indicate the linear field-effect mobility of TFTs fabricated using the 150°C hybrid process as a function of anneal temperature with error bars indicating the standard deviation of five measured devices. The lines indicate fits to $\mu_{FE,C}$ using equation (2.2).

- Figure 2.12: O 1s XPS spectra normalized to the M-O peak height of each film acquired after Ar sputtering of ZTO ALD films as-deposited (blue circles) and after 500°C anneal (red squares). The solid lines indicate fits using the atomic percentages of metal-oxygen bonds (black), M-O, oxygen vacancies (pink), V_O, and metal-hydroxide bonds (green), M-OH, listed in Table 2.4. Spectra for three ZTO films are shown: a) thermal ALD at 200°C; b) thermal ALD at 150°C; and c) hybrid ALD at 200°C. d) and e), zoomed in spectra showing

- Figure 3.4: A) Transfer curves of HVTFTs with various L_{OF} . All HVTFTs have a W/L of 10 and $V_{DS} = 1$ V. The forward *I-V* curves are indicated by the solid lines and the reverse *I-V* curves are indicated by the dashed lines. The hysteresis between the forward and reverse sweeps

- Figure 3.9: A) Diagram of simulated device. Simulation results of devices without a gate field plate and devices with $L_{FP} = 3 \mu m$. B) Breakdown voltage as a function of offset. C) Plot

showing the breakdown voltage and on-resistance of the devices. D) Normalized electric field between gate and drain edges at breakdown......65

- Figure 4.1: A) Schematic and C) cross section diagram of common bottom-gate top-contact TFT.
 B) Schematic and D) cross section diagram of passivated TFT. The n⁺⁺ silicon substrate and 100 nm of thermally grown SiO₂ act as the gate electrode and insulator, respectively.
- Figure 4.3: Transfer curves of ZTO TFTs as-fabricated in an air environment (pre-vac) and under vacuum after a vacuum treatment (post-vac) with $V_{DS} = 1$ V. The device in a) has a film

- Figure 5.1 (a) Schematic illustration of a ZTO TFT cross section with bottom-gate top-contact structure. Representative transfer characteristics (I_D - V_{GS}) with $V_{DS} = 1$ V are plotted on the left *y*-axis for devices with ZTO annealed at (b) 400°C and (c) 500°C. The forward *I*-V curves are indicated by the solid lines and the reverse *I*-V curves are indicated by the dashed

- Figure 5.2 (a) Band structure of bulk ZTO and (b) interfaces used in Silvaco ATLAS simulations. For (b), solid lines indicate the semiconductor/gate insulator interface (BG) used in all simulations while the dashed lines indicate the semiconductor/passivation interface (BC) used in simulations including a passivation layer. From [153]......90
- Figure 5.3 Changes in electrical characteristics of TFTs with aging. Symbols indicate the average of 5 measured devices and error bars indicate the standard deviation. From [153].......92

- Figure 6.1 a) *I-V* measurements demonstrating diodes can be fabricated using either MISFETs, by tying the gate and drain electrodes as shown in the inset, or through a Schottky contactbased vertical thin film diode (V-TFD). b,c) AC/DC conversion using a half-wave rectifier, schematically shown in the inset. The lower switching voltage of the V-TFD results in a higher V_{out} . d) Circuit diagrams of logic inverters using a bottom drive MISFET and a top load MISFET (left) or MESFET (right). e) Inverter characteristics show a sharper voltage transfer characteristic and higher gain is observed for the MESFET-loaded inverter. Adapted by permission from Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH: [16]...103
- Figure 6.2 a) Schematic cross section of ALD sample with ZTO etched prior to ZTO annealing.b) Schematic cross section of solution-processed sample during ZTO annealing. c) Top down microscope image of a) after annealing.
- Figure 6.3 On the left, we see the back of a sample with ZTO deposited on the back from the conformal vapor-phase ALD process. On the right, we see the back of a different sample after photoresist developing where the ZTO that was exposed to the developer was etched.
- Figure 6.4 a) *I-V* curve of a circular diode with 110 μm diameter. The bias was applied to the top Ag contact. b) Top-down microscope image of MESFET fabricated using ALD ZTO. c)
 Top-down microscope image of MESFET fabricated using solution-processed ZTO reprinted with permission from [16]. Notice, the Pd overlapping ZTO in b) and c) both show obvious reactions with the ZTO.
- Figure 6.5 SEM image taken at a 45° angle showing the AgO_x film thickness after sputtering a Ag target for 1000 seconds at 100 W DC, 5 mTorr, and 9% O₂......113

- Figure 6.6 a) Schematic cross section of lateral co-planar Schottky diode. b) Representative *I-V* curves for diodes created using the sputtering parameters listed in Table 6.2. c) ideality factor, e) barrier height, and f) rectification magnitude extracted from *I-V* curves. The black error bars indicate standard deviation based on analysis of five to six measured devices.

- Figure 6.11 Representative a) *I-V* and b) *J-V* curves for diodes as a function of device area in µm².
 b) inset: *J-V* curves corrected for the voltage dropped across the series resistance. c) ideality factor, d) barrier height, and e) rectification magnitude extracted from *I-V* curves. The black error bars indicate standard deviation based on analysis of five to six measured devices.

- Figure 7.2 a) Illustration of TFT structure. In this first generation of e-jet/AS-ALD printed TFTs, device isolation is achieved by ensuring that the AZO source and drain contacts are separate from other AZO regions on the sample, and are the only AZO feature to contact the ZTO island. b) Transfer characteristics (*I*_D-*V*_{GS}) of a 5-µm channel length device with *V*_{DS} = 1 V.
 c) Top-down SEM image of a device with a 4-µm long channel with corresponding AES mapping of d) Sn and e) Zn. f) Cross-sectional scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) image of a 4-µm channel device after selective AZO deposition using additive PVP printing. Reprinted with permission from [232]. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.
 135
 Figure 7.3 Field effect mobility as a function of anneal temperature for several ALD processes and

Figure 7.6 Output characteristics (*I*_D-*V*_{DS}) of e-jet/AS-ALD AZO contact TFTs.....141

- Figure 7.7 a) Width-normalized contact resistance of ZTO TFTs as a function of V_{GS}. The cyan curve shows sputtered Mo patterned by photolithography while the magenta curve shows
 Mo patterned by e-jet. As there is no significant change between the two patterning techniques, we conclude that the e-jet process is not limiting performance. b) Approximate band diagram of the AZO/ZTO interface, adapted with permission from [55], [239], [240].

Abstract

Electronic circuits comprised of thin-film transistors (TFTs) are essential to nearly every modern display technology. For decades, the TFT industry relied on amorphous silicon, but increasing performance demands required semiconductors with superior electron transport leading to the adoption of amorphous oxide semiconductors (AOS). The superior electron transport and ease of thin-film preparation of AOS has led to a growing interest in developing thin-film electronics for beyond-display technologies. These include monolithic 3D integration on Si complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor integrated circuits (ICs) – to continue Moore's law, add new functionality, and improve performance – and flexible electronics for electronic skins, textiles, solar cells, and displays. In this thesis we facilitate the adoption of thin-film electronics for beyond-display technologies by: 1) developing uniform and conformal AOS deposition processes with record performance; 2) demonstrating expanded AOS capabilities by exploring new device architectures; and 3) developing a new additive manufacturing technique for customizable scalable manufacturing.

First, we meet the performance and thermal budget requirements of AOS for beyonddisplay applications by using atomic-layer deposition (ALD) – a conformal, uniform, and precise vapor-phase deposition technique – and aggressively optimizing the process conditions. We discovered that improved electrical performance correlated with an increase in film density, which can be achieved by increasing deposition temperature, by post-deposition annealing, and by using plasma enhanced-ALD (PE-ALD). Second, we made innovations in device design to expand the range of circuit applications for AOS TFTs by exploiting the benefit of their wide-bandgap to fabricate high-voltage TFTs (HVTFTs). While the current handling capabilities of these HVTFTs cannot compete with conventional power electronics, the ability to deposit AOS materials directly on Si ICs may enable monolithic 3D integration of HVTFTs, adding new functionality as an HV interface to aggressively scaled low-voltage Si CMOS. Third, we show that ambient instabilities are caused by interactions between the surface of the AOS film and ambient molecules. We eliminate these instabilities by developing an ALD-based passivation layer. Fourth, we study the temporal and bias stress stability of our ALD AOS thin-film transistors and see excellent stability after the first month of aging and improved positive bias stress stability with passivation. Fifth, we investigate several materials to form a Schottky contact to ALD AOS films to enable future rectifier-based circuits and unipolar logic circuits. Finally, we develop an additive manufacturing approach for customizable manufacturing of AOS devices. Further improvement in device performance and reduction of channel length, enabled by the sub-µm precision of EHD, has the potential to yield fully customizable additive manufacturing of high-frequency circuits.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Motivation for scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics

Silicon has been the go-to semiconductor for more than 60 years, allowing for material characterization, device optimization, and enhanced production processes. State of the art silicon complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) technology has exploited materials and processes to reach commercialized 5 nm node integrated circuits (ICs) with 3 nm node technology in the works.[1] The continual two-dimensional device scaling continues Moore's law, an exponential increase of the performance-to-cost ratio, but as the nodes get smaller, the continuation of Moore's law becomes more challenging and may eventually reach a limit due to process or physical limitations.[2]

While Moore's law will reach a limit, the increase in performance demands will not, as the development of artificial intelligence and neural networks expands. Other technologies are being explored to continue performance improvements past two-dimensional device scaling. The "More-than-Moore" technologies being explored include novel computing methods and novel device structures and integration schemes.[3] Of particular interest to the material and device community are device integration schemes, including 3D scaling.



Figure 1.1 Schematic illustration of device-level monolithic 3D integration. Adapted from [4] copyright 2011 The Japan Society of Applied Physics.

Expanding two-dimensional device scaling to include a third dimension can be achieved through three-dimensional integration of integrated circuits at the package-, die-, wafer-, or device-level.[5]–[9] Of these integration techniques, device-level monolithic 3D integration, illustrated in Figure 1.1, offers the least complex method of increasing device density and reducing interconnect delays.[9] The devices used for device-level integration typically use thin-film materials grown on heterogeneous substrates without requiring bulk wafers, Table 1.1. Successful industry adoption of device-level integration requires scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics for high-throughput and large-area processing as the CMOS wafer size exceeds 8" in diameter. Silicon has been studied as a thin-film material by depositing amorphous silicon and using a laser to induce recrystallization into poly-silicon.[10] This process, however, is not suitable for large-area scalable manufacturing because polysilicon is not uniform across grain boundaries. Therefore, there is a need for other materials and processes for scalable manufacturing.

Semiconductor	Process	Process Temperature	Large-area Uniformity	Reference
Poly-Ge	Flash-lamp annealing of sputtered <i>a</i> -Ge	400°C	No	[11]
Poly-Si	Laser annealing of a-Si	400°C	No	[10]
CNT	CNT transferred from quartz	200°C (900°C growth)	Yes	[12]
MoS ₂ /WSe ₂	Exfoliation of MoS ₂ flakes and pick-and-place WSe ₂	120°C	No	[13]
c-IGZO	Sputtering	-	No	[14]
a-IGZO/SnO	Sputtering	-	No	[15]
a-ZTO	Solution process	520°C	Yes	[16]

Table 1.1 Summary of 3D-IC approaches.

Another rapidly growing application area for scalable electronics is flexible electronics. Flexible electronics are being investigated for stretchable electronic skins and textiles and flexible solar cells and displays. While the exploitation of silicon has been extremely successful for CMOS ICs, the substrates are flat and rigid prohibiting flexible applications. Several processes have been investigated to create flexible silicon-based CMOS electronics, but these approaches are often complex and subtractive resulting in a loss of material.[17] Furthermore, many of the flexible applications require large-area electronics and these processes are not compatible with large-area processing. As a result, silicon is not a commercially viable technology for flexible electronics and, again, there is a need for other materials processes for scalable manufacturing for flexible applications.

There are three main areas of development required for scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics: 1) materials, 2) processes, and 3) devices. These will be introduced in more depth in the following sections.

1.2 Amorphous oxide semiconductors for active layers in scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics

The two application areas for scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics discussed in the previous section, device-level monolithic 3D integration and flexible electronics, have their own electrical and material property requirements. For successful device-level monolithic 3D integration, the resulting devices should have a field-effect mobility, μ_{FE} , greater than 20 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, behave as normally-off (enhancement-mode) transistors, and be switched between on and off with the limited supply voltages used in 5 nm node Si-ICs with process temperatures below the back-end-of-line thermal budget of approximately 450°C. While the requirements of monolithic 3D integration are also desired for flexible electronics, flexible applications have the additional material requirement of deposition techniques compatible with flexible substrates.

While crystalline and poly-crystalline silicon meet many of these requirements, the uniformity issues with poly-silicon and limitation to largely flat and rigid substrates make crystalline and poly-crystalline silicon a poor-choice for scalable manufacturing. These same limitations exist for other crystalline and poly-crystalline materials prohibiting their use in scalable manufacturing for these applications. Amorphous silicon, on the other hand, removes the grain boundary uniformity issues and can be processed on a variety of substrates, but suffers from poor electron transport, as discussed later in this section. Another class of materials suitable for large-area application are organic semiconductors, but these too suffer from poor electron transport and environmental instabilities.[18]



Figure 1.2 Schematic showing the orbitals that form the conduction band minimums in covalently bonded silicon (left) and metal oxide semiconductors (right). The conduction band minimum of Si is comprised of sp^3 orbitals that are severely disrupted in the amorphous phase (bottom left) whereas the large spherical metal *ns* orbitals of metal oxides are insensitive to phase. Adapted by permission from Springer Nature Customer Service Center GmbH: [19].

The a-Si mobility limitation of approximately $1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ is due to the directivity and bond-angle fluctuation of sp^3 orbitals which make up the carrier transport paths, or conduction band minimum, in covalently bonded semiconductors.[19] The disruption of the conduction band minimum is not present in amorphous oxide semiconductors (AOS), containing post-transitionmetal cations, because the conduction band minimums are primarily composed of spherical metal *ns* orbitals with a large overlap between neighboring *ns* orbitals. This means that even in the amorphous phase, degenerate band conduction and mobility at least an order of magnitude higher than a-Si is possible in AOS. These orbitals are schematically illustrated in Figure 1.2.

Indium-gallium-zinc-oxide (IGZO) is a widely studied AOS successfully commercialized in scalable manufacturing for the active layer of thin-film transistors in display backplanes.[20] Successful commercialization is due, in part, to the large area uniformity which results from the amorphous structure that also makes AOS an ideal candidate for scalable manufacturing. In indium-containing AOS, such as IGZO, indium is required to achieve good electrical conduction because the large spherical *5s* orbitals of indium cause conduction band dispersion between neighboring metal ions. Indium has become an expensive metal due to scarcity and an increasing demand for transparent conductor materials that contain indium.[21] Indium is also a by-product of mining for zinc and is difficult to extract because it is naturally found with toxic elements such as cadmium.[22] The environmental impacts and scarcity of indium leads to a desire for indiumfree AOS thin-films. In this thesis, we focus on studying zinc-tin-oxide (ZTO) as an indium-free AOS with the *5s* orbital of earth-abundant tin replacing indium in causing the conduction band dispersion mechanism without sacrificing electrical performance. ZTO can be deposited by a variety of different techniques which will be discussed in the following section.

1.3 Atomic layer deposition for scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics

Deposition techniques compatible with the large-area and low-temperature process requirements of scalable manufacturing must also be able to deposit high-quality films to meet the electrical-performance requirements of scalable manufacturing. ZTO has been deposited using solution processing[23] and vacuum-based processes like pulsed laser deposition (PLD),[24] sputtering,[25]–[27] and atomic layer deposition (ALD).[28], [29] All of these deposition techniques are able to deposit films with typical field effect mobility of ~10-30 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, generally meeting the μ_{FE} requirements of device-level monolithic 3D integration. However, each deposition process presents unique opportunities and challenges for scalable manufacturing.

A portion of the work in this thesis uses solution-processing to deposit ZTO because it is a low-cost and low-barrier means of studying AOS.[30], [31] Recent work has also demonstrated the promise of using solution processing for device-level monolithic 3D integration.[16] These works currently require annealing the solution at greater than 450°C to create high-performance

thin-films making the process incompatible with BEOL processing and flexible substrates, presenting a challenge for industry adoption of solution processing for scalable manufacturing. A low-temperature vacuum-based technique may be a more viable option for deposition of highquality films for scalable manufacturing.



Figure 1.3 An erosion ring appears in sputtering targets as they are used. The erosion ring causes nonuniformities, as illustrated here, for the resistivity of a transparent conducting oxide deposited by DC magnetron sputtering. Reprinted from [32] with permission from Elsevier.

Sputtering, a type of physical vapor deposition, is one of the most widely studied AOS deposition techniques as it allows films to be deposited at room temperature.[33] Sputtered AOS thin-films have been commercialized for large-area thin-film transistor arrays demonstrating an AOS deposition technique in scalable manufacturing.[20] Sputtering of AOS materials does, however, present its own set of challenges. For example, moisture inadvertently introduced into the sputtering chamber during sample loading can lead to poor-quality AOS films, illustrating the importance of the chamber gas composition to device performance.[34] Therefore, precise control of the sputtering environment is required to achieve high-performance films. Additionally, sputtering can lead to compositional gradients across a substrate and changes in film morphology and electrical properties can occur as the target is used and eroded (Figure 1.3).[32], [35] While some research groups have leveraged this compositional gradient to study different film compositions, it is an unwanted characteristic when trying to deposit large-area uniform films for scalable manufacturing.[36], [37]

PLD, on the other hand, typically results in thin-films compositions very similar to that of the source material with minimal changes from the vacuum environment.[38] This is not to say, however, that the films are uniform across a substrate. The films in the center of the PLD plume may differ, in thickness, by up to 50x from the films at the edges of the plume, forming a somewhat Gaussian distribution of films thickness across a substrate.[39] Spatial non-uniformity and low-throughput present challenges in adoption of PLD for scalable manufacturing.

In addition to the unique challenges of each deposition technique outlined above, both PVD techniques are not suitable for non-planar substrates as they are line-of-sight deposition techniques. Some solution-process coating techniques, e.g. dip coating, can deposit on non-planar substrates, but the surface interactions required may prevent uniform coverage. ALD, on the other hand, is an advanced chemical vapor deposition (CVD) technique that can produce uniform films on both planar and non-planar substrates without line-of-sight limitations.[40]



Figure 1.4 A schematic illustration of one ALD cycle. First, precursor A is pulsed into a vacuum chamber. Once the surface is saturated with the precursor, the material is purged out of the vacuum chamber. Next, the same is done for precursor B or the oxidant species. Together, these make up one ALD cycle and ideally leads to one atomic layer of deposition. Courtesy of Prof. Neil Dasgupta's group.

The excellent uniformity and conformality of ALD is due to the process being a vaporphase deposition technique that exploits self-limiting surface reactions as illustrated in Figure 1.4. Furthermore, ALD is a low-temperature, atomically precise layer-by-layer growth technique allowing for precise control of film interfaces, stoichiometry, and thickness. All of these characteristics make ALD an excellent candidate for scalable manufacturing, Table 1.2.
Furthermore, industry has adopted ALD for deposition of high-k gate dielectrics, proving the scalability of the process.[41] The main drawback to ALD is the slow growth rate. Spatial-ALD, where precursors are separated by space instead of time, is being studied as a way to increase deposition speed and therefore throughput.[42]

Solution ProcessSputteringPLDALDUniform and ConformalYesNoNoYesProcess TemperatureHighLowLowLow

No

Yes

No

Yes

Table 1.2 Summary of the advantages and challenges of AOS deposition techniques.

Adopted in Industry

ALD has been used to deposit device active layers for many different quaternary or quinary indium-containing AOS materials with field effect mobility greater than the 20 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ minimum required for device-level monolithic integration.[43]–[47] As these processes are quaternary or higher and contain indium, they are more complex and costly than a ternary indium-free ZTO process. Most previous work on ALD ZTO focused strictly on the material science aspects,[48]–[55] with just two studying thin-film devices made using ALD ZTO.[28], [29] These studies report field effect mobility as high as 13.2 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, below the device-level monolithic 3D integration minimum. Therefore, new ALD processes are required to achieve high-performance within the scalable manufacturing performance and process requirements.

In addition, the previous work on ALD ZTO thin-film devices use thermal SiO₂, a low-k dielectric, as a gate insulator resulting in high switching voltages, the difference between the threshold voltage and turn-on voltage, leading to supply-voltage incompatibility with CMOS ICs. Furthermore, thermal SiO₂ must be grown on Si substrates and at high temperatures, neither of which are compatible with the applications of scalable manufacturing we are investigating. Fortunately, ALD can also be used to deposit high-k gate insulators, resulting in reduced switching

voltages and process compatibility with scalable manufacturing applications, but further work is required to integrate an ALD-based gate insulator with ALD ZTO active layers. As ALD can uniquely deposit high-quality dielectrics and semiconductors, *in situ* processes can also be studied to form excellent interfaces for low subthreshold swing TFTs.

1.4 Electrohydrodynamic-jet printing and area-selective ALD for scalable manufacturing of customizable thin-film electronics

Advances in photolithographic patterning have enabled the state-of-the-art 5 nm node ICs patterned using extreme ultraviolet (EUV) technology.[56] The entire process requires tens to hundreds of steps each using a set mask for top-down etching of deposited thin-films or selective ion implantation. While industry has worked for decades to perfect these processes for high-throughput of planar Si ICs, customizing the process to meet unique run requirements or patterning non-planar substrates would be costly and inefficient. As the field of flexible electronics grows to include more personalized and non-planar systems, there is an increased demand for customizable manufacturing in an inexpensive and efficient way. Additive manufacturing, building up layer-by-layer, is being studied as a customizable manufacturing technique.

Direct printing of materials, an additive manufacturing technique, allows for rapid lowcost customizable large-area 3D patterning. Standard inkjet-based direct printing can achieve pattern resolution down to 20 μ m.[57] To push the resolution limit, the "coffee ring effect" was exploited to print metal-oxide TFTs with channel lengths as short as approximately 3.5 μ m.[58] The challenges with this approach are that the semiconductor is deposited using a solution-process requiring annealing up to 350°C making the process incompatible with most flexible substrates and only achieves a moderate μ_{FE} of 4.9 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹.



Figure 1.5 Schematic illustration of electrohydrodynamic jet printing. Courtesy of Prof. Kira Barton's group. Electrohydrodynamic jet (e-jet) printing, illustrated in Figure 1.5, uses an electric field applied between a printing nozzle and substrate to perform direct printing of materials.[59]–[61] Using this process, long channel (> 50 µm) TFTs were directly printed.[62]–[64] As with the inkjet work referenced above, this process is incompatible with flexible substrates because the ink solution requires annealing at 500°C to achieve a μ_{FE} of 9.82 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. To meet the thermal budget of flexible substrates and the performance requirements of device-level monolithic 3D integration, the process must transition away from solution-processed active layers in favor of a lower temperature and higher performance deposition technique.

In the previous section, we explained why ALD is a good deposition technique for scalable manufacturing and here we will explain how ALD can be combined with non-photolithographic patterning for customizable manufacturing. Polymers deficient in the surface reaction sites required for ALD can act as inhibitors to ALD growth leading to area-selective ALD (AS-ALD) of oxides, nitrides, and metals.[65] The inhibitor polymers can be patterned by inkjet printing, micro-contact printing, and directed self-assembly of monomers to define features to manufacture thin-film devices.[66] By using inkjet printing of polymer inhibitors, ZnO TFTs have been fabricated with mobility approaching 20 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹.[67] Without special tricks, like the coffee ring effect introduced above, the resolution on inkjet-printing and AS-ALD is > 20 μ m.

E-jet printing has been used to print features with resolution down to ~30 nm.[61] By combining e-jet printing of inhibitor polymers and AS-ALD of thin-films, customizable fabrication of devices with sub-µm channel lengths on non-planar substrates may be possible. To successfully exploit e-jet printing and AS-ALD for high-performance device fabrication, the process must be developed with an understanding of the material's physical and electrical properties, the interfaces between materials, and how the manufacturing process impacts device performance.

1.5 Thesis objectives

The objective of this thesis is to develop advances in amorphous oxide semiconductor materials, processes, and devices to enable customizable scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics. Initially we develop an AOS ALD process to both increase the performance of indiumfree AOS semiconductors, to achieve $\mu_{\rm FE} > 20 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ required for device-level monolithic 3D integration, and reduce the process temperature to 200°C, to enable flexible substrate compatibility. To reduce the power consumption and enable compatibility with low-voltage CMOS, we use an *in situ* gate insulator to achieve TFT subthreshold swing approaching the ~59.7 mV dec⁻¹ room temperature Boltzmann limit. While there are many reports of using AOS to create thin-film devices, the majority of them focus on conventional TFTs. To explore the full capabilities of AOS in thin-film devices, we investigate other device architectures including highvoltage TFTs (HVTFTs). While analyzing the HVTFT performance, we discover instabilities and performance degradation caused by exposure to air-ambient. To improve the device stability and limit performance degradation, we develop a passivation layer. Once the ambient stability is solved, we study and improve the temporal and bias stress stability of AOS TFTs required for future adoption for beyond-display technologies. To further expand the range of devices that can be made using our ALD ZTO semiconductor deposition technology, we then investigate Schottkybased devices which requires the development and characterization of Schottky contacts to ALDbased AOS. Finally, we develop the e-jet and AS-ALD processes required to additively manufacture customizable high-performance devices. Combined, this work represents significant advances in customizable and scalable manufacturing of AOS thin-film electronics.

1.6 Thesis overview

In Chapter 2, we demonstrate three ALD processes to deposit ZTO. First, we study the material properties of the resulting thin-films and find an equation to fit the tin composition to the tin cycle fraction. Then, we tune the tin content, deposition temperature, and post-deposition anneal to achieve the highest $\mu_{\rm FE}$ ever reported for an ALD ZTO process. Furthermore, the temperatures are compatible with BEOL. A lower temperature process yielding a slightly lower $\mu_{\rm FE}$ can be used for flexible substrate compatibility. Finally, we use an *in situ* gate insulator with a low density of interface defects to achieve an excellent SS of 60 mV dec⁻¹. In Chapter 3, we begin with device modeling to study the impact of HVTFT device architecture on breakdown voltage, $V_{\rm BD}$, and on-resistance, $R_{\rm on}$. The findings from the device modeling are then used to inform successful fabrication and testing of HVTFTs. Finally, device modeling is used to suggest improvements to the HVTFT architecture. In Chapter 4, we study thinning of solution-processed ZTO and passivation of the back channel. Measuring fabricated devices under vacuum revealed that both active layer thickness and the back surface are important for device stability. Using this information, we developed an O₃-based ALD Al₂O₃ passivation layer leading to ambient insensitive enhancement-mode devices. In Chapter 5, we investigate the temporal and bias stress stability of our high-performance ALD ZTO TFTs. Devices show minimal changes in the first 25 days of aging and then excellent temporal stability. The positive bias stress stability is improved through application of a passivation layer. In Chapter 6, we investigate several materials as rectifying contacts to ALD ZTO and demonstrate the first Schottky contact. Future work improving Schottky performance will enable rectifier-based circuits and MESFET-based logic circuits. In Chapter 7, we describe our development of an e-jet and AS-ALD process required to additively manufacture high performance devices. This required an understanding of the impact of the manufacturing process on device performance, including interfaces and materials. The thesis concludes with Chapter 8, summarizing the contributions of this thesis and giving recommendations for future research based on scientific questions raised by this work.

Chapter 2 High-Performance Zinc-Tin-Oxide TFTs with Active Layers Deposited by Atomic Layer Deposition

2.1 Introduction

The superior electron transport, high optical transparency, amorphous morphology, and largearea uniformity of transparent amorphous oxide semiconductors (TAOSs) have led to their commercialization as thin-film transistors (TFTs) in display backplanes.[20], [68] To open new functionality opportunities and increase performance of silicon complementary metal oxide semiconductor integrated circuits (CMOS ICs), TAOS are being explored for back end of line (BEOL) 3D monolithic integration.[16] For a TAOS material to be considered for BEOL 3D monolithic integration the thermal budget must be compatible with CMOS, less than approximately 450 °C, and meet specific performance criteria, e.g. $\mu_{FE} > 20 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, enhancement-mode behavior, and small switching voltages.[69] Advances in material processes are required to meet the thermal and performance requirements.



Figure 2.1: Schematic illustration of the ZTO ALD supercycle used in this chapter composed of sub-supercycles with f_{Sn} of 50%, 33%, and/or 66%. The sub-supercycles can be combined and repeated in any order within the supercycle to obtain the desired f_{Sn} of the final ZTO film. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

Considering the vacuum-based deposition techniques, pulsed laser deposition (PLD),[24] sputtering,[25]–[27] and atomic layer deposition (ALD),[28], [29] the latter two are more promising for BEOL 3D monolithic integration as they are already widely used in industry. In this chapter, we will focus on ALD because it is a low-temperature self-limiting vapor-phase deposition process that allows for precise control of film interfaces, stoichiometry, and thickness.[40], [71] The more widely studied ALD processes are for the deposition of binary metal oxides (e.g., Al₂O₃, HfO₂, ZnO, etc.) grown using two precursors, a metal precursors and an oxidant (e.g. water, hydrogen peroxide, ozone, or oxygen plasma). In these binary processes, the substrate is first exposed to a dose of the metal precursor that reacts with functional groups on the substrate's surface and is then pumped out of the chamber. Next, a dose of the oxidant is injected into the chamber completing one cycle of ALD. One cycle is illustrated in Figure 1.4. The self-limiting nature of this process allows for precise, sub-nm, control of the film thickness. Multiple binary processes can be combined into a supercycle, illustrated in Figure 2.1, to deposit higher order oxides with the desired composition.[42], [72], [73]

ALD has been used previously to deposit a-IGZO,[43], [44] IZTO,[45], [46] or IGZTO[47] as active layers in high-performance TFTs. The processes used for these quaternary or quinary metal oxide alloys are more complex than the ZTO ternary process and contain indium. The majority of previous reports on ALD deposited indium-free ternary ZTO focus on the material properties,[48]–[55] with only two previous reports describing TFTs with ALD deposited active layers.[28], [29] Both of the reports on TFTs only explored using H₂O₂ as the oxidant and the resulting as-deposited devices were highly conductive (always on) requiring anneals at 350°C, or above, to achieve field-effect mobility greater than 11 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ making the process incompatible with most flexible substrates and the μ_{FE} too low for BEOL applications. [28], [29] After annealing, they observed a transition from conducting to semiconducting behavior which they attributed to a measured decrease in oxygen vacancies.[28] They also found a low content of tin was necessary to achieve good device performance.[29]

In this chapter, three ALD processes are investigated to create as-deposited semiconducting ZTO films with low concentrations of oxygen vacancies. The first and third processes take a traditional thermal or plasma-enhanced ALD approach using H₂O or oxygen plasma as the oxidant for both metal precursors, respectively, while the second process combines these two processes to use H₂O as the oxidant for zinc-related steps and oxygen plasma for the tin-related steps within each supercycle. In this thesis, the thermal H₂O, the hybrid H₂O and plasma-enhanced, and the plasma-enhanced processes will be referred to as the "thermal," "hybrid," and "plasma" processes, respectively. In contrast with the previously reported ALD ZTO TFTs, all three deposition processes explored in this chapter result in semiconducting as-deposited behavior. The hybrid process shows an as-deposited field-effect electron mobility, μ_{FE} , as high as 13.8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹

increasing to a record high value for an ALD ZTO process of greater than $22 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ after annealing.

We will also explore moving beyond thermal SiO₂ as the gate insulator, in order to reduce the power consumption and enable compatibility with low-voltage CMOS and flexible substrates. While previous works have shown *SS* below the Boltzmann limit by tunneling, charge trapping [74], impact-ionization, or negative capacitance [75], these processes are not easily scaled at the BEOL or introduce unwanted instabilities. By using an *in situ* ALD gate insulator with a low density of interface defects (D_{it}), we reach an *SS* of 60 mV dec⁻¹ with BEOL-compatible materials and a traditional, scalable, metal-insulator-semiconductor-field-effect-transistor (MISFET) structure. The ALD ZTO processes presented in this chapter have thermal budgets less than 450°C enabling compatibility with BEOL and other large-area monolithic integration of thin-film electronics.

2.2 Experimental Section

2.2.1 ALD ZTO Process

All ZTO films were deposited using a flow-type ALD tool with the thermal process using a custom-built thermal ALD tool[76] and the hybrid and plasma processes using a Veeco Fiji G2 ALD tool. The binary ZnO and SnO_x used diethylzinc (DEZ; thermal: Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, \geq 52 wt. % Zn Basis; plasma/hybrid: Strem Chemicals, Inc. Newburyport, MA, 95%) and tetrakis(dimethylamino)tin (TDMASn, thermal: Strem Chemical, Inc., Newburyport, MA, 99%; plasma/hybrid: Strem Chemicals, Inc., Newburyport, MA 99%) for the metal precursors, respectively. The oxidants were deionized H₂O for the thermal process and the ZnO cycles of the hybrid process and 300 W O₂ plasma for the plasma process and SnO_x cycles of the hybrid process. The binary cycles were repeated to generate ZTO films with a desired thickness and tin cycle fraction. The thermal process used ultra-high purity Ar (GGI International, LLC, Washington, PA, 99.999%) set to a flow rate of 10 sccm during pulses for the carrier gas and during purges. The substrate temperature was set to 130°C, 150°C, or 200°C.



Figure 2.2: Binary saturation curves of ZnO (red) and SnO_x (black) at an ALD deposition temperature of 200°C. Errors bars indicate uniformity across multiple samples placed in the deposition chamber during the same ALD run. Reprinted with permission reference [70].

Spectroscopic ellipsometry was used to measure the film thickness and generate the pulse length saturation curves for the thermal process DEZ and TDMASn binaries at 200°C, Figure 2.2. For the pulse times tested, there is no significant change in the growth-per-cycle (GPC), indicating that the films deposited at 200°C are within the ALD regime. We note that when the deposition temperature is increased from 150°C to 200°C, the GPC of the binary SnO_x is significantly reduced while the GPC of the binary ZnO only slightly reduced. This leads to a thinner ZTO film achieved at 200°C for the same number of ALD cycles. As the deposition temperature increased, the tin composition stayed around 21%, perhaps due to increased suppression of ZnO growth within the ternary oxide under these deposition conditions. The specific details about the growth conditions used for these tests can be found in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1: Growth conditions used for the ZnO and SnO_x steps within the thermal ALD process. The binary GPC were measured by ellipsometry for films deposited at 200°C. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

Element	Precursor	Source Temp.	Pulse Time [sec]	Purge Time [sec]	Binary GPC [Å cycle ⁻¹]
Zn	Diethylzinc (DEZ)	20 °C	0.05	30	1.59
Sn	tetrakis(dimethylamino)tin (TDMASn)	65 °C	0.2	30	0.15

2.2.2 Device Fabrication – Common Gate

Heavily doped n⁺ silicon was used as the substrate and gate electrode for all common gate TFTs in this chapter. The gate insulator is either 100 nm thermally grown SiO₂ or approximately 30 nm of Al₂O₃ deposited using ALD. The ALD Al₂O₃ process used trimethylaluminum (TMA; Strem Chemical, Inc., Newburyport, MA, 99%) as the metal precursor in an O₂ plasma-based based ALD process at 150°C in an Oxford OpAL ALD system. ZTO deposited using the processes described above was patterned by wet etching for device isolation. Annealed devices were placed on a hotplate at 300°C, 400°C, or 500°C for one hour in a custom-built moisture-controlled glovebox flowing compressed air with humidity less than 20% RH.[77] Source and drain contacts were made by sputtering approximately 100 nm of molybdenum and patterned by lift-off.[78]

2.2.3 Device Fabrication – Separated Gate



Figure 2.3 a) Schematic cross section of bottom-gate top-contact MISFET. b) Top-down microscope image of fabricated device. Red-line indicates cutline for cross section in a). From [79].

Bottom-gate, top-contact MISFETs with channel width (*W*) and length (*L*) of 520 and 50 μ m, respectively, were fabricated with a cross-section shown schematically in Figure 2.3a. To create the patterned gate electrode, approximately 100 nm molybdenum was sputtered onto a silicon substrate with 100 nm thermally-grown SiO₂. The Mo was then etched using XeF₂. Then, approximately 35 nm Al₂O₃ was deposited for the gate insulator using an O₃-based ALD process at 200°C. Without breaking vacuum, approximately 11 nm of ZTO with a Sn content of 21 at. % was deposited by ALD at 200°C using a hybrid thermal and O₂-plasma based process for the active layer [70]. The ZTO was then wet-etched for device isolation before being annealed for one hour at 400°C in air with relative humidity < 20%. Next, the gate insulator was wet-etched to allow probing of the gate electrode. Finally, approximately 100 nm of molybdenum was deposited by sputtering and patterned by lift-off to form the source and drain electrodes (Figure 2.3b).

2.2.4 Materials Characterization

The thickness of ALD thin films on Si (100) substrates was measured using ellipsometry (J. A. Woollam M-2000) and a Cauchy model (wavelength range: 400 – 1600 nm). The crystallinity

of ZTO films was analyzed using GIXRD (Rigaku Smartlab X-ray Diffractometer) at a grazing incidence of 1° for 2θ from 20° to 70°. XPS was performed using a Kratos Axis Ultra XPS with settings described in reference [70]. The XPS curves were analyzed using CasaXPS software where each peak was fit using a Gaussian-Lorentzian curve with a full-width half max less than two and a linear background. The ZTO film composition was analyzed by integrating the area under the Zn 2p_{3/2} (near 1021.8 eV), Sn 3d_{5/2} (near 486.2 eV), and O 1s peaks with relative sensitivity factors of 3.726, 4.725, 0.780, and 0.287, respectively. Ar sputtering was used for depth profiling as described in reference [70]. Film density was measured using XRR (Rigaku Smartlab) as described in reference [70] and analyzed using GlobalFit 2 Rigaku software version 2.0.10.0.

2.2.5 Electrical Measurements

Electrical measurements were taken using 3 PLC integration with continuous voltage sweeps in the dark at room temperature using a Keysight B1505A with a noise floor of several pA. Forward *I-V* curves, sweeping V_{GS} negative to positive, were taken first immediately followed by reverse *I-V* sweeps, sweeping V_{GS} positive to negative. During I_D - V_{GS} measurements three forward and reverse sweeps were measured consecutively and the third sweep is reported in this chapter. The gate current for devices with 100 nm thermal SiO₂ is less than 100 pA, Figure 2.10. The mobility was extracted using a gate voltage range of 27 V to 30 V with V_{DS} = 1 V and the procedure outlined in reference [70]. Unless otherwise specified, all device parameters and *I-V* curves were taken with V_{DS} = 1 V. Only positive I_D is plotted therefore any data points which appear missing or below the co-ordinate axis are due to current flowing out of the drain. Hysteresis is measured as the difference between V_{GS} of the forward and reverse sweep required to achieve 100 nA I_D at 1 V V_{DS} , sub-threshold slope, *SS*, is the inverse of the logarithmic rate of device current turn-on, and the turn-on voltage, V_{ON} , is defined as the value of V_{GS} where the subthreshold slope is minimum.

2.3 ALD Growth of Zinc Tin Oxide

As described in Section 2.2.1, the ZTO ALD processes used in this chapter use diethylzinc (DEZ) and tetrakis(dimethylamino)tin (TDMASn) as the metal precursors for the ZnO and SnO_x binary cycles, respectively. The ternary ZTO deposition process combines these binary cycles and can be characterized using the tin cycle fraction, f_{Sn} , defined as the total number of metal precursors steps within one supercycle that use the tin precursor. The tin composition, c_{Sn} , is usually lower than f_{Sn} for ALD ZTO because the SnO_x cycles deposit fewer atoms than the ZnO cycles.[48], [50], [51], [53], [55] As reported throughout the literature, the composition and cycle fraction of ALD ZTO are also not linearly related, with the net ternary growth-per-cycle (GPC) reduced compared to what would be expected from the binary constituents. The non-linearity is caused by a recued ZnO GPC when deposited after a SnO_x cycle and is attributed to suppression of ZnO nucleation and growth on SnO_x surfaces.[51], [53], [54]

Suppressed growth of one ALD material on another is seen in other ALD processes and one strategy to overcome this is a nanolaminate approach where discrete binary oxide layers are deposited resulting in f_{sn} becoming dependent on the relative thickness of each binary oxide. Annealing can be used to drive interdiffusion of the nanolaminate films,[73], [80] but this process can cause the formation of unwanted discrete ZnO and SnO_x inclusions in a ternary ALD ZTO process.[53] A tailored supercycle strategy minimizing the number of sequential binary cycles is used in this chapter as an alternative to the nanolaminate process to create a well-mixed amorphous and homogenous film by minimizing differences caused by the suppression of ZnO growth.[81] Within this supercycle approach, we used sub-supercycles with low f_{sn} as schematically illustrated

in Figure 2.1 with the goal of achieving a solid solution of amorphous ZTO through atomic-level intermixing.



Figure 2.4: a) C 1s XPS core scans of 21% tin composition films deposited at 200°C using thermal ALD. Scans were taken at the surface and after Ar sputtering of various duration to measure film properties. Both as-deposited (solid lines) and 500°C annealed films (dotted lines) show carbon at the film surface. After 300 sec of sputtering, the amount of carbon is below the detection limit of XPS, ~0.1 at. %. b) Tin composition, c_{Sn} , obtained from XPS taken after 200 s sputtering, as a function of tin cycle fraction, f_{Sn} , for ZTO films deposited at 150 °C using the thermal ALD process. Experimental data is shown in symbols. The dashed lines indicate fits using the rule of mixtures (Equation (2.1)) (black dashed line) and with a reduced ZnO growth rate of 1.27 Å/cycle (red dashed line). Adapted with permission from reference [70].

X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) was used to analyze purity and composition of resulting ZTO thin films. Adventitious surface carbon was removed using Ar sputtering and then C 1s core scans were taken revealing the bulk films are free of carbon impurities within ~0.1 at. %, the XPS detection limit, Figure 2.4a. Cores scans of the Zn $2p_{3/2}$ and Sn $3d_{5/2}$ levels were used for compositional analysis of the tin composition, c_{Sn} , as a function of f_{Sn} where c_{Sn} was varied from 20% to 40% by varying f_{Sn} from 45% to 67%, as this range results in optimal semiconductor properties for several ZTO deposition techniques.[29], [36], [82] Figure 2.4b compares the results of the compositional analysis (black squares) for the thermal films deposited at 150°C to the rule of mixtures (black dashed line) given by Equation (2.1):[50]

$$c_{Sn} = \frac{n_{SnO_2} \frac{\rho_{SnO_2} r_{SnO_2}}{M_{SnO_2}}}{n_{SnO_2} \frac{\rho_{SnO_2} r_{SnO_2}}{M_{SnO_2}} + n_{ZnO} \frac{\rho_{ZnO} r_{ZnO}}{M_{ZnO}}}$$
(2.1)

where, for SnO₂ and ZnO, the density, ρ_{SnO_2} and ρ_{ZnO} , is 6.85 g cm⁻³ and 5.6 g cm⁻³, the molar mass, M_{SnO_2} and M_{ZnO} , is 150.7 g mol⁻¹ and 81.4 g mol⁻¹,[83] and the measured binary GPC of the thermal process at 150°C, r_{SnO_2} and r_{ZnO} , is 0.6 Å cycle⁻¹ and 1.6 Å cycle⁻¹, respectively, and *n* represents the number of binary cycles in one supercycle. The poor fit, in agreement with previous studies,[50], [55] is a result of the reduced ZnO growth after SnO_x cycles where approximately 6 cycles of ZnO is required to achieve the binary GPC.[51] As the supercycle design approach used in this chapter only has one or two ZnO cycles in a row, r_{ZnO} can be reduced to the GPC of ZnO after a SnO_x, found to be approximately 1.26 Å cycle⁻¹. Using the reduced r_{ZnO} in Equation (2.1) results in much closer fit to the data, red dashed curve in Figure 2.4b. Previous work with a different supercycle approach required complex equations to fit the ratios.[50] The result is a ternary ALD deposition technique that allows for precise tuning of the film composition with c_{Sn} ranging the values of interest for active electronic devices.



Figure 2.5: GIXRD patterns of ALD ZTO: deposited using a) and b) the thermal or c) the hybrid process at a) 150°C or b) and c) 200°C for a) as-deposited films with various tin composition or b) and c) 45% tin cycle fraction as-deposited and annealed at 500°C. ZnO peak positions (JCPDS No. 36-1451) are shown at the bottom. Adapted with permission from reference [70].

Grazing incidence x-ray diffraction (GIXRD) was used to verify the amorphous phase of the ALD deposited ZTO films. As-deposited films deposited using the thermal process at 150°C with c_{Sn} of 18% and 21% (f_{Sn} of 33% and 45%, respectively) are x-ray amorphous, Figure 2.5a, showing only a single broad peak centered around 2θ of 35° . The broad peak encompasses the hexagonal wurtzite ZnO peaks at 20 of 31.8° (100), 34.4° (002), and 36.3° (101)[84] and has been observed previously in other work on amorphous or mostly amorphous ZTO.[52], [85] While these ZTO films appear x-ray amorphous, small (less than 10 nm) crystallites in an amorphous matrix may be present. [52] As zinc content increases (c_{Sn} and f_{Sn} of 14% and 25%, respectively) multiple distinct crystalline peaks are present in the broad peak indicating the formation of larger nanocrystallites. Figure 2.5b and Figure 2.5c show the GIXRD patterns for $45\% f_{Sn}$ films before and after post-deposition annealing for the thermal and hybrid processes, respectively. These films are amorphous as-deposited and remain amorphous after the 500°C anneal as expected because the crystallization temperature of ZTO is typically greater than 600°C, [85], [86] much higher than that of the binary components. The GIXRD results indicate the sub-supercycle approach used in this chapter results in successful atomic-level intermixing of zinc and tin within an amorphous metal oxide matrix when c_{Sn} is greater than 14%.



2.4 Electrical Properties of Common Gate ALD ZTO Thin-Film Transistors

Figure 2.6: a) Top: Schematic illustration of a TFT and bottom: top-down microscope image of a fabricated device. b) Transfer curves of thermal films deposited at 150°C annealed at 500°C. All TFTs have W/L of 10 and V_{DS} = 1 V. The legend indicates the tin composition obtained by XPS. c) Field effect mobility as a function of tin composition, extracted from the transfer curves shown in (b) and in reference [70]. Error bars indicate standard deviation based on measurement of at least four different transistors for each composition. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

To achieve high-mobility semiconducting ALD ZTO films, we first optimized the tin composition by depositing films with various tin cycle fractions using the thermal process at 150°C with a 500°C post-deposition anneal in air. We also created ZnO, $c_{Sn} = 0\%$, films for comparison using the binary thermal ALD process. These films were used as the active layer in bottom gate, top contact transistors as shown in Figure 2.6a with corresponding transfer curves found in Figure 2.6b and reference [70] and extracted mobility in Figure 2.6c. For the ZTO films, the highest field-effect mobility, μ_{FE} , was observed for a tin composition of 21% with lower mobility values observed with lower or higher tin composition fractions in agreement with prior results using other ZTO deposition methods.[36], [82] The observed mobility roll off at low tin composition fractions is likely due to the formation of ZnO nanocrystallites, consistent with the XRD observations in Figure 2.5a.[23] At higher c_{sn} , ZTO has been shown to crystallize into a rutile, SnO₂-like structure where Zn may occupy the Sn site and act as an acceptor or electron-trap, reducing electron mobility.[87] While binary ZnO has a reasonably high mobility, the mobility of ZnO TFTs has a

larger device-to-device variation and a larger subthreshold slope, SS, of 2.15 V dec⁻¹ compared to the ZTO SS of 0.57 V dec⁻¹ for $c_{\text{Sn}} = 21\%$.



Figure 2.7: Transfer curves of ALD ZTO TFTs deposited at 150°C with $f_{Sn} = 45\%$ versus post-deposition anneal temperature in a,b) semi-log and d,e) linear scale for ZTO deposited using a,d) thermal process; and b,e) the hybrid process. c) Field effect mobility as a function of anneal temperature, extracted from 27 V < V_{GS} < 30 V in (f) and (g). Error bars indicate standard deviation from measurement of at least five different transistors for each condition. f,g) Field-effect mobility extracted from the transfer curves. All TFTs have W/L of 10 and V_{DS} = 1 V. The 500°C curve in (a) is the same as the 21% c_{Sn} curve in Figure 2.6b. Adapted with permission from reference [70].

Next, the impact of the oxidant used during the ALD process was studied by comparing as-deposited performance of TFTs with ZTO active layers deposited using the thermal and hybrid ALD processes at 150°C with $f_{Sn} = 45\%$, found to yield $c_{Sn} = 21\%$ above. Transfer curves and effective mobility are shown in Figure 2.7 and extracted device parameters are reported in Table 2.2. TFTs fabricated using both ALD processes exhibit as-deposited semiconductor field-effect behavior and operate as enhancement mode devices with turn-on voltages, V_{ON} , above 0 V. In contrast, a prior report on ALD ZTO TFTs made with H_2O_2 as an oxidant showed conducting behavior,[28] similar to previous results on ALD SnO_x ,[88] due to a high concentration of oxygen vacancies. The extracted electron mobility achieved in as-deposited hybrid ALD films is 2.19 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, much higher than the thermal process mobility of 9.90 × 10⁻⁴ cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. Nonetheless, ALD ZTO TFTs made with as-deposited hybrid films deposited at 150°C exhibit a large positive turn-on voltage, a kink in sub-threshold I_D , and a large *SS* all indicative of a large number of defects or trap states in the ZTO active layer.[89] The physical origin of these states, and the reason for the improved mobility of the hybrid process, are discussed below.

Table 2.2: Electrical properties of ALD ZTO TFTs discussed in this chapter. The corresponding *I-V* curves are shown in Figure 2.7 and Figure 2.9. The ZTO layers were deposited with $f_{Sn} = 45\%$. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

ALD Type (Deposition Temperature)	Post-Deposition Anneal Temperature	μ _{FE} [cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹]	SS [V dec ⁻¹]	ΔV _C [V]	<i>V</i> ол [V]
Thermal (150 °C)	As-deposited	$9.90 imes 10^{-4}$	2.2	N/A	7.4
Thermal (150 °C)	300 °C	$8.76\times10^{\text{-2}}$	0.89	4.6	5.4
Thermal (150 °C)	400 °C	3.54	1.2	1.3	1.1
Thermal (150 °C)	500 °C	5.44	0.57	0.89	0.54
Hybrid (150 °C)	As-deposited	2.19	0.68	3.1	10
Hybrid (150 °C)	500 °C	15.5	0.29	0.87	0.66
Thermal (200 °C)	As-deposited	$9.56\times10^{\text{-5}}$	4.6	N/A	23
Thermal (200 °C)	400 °C	16.1	0.37	1.7	3.1
Thermal (200 °C)	500 °C	17.5	0.30	1.1	1.8
Hybrid (200 °C)	As-deposited	13.8	0.43	3.4	4.6
Hybrid (200 °C)	300 °C	18.8	0.31	1.4	2.3
Hybrid (200 °C)	400 °C	22.1	0.29	0.95	1.1
Hybrid (200 °C)	500 °C	22.0	0.28	0.53	-0.78

Post-deposition anneals were performed on the ZTO layer before applying metal contacts to improve the electrical properties of the films. Anneals performed in air at 300°C, 400°C, and

500°C increased the field-effect mobility, decreased the sub-threshold slope, and shifted the V_{ON} value towards zero volts for both thermal and hybrid ALD films. The plot in Figure 2.5c and data in Table 2.2 show that the higher the annealing temperature, the greater the performance improvements. The mobility of the thermal ALD ZTO dramatically increases from $9.90 \times 10^{-4} \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ for as-deposited films to 5.44 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ after a 500°C anneal and the TFTs made using the hybrid ALD ZTO annealed at 500°C exhibit a mobility of 15.5 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹, greater than any previously reported value for ALD ZTO, Table 2.3. Both thermal and hybrid ALD ZTO TFTs show a turn-on voltage and hysteresis less than 1 V, with subthreshold swings of 0.57 and 0.29 V dec⁻¹, respectively, after a 500°C anneal. The subthreshold swings are above the Boltzmann limit, 60 mV dec⁻¹ at room temperature, due to charge traps at or near the dielectric-semiconductor interface.[90] Thus, the more rapid turn-on with increased anneal temperature is due to a reduction of interface charge trap density.

ALD Deposition Temperature	ALD Oxidant	Anneal Temperature	Tin composition	μ _{FE} [cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹]	SS [V dec ⁻¹]	Ref.
200 °C	Hybrid	None	21%	13.8 ^{d)}	0.43	This Work
170 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	250 °C	20%	9-10 ^{a)}	0.97	[29]
200 °C	Hybrid	300 °C	21%	18.8 ^{d)}	0.31	This Work
170 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	350 °C	20%	11-12 ^{a)}	0.27	[29]
150 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	400 °C	50% ^{b)}	13.2 ^{c)}	0.15	[28]
200 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O)	400 °C	21%	16.1 ^{d)}	0.37	This Work
200 °C	Hybrid	400 °C	21%	22.1 ^{d)}	0.29	This Work
170 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	20%	12-13 ^{a)}	0.27	[29]
170 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	18%	12-13 ^{a)}	?	[29]
170 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	23%	12-13 ^{a)}	?	[29]
170 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	31%	10 ^{a)}	?	[29]
170 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	53%	5 ^{a)}	?	[29]
120 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	18%	3.4 ^{a)}	?	[29]
120 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	23%	2.5 ^{a)}	?	[29]
120 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	31%	1.5 ^{a)}	?	[29]
120 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	450 °C	53%	1.75 ^{a)}	?	[29]
150 °C	Hybrid	500 °C	45% ^{b)}	15.5 ^{d)}	0.29	This Work
150 °C	Thermal (H ₂ O ₂)	500 °C	50% ^{b)}	4.8 ^{c)}	0.27	[28]
200°C	Thermal (H ₂ O)	500 °C	21%	17.5 ^{d)}	0.30	This Work
200°C	O ₂ Plasma	500 °C	45% ^{b)}	22.7 ^{d)}	0.36	This Work
200 °C	Hybrid	500 °C	21%	22.0 ^{d)}	0.28	This Work

Table 2.3: Comparison of previously published ALD ZTO TFTs with those reported in this chapter. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

a) Mobility extracted for V_{DS} = 0.1 V. b) Tin cycle fraction reported because composition fraction was not available.

c) Mobility extracted for $V_{DS} = 10$ V. d) Mobility extracted for $V_{DS} = 1$ V.



Figure 2.8: The symbols indicate the linear field-effect mobility of TFTs fabricated using the 150°C hybrid process as a function of anneal temperature with error bars indicating the standard deviation of five measured devices. The lines indicate fits to $\mu_{FE,C}$ using equation (2.2).

The total resistance of a TFT, R_{tot} , is composed of the contact resistance, R_C , and the channel resistance that scales with channel length, $r_{ch}L$. When R_C is a significant portion of R_{tot} , the extracted field-effect mobility, $\mu_{FE,C}$, can be less than the intrinsic field-effect mobility of the channel, $\mu_{FE,0}$. The impact of R_C on μ_{FE} is given by

$$\mu_{\text{FE,C}} = \frac{\mu_{\text{FE,0}}}{1 + \frac{R_{\text{C}}}{r_{\text{ch}}L}} [78]$$
(2.2)

To explore whether contact resistance is changing with post-deposition annealing, the mobility of 150°C hybrid devices with different channel lengths was extracted at various anneal temperatures and then Equation (2.2) was fitted to extract R_{C} , Figure 2.8. The fitted width normalized R_{C} value for all three anneal conditions is approximately 4 Ω cm indicating that improved contact resistance is not the cause for improved performance with increased post-deposition anneal temperature.



Figure 2.9: a,b) Transfer curves of ALD ZTO TFTs made with 21% tin composition films deposited at 200°C with various post-deposition anneal temperatures. Forward *I-V* curves are indicated by solid lines and reverse curves are indicated by dashed lines. c,d) Effective mobility extracted from the forward *I-V* curves. TFTs shown in a,c) were made using the thermal ALD ZTO process while those in b,d) used the hybrid ALD process. For all TFTs, W/L = 10 and $V_{DS} = 1$ V. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

The performance of the ALD ZTO films was further improved by increasing the deposition temperature to 200°C. Transfer curves for TFTs fabricated using the thermal and hybrid processes at a deposition temperature of 200°C are shown in Figure 2.9 with extracted transistor parameters in Table 2.2. The hybrid ALD process at 200°C results in excellent as-deposited TFT properties: a mobility of 13.8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and sub-threshold slope of 0.43 V dec⁻¹. In contrast, TFTs measured with ZTO active layers deposited using the thermal process showed a ~10 × decrease in mobility to 9.56×10^{-5} cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ when the deposition temperature is increased from 150°C to 200°C. As with the films deposited at 150°C, both the thermal and hybrid ALD ZTO deposited at 200°C show

improvement after post-deposition annealing. The best TFT performance is observed for the hybrid 200°C process followed by a 500°C anneal exhibiting a mobility of $20.0 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and a sub-threshold slope of 0.28 V dec⁻¹.

We should note the TFTs made with a ZTO deposition temperature of 200°C show nearly identical behavior if annealed at 400°C or 500°C, Figure 2.9 and Table 2.2. With a thermal budget under 450°C, technological compatibility of ALD ZTO with monolithic integration on silicon CMOS at the BEOL is shown.[69] For applications requiring an even lower thermal budget, for example, for integration on flexible substrates, as-deposited films made with the hybrid ALD process at 200°C can be used.



Figure 2.10: Transfer curves of $f_{Sn} = 45\%$ films deposited at 200°C using an all-plasma process, asdeposited and after a 500°C anneal. The forward *I-V* curves are indicated by the solid lines, the reverse curves are indicated by the dashed lines, and the $|I_G|$ is indicated using solid dots, all plotted on the left yaxis. Mobility is plotted using the open circles on the right y-axis. For both devices, W/L = 10, and V_{DS} = 1 V. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

ZTO films were made using an all-plasma ALD process at 200°C with $f_{Sn} = 45\%$, and resulting transfer curves are shown in Figure 2.10, for comparison with the hybrid and thermal processes. The effective mobility of the as-deposited and 500°C annealed plasma ALD ZTO films are 13.4 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and 22.7 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, respectively, and are nearly identical to those of the hybrid

ALD ZTO process, Table 2.2. However, the as-deposited plasma ALD TFT *I-V* curves shows a kink in the sub-threshold I_D , indicating the presence of a conduction path with low mobility and a turn-on voltage near -14 V. This second conduction path may be caused be defects created by oxygen plasma damage within the film as similar behavior has been observed following the plasma treatment of AOS films.[91], [92] The increased mobility and shift of the turn-on voltage to near zero volts following post-deposition annealing indicates that this damage is recovered and the defects are reduced during annealing.[91] Nonetheless, even after annealing, the plasma ALD ZTO films have a *SS* of 0.36 V dec⁻¹, between the values obtained for the thermal and hybrid process, and ΔV_C of 1.03 V, larger than the hysteresis of either other process. The larger sub-threshold slope and hysteresis may be caused by traps in the film or at its interfaces that cannot be completely resolved by annealing.[78] The hybrid process clearly offers the best as-deposited and annealed TFT performance.

Thus far, we have observed a dramatic improvement in ZTO electrical properties with 1) post-deposition annealing; 2) an increase of the deposition temperature from 150°C to 200°C; and 3) the use of the hybrid process instead of pure thermal or plasma-enhanced ALD processes. To develop a mechanistic understanding of the chemical and structural origins of these improvements, XRD, XPS, and x-ray reflectivity (XRR) measurements were performed.



Figure 2.11: Zn and Sn concentrations as a function of sputtering time (depth), obtained by XPS for c_{Sn} = 21% ZTO films: as-deposited (top row), 500°C annealed (bottom row), deposited at 200°C using thermal ALD (left) and hybrid ALD (right). Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

In a previous work, improvements resulting from post-deposition annealing of ALD ZTO were attributed to a change in the local atomic arrangement within the channel layer.[29] However, in this chapter, XRD analysis shows both the thermal ALD and hybrid ALD ZTO films remain amorphous after a 500°C anneal, Figure 2.5b and Figure 2.5c, indicating no phase change is occurring during the post-deposition anneal. Furthermore, XPS depth profiling indicates Zn and Sn concentrations are highly uniform through the bulk of the film, and the c_{Sn} values are comparable for the thermal and hybrid 200°C processes, both before and after post-deposition annealing, Figure 2.11. Therefore, the observed increases in mobility cannot be attributed to a change in phase or bulk stoichiometry.



Figure 2.12: O 1s XPS spectra normalized to the M-O peak height of each film acquired after Ar sputtering of ZTO ALD films as-deposited (blue circles) and after 500°C anneal (red squares). The solid lines indicate fits using the atomic percentages of metal-oxygen bonds (black), M-O, oxygen vacancies (pink), V_o, and metal-hydroxide bonds (green), M-OH, listed in Table 2.4. Spectra for three ZTO films are shown: a) thermal ALD at 200°C; b) thermal ALD at 150°C; and c) hybrid ALD at 200°C. d) and e), zoomed in spectra showing only the Gaussian fits of b) and c), respectively. Adapted with permission from reference [70].

Another previously proposed mechanism for improvements resulting from post-deposition annealing of ALD ZTO is a decrease in oxygen vacancy defects caused by the anneal.[28] Therefore, we quantified the oxygen-related states by analyzing the oxygen O 1s XPS peak measured for several films after Ar sputtering of the surface to remove adventitious carbon. During analysis, the O 1s peak was deconvoluted into three components: (1) metal-oxide bonding (M-O) at 530.1 \pm 0.1 eV; (2) oxygen-deficient regions (Vo), at 531.1 \pm 0.1 eV; and (3) hydroxyls (M-OH), at 532.1 \pm 0.2 eV.[93]–[96] The oxygen component peak locations are indicated by vertical dotted lines and the Gaussian fits are plotted in Figure 2.12 with Table 2.4 listing the atomic percentages of each component. For all films, the oxygen vacancy concentrations are between 3.7% and 5.4%, and do not change significantly after annealing; they remain constant within \pm 1.2%. Thus, a reduction in oxygen vacancies cannot explain the drastic increase in mobility observed for annealed thermal ALD ZTO films.

Table 2.4: Atomic fractions of oxygen atom components for various ALD ZTO films. The table indicates three oxygen found in three environments: (1) fully oxidized surroundings (M-O); (2) in oxygen-deficient regions (V_o); and (3) in hydroxyls (M-OH). The fractions are obtained by deconvolution of the O 1s XPS spectra shown in Figure 2.12, taken after Ar sputtering to measure bulk properties. The deconvolution procedure is described in the Section 2.2.4. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

ALD Deposition Temperature	Anneal Temperature	ALD Oxidant	M-O [%]	M-OH [%]	Vo [%]
150°C	As-deposited	Thermal (H ₂ O)	89.4	6.9	3.7
150°C	500°C	Thermal (H ₂ O)	91.4	3.7	4.9
200°C	As-deposited	Thermal (H ₂ O)	92.1	2.5	5.4
200°C	500°C	Thermal (H ₂ O)	92.9	3.5	4.6
200°C	As-deposited	Hybrid	91.9	3.3	4.8
200°C	500°C	Hybrid	92.9	3.0	4.1



Figure 2.13: Transfer curves of ALD ZTO TFTs with $f_{Sn} = 45\%$ at 150°C as a function of post-deposition anneal temperature for a) ZTO deposited using the thermal ALD process; and b) ZTO deposited using the hybrid ALD process. All TFTs have W/L of 10 and $V_{DS} = 1$ V. The forward *I-V* curves are indicated by solid lines, and are identical to those shown in Figure 2.7a and Figure 2.7b. The reverse *I-V* curves are indicated by dashed lines. The hysteresis (ΔV_C) between the forward and reverse sweeps, caused by either traps in the bulk ZTO film or by reactions at the back interface of the film,[97] is tabulated in Table 2.2. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

The as-deposited 150°C thermal films show a much higher hydroxyl concentration, compared to the 200°C as-deposited films, Table 2.4. We attribute this difference to a more complete dehydrogenation of surface functional groups during the ligand-exchange reactions at elevated deposition temperatures.[98] Electrically, the as-deposited 150°C thermal ALD films exhibited large V_{ON} , comparatively low mobility, and large hysteresis, but these undesired features are eliminated or reduced after annealing at 500°C, Table 2.2 and Figure 2.13. The improved performance after annealing is caused by a decrease in the hydroxyl concentration, which contribute defect states that act as electron traps,[77] in the films and a corresponding increase in the M-O concentration, Table 2.4. By post-deposition annealing, the M-OH concentration in the ALD ZTO films is reduced and TFT behavior improves.



Figure 2.14: Normalized XRR of f_{Sn} = 45% ZTO films deposited: (a,b,c) at 200°C using the (a) thermal, (b) hybrid, or (c) all-plasma ALD process. XRR spectra are shown for as-deposited films and films annealed at 500°C; (d) at 150°C using the thermal ALD process, comparing as-deposited films to those annealed at various temperatures. In all plots, open circles are measured data and lines are simulated fits. The critical angle shifts right as anneal temperature increases, indicating an increase in density. The fit values of ZTO density can be found in Table 2.5. Adapted with permission from reference [70].

A decrease in M-OH concentration (Table 2.4) cannot, however, explain the higher mobility observed for the hybrid 200°C ALD ZTO films compared to those deposited using a thermal process. Therefore, an additional factor must be contributing to the dependence of mobility on the oxidizing species in the ALD process. Prior work on sputtered ZTO showed the mobility of the ZTO films increased upon densification.[99] XRR was performed on several ALD ZTO samples to assess film density, Table 2.5 and Figure 2.14. The density extracted from the XRR spectra revealed the density of the 200°C thermal ALD ZTO film increased from 5.1 g cm⁻³, as-deposited, to 5.9 g cm⁻³, after annealing at 500°C. Ellipsometry measurements confirmed the XRR results by showing the thermal ALD ZTO film thickness decreased from 9.9 nm to 8.8 nm upon

500°C annealing. Similarly, the density of the thermal ALD ZTO film deposited at 150°C showed an increase in density from 5.0 g cm⁻³, as-deposited, to 5.7 g cm⁻³, after annealing at 500°C. Clearly, both increasing the ALD deposition temperature and/or adding a post-deposition anneal induce an increase in film density correlating with the observed increase in electron mobility.

Table 2.5: ZTO density for films with f_{Sn} = 45% determined by fitting the XRR spectra shown in Figure 2.14. The fitting method is described in the note below. For comparison, note the density of SnO₂ is 6.85 g cm⁻³ and the density of ZnO is 5.6 g cm⁻³,[83] and a previous study on ALD ZTO using H₂O₂ as the oxidant reported ZTO density of 5.3 g cm⁻³.[29] Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

ALD Deposition Temperature	ALD Process	Anneal Temperature	ZTO Density [g cm ⁻³]	% Change after Annealing
150 °C	Thermal	As-deposited	5.0	
150 °C	Thermal	300 °C	5.4	8.0 %
150 °C	Thermal	400 °C	5.6	12.0 %
150 °C	Thermal	500 °C	5.7	14.0 %
200 °C	Thermal	As-deposited	5.1	
200 °C	Thermal	500 °C	5.9	15.7 %
200 °C	Hybrid	As-deposited	6.3	
200 °C	Hybrid	500 °C	6.5	3.2 %
200 °C	Plasma	As-deposited	6.0	
200 °C	Plasma	500 °C	6.1	1.7 %

Note: To obtain ZTO density by XRR, we deposited ZTO on top of 100-nm thermally-grown SiO₂. We measured the thickness of SiO₂ by ellipsometry before ZTO deposition and measured the ZTO thickness after ZTO deposition and again after annealing. The thin-film structure was then entered in the GlobalFit XRR software. The density of Si and SiO₂ were held fixed at the default values in the GlobalFit library. The initial density of the ZTO film was calculated based on the XPS atomic composition measurements. The experimental XRR data was then fit to determine the ZTO thickness and density.



Figure 2.15: ALD ZTO TFT mobility (open squares) and sub-threshold slope (closed circles) plotted against ZTO density as measured by XRR. The numerical data can be found in Table 2.2, Table 2.3, and Table 2.5. The mobility correlates positively with film density, r(7)=0.894, p=0.00116, while the sub-threshold slope correlates negatively with density, r(7)=0.745, p=0.021, across all three ALD processes, deposition temperature, and post-deposition anneal temperature. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

In fact, the ZTO film density correlates positively with mobility, r(7)=0.894, p=0.0016, while the sub-threshold slope correlates negatively with density, r(7)=0.747, p=0.21, for all films characterized, Figure 2.15. These correlations indicate that densifying the ZTO film both improves electron transport within the active layer and reduces the density of interfacial states at the gate insulator-semiconductor interface, improving the switching properties of the TFT.

The differences in electrical properties observed between thermal and plasma-enhanced ALD ZTO processes, Table 2.2 and Table 2.3, can also be explained by film densification. The ZTO films deposited at 200°C have significantly lower density when deposited by a thermal process compared to the plasma enhanced ALD processes, Table 2.5. These results are consistent with previous reports of plasma-enhanced ALD of silicon nitride films, where plasma exposure during growth lead to an increase in film density.[100] Thus the excellent behavior of as-deposited hybrid ALD ZTO TFTs, compared to thermal ALD with the same deposition and anneal

temperatures, can be attributed to the denser amorphous films achieved using the hybrid ALD process.

2.5 ALD ZTO TFTs with ex situ ALD Gate Insulator

Previous work on ALD ZTO TFTs has been limited to thermally-grown SiO₂ for the gate insulator material.[28], [29] Not only is thermally-grown SiO₂ incompatible with monolithic integration with Si CMOS and flexible substrates, but devices driven with SiO₂ are limited by low oxide capacitance caused by the low dielectric constant of SiO₂. High-*k* dielectrics deposited by ALD, such as HfO₂,[101] ZrO₂,[102] and TiO₂,[103] can be used to increase the oxide capacitance, resulting in higher on-current, smaller operating voltages, and compatibility with BEOL integration.



Figure 2.16: a) Transfer curves of TFTs made with $c_{Sn} = 21\%$ ALD ZTO films deposited using the thermal process at 150°C and annealed at 500°C with two different gate insulators: 100 nm thermal SiO₂ or 30 nm ALD Al₂O₃. Note, the SiO₂ data is the same as that shown for the 500°C anneal in Figure 2.7a and the V_{GS} range for the Al₂O₃ film was reduced to prevent dielectric breakdown. Forward *I-V* curves are indicated by solid lines and reverse curves are indicated by dashed lines. b) Effective mobility extracted from the forward *I-V* curves show in part (a). Adapted with permission from reference [70].

To compare the effects of the gate insulator material, SiO₂ and Al₂O₃ were used as gate insulators in TFTs with approximately 22 nm thick $c_{Sn} = 21\%$ ZTO active layers deposited using the thermal ALD process at 150°C and post-deposition annealed at 500°C. Al₂O₃ was chosen as a gate insulator because it is one of the most widely studied ALD materials and is amorphous asdeposited and after annealing.[104] Transfer curves are shown in Figure 2.16a, and extracted electrical parameters are tabulated in Table 2.6. The increased capacitive coupling of the approximately 30 nm Al₂O₃ yields a peak mobility of 5.39 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, very similar to the maximum mobility of 5.44 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ for the ZTO on SiO₂ (Table 2.6). The device turn-on is, however, much quicker for devices with Al₂O₃ gate insulator causing the peak mobility to occur at a much lower voltage compared to devices with SiO₂ gate insulator.

Table 2.6: Electrical properties of TFTs made using SiO₂ or Al₂O₃ gate insulator. The ZTO layer is deposited by thermal ALD at 150°C with c_{Sn} = 21% ALD ZTO annealed at 500°C. The *I-V* behavior and extracted mobility are shown in Figure 2.16a and Figure 2.16b, respectively. The peak mobility is the maximum value obtained for the *V*_{GS} range shown in Figure 2.16. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

Gate Insulator	Peak µ _{FE} [cm²V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹] ^{a)}	SS [V dec ⁻¹]	∆ <i>V</i> c [V]	V _{ол} [V]	V _{switch} [V]
SiO ₂	5.44	0.57	0.89	0.54	6.84
Al ₂ O ₃	5.39	0.23	0.55	0.70	2.06

Furthermore, by using Al₂O₃ as the gate insulator, the switching voltage (V_{switch}), defined as the difference between the threshold voltage, extracted for the linear regime, and the turn-on voltage, is reduced from 6.84 V, for devices with SiO₂ gate insulator, to 2.06 V, Table 2.6. The reduction in V_{switch} corresponds to a reduction in SS to 0.23 V dec⁻¹ for the Al₂O₃-ZTO TFTs. As predicted, the increased capacitive coupling of a high-*k* dielectric enables fast turn-on and reduced turn-on voltage, thereby enabling their future electrical integration with BEOL Si CMOS, which runs at supply voltages of a few volts. To further improve switching and turn-on properties the high-*k* dielectric and ZTO deposition can occur *in situ*, i.e., within the same ALD vacuum
environment and will be investigated in Section 2.6.[105] Optimizing substrate preparation and the insulator deposition process may also improve field-effect mobility to more closely rival quaternary indium-containing ALD TFTs.[67]



2.6 Steep Subthreshold Swing ALD ZTO TFTs with in situ Gate Insulator

Figure 2.17 Left *y*-axis, transfer characteristics ($I_{\rm D}$ -V_{GS}) for a) *in situ* Al₂O₃, b) *ex situ* Al₂O₃, and c) SiO₂ gate insulator with $V_{\rm DS} = 1$ V. The line indicates a fit of 60, 75, and 113 mV dec⁻¹, respectively. The right *y*-axis in a) is the extracted effective mobility. d) Detailed $I_{\rm D}$ -V_{GS} from a). On the right *y*-axis, *SS* is plotted as a function of $V_{\rm GS}$. e) Output characteristics ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm DS}$) with $V_{\rm GS}$ swept from 2 to 5 V with a 1 V step. Note: 0 and 1 V $V_{\rm GS}$ plots overlap with the 2 V $V_{\rm GS}$ plot. g) Measured $C_{\rm p}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ as a function of *T*_{ext} tracted using the high-low frequency method. Adapted from [79].

ALD ZTO TFTs made with *in situ* gate insulator exhibit an extremely low SS of 60 mV dec⁻¹, a maximum linear mobility of 17.0 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, an ON/OFF current ratio > 10^8 , and a

threshold voltage of 1.8 V (Figure 2.17a). The minimum SS of 60 mV dec⁻¹ occurs at the turn-on voltage of 0.18 V (Figure 2.17d). The linear mobility is in good agreement with the saturation mobility of 15.8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ (Figure 2.17e). Multi-frequency *C-V* measurements (Figure 2.17g) were used to extract an estimated D_{it} using the high-low frequency method [106]. The measured parallel capacitance, C_p , is shown in Figure 2.17g. First, the equations

$$C_{\rm lf} = \left(\frac{1}{C_{\rm ox}} + \frac{1}{C_{\rm s} + C_{\rm it}}\right)^{-1}$$
(2.3)

and

$$C_{\rm s} = \frac{C_{\rm ox}C_{\rm hf}}{C_{\rm ox} + C_{\rm hf}} \tag{2.4}$$

where C_{lf} is the low frequency (1 kHz) C_{p} , C_{hf} is the high frequency (1 MHz) C_{p} , and C_{ox} is the oxide capacitance taken as the maximum of C_{lf} , are used to solve for the capacitance, C_{it} , due to D_{it} . Then, D_{it} is calculated using the equation

$$D_{\rm it} = \frac{C_{\rm ox}}{q^2} \left(\frac{\frac{C_{\rm lf}}{C_{\rm ox}}}{1 - \frac{C_{\rm hf}}{C_{\rm ox}}} - \frac{\frac{C_{\rm hf}}{C_{\rm ox}}}{1 - \frac{C_{\rm hf}}{C_{\rm ox}}} \right)$$
(2.5)

where q is the electron charge, and the energy level E is calculated by

$$E - E_{\rm C} = \int_{V_{\rm FB}}^{V_{\rm GS}} \left(1 - \frac{C_{\rm lf}}{C_{\rm ox}}\right) dV_{\rm GS}$$
(2.6)

where $E_{\rm C}$ is the conduction band edge and the flat band voltage, $V_{\rm FB}$, is extracted as the *x*-axis intercept of $C_{\rm lf}^{-2} - C_{\rm ox}^{-2}$ as a function of $V_{\rm GS}$ (Figure 2.17g inset). The HF-LF $D_{\rm it}$ energy distribution is shown in Figure 2.17h and agrees with the value of 9.59×10^9 cm⁻² eV⁻¹ calculated directly from *SS* [106]. For comparison, two similar samples having different gate insulators and ZTO deposited at 150°C were measured (Figure 2.17b and Figure 2.17c). TFTs with a 100 nm thermal SiO₂ gate insulator yields a *SS* of 113 mV dec⁻¹ while TFTs with an *ex situ* deposited Al₂O₃ gate insulator, made using the same O₃-process as the *in situ* Al₂O₃ layer, yields a *SS* of 75 mV dec⁻¹. The extracted D_{it} for these two comparison TFTs are 1.9×10^{11} cm⁻² eV⁻¹ and 3.66×10^{11} cm⁻² eV⁻¹, respectively. These D_{it} values are factor of 20 to 50 higher than that of the TFT with *in situ* Al₂O₃ gate insulator. As expected, by replacing the low-*k* SiO₂ gate insulator with higher-*k* (~8.38) *ex situ* Al₂O₃, the device *SS* is reduced due to the increased capacitive coupling, however D_{it} increased slightly. In contrast, the *in situ* ALD deposition process, where the surface of Al₂O₃ is kept in vacuum and is not exposed to ambient air before ZTO deposition, dramatically reduces the D_{it} , which leads to an *SS* of 60 mV dec⁻¹, very close to the Boltzmann limit (Figure 2.17f). The *in situ* process may result in a lower D_{it} because the *ex situ* process exposes the surface to air which may cause adsorption of water molecules, or other adventitious species, that act as defects in ZTO [107]. By using an *in situ* O₃-based ALD Al₂O₃ gate insulator with a low concentration of interface defects, we achieve the steepest *SS* reported to date for BEOL-compatible traditional MISFETs (Table 2.7).

Deposition Method & Material	Gate Insulator	SS [mV dec ⁻¹]	Ref.
	in situ O3-based ALD Al2O3	60	This Work
ALD	ex situ O ₃ -based ALD Al ₂ O ₃	75	This Work
ZTO	SiO ₂	113	This Work
	SiO_2	150	[28]
Solution-processed	AlO _x	96	[108]
ZTO	HfO_2	70	[109]
RF Sputtered IGZO	HfO ₂	70	[110]
	Al_xO_y	68	[111]
	SiO ₂ /HfO ₂	96	[112]
Exfoliated	HfO ₂	74	[113]
MoS_2	Y ₂ O ₃ /HfO ₂	65	[114]

Table 2.7 Comparison with other BEOL-compatible MISFETs. Adapted from [79].





Figure 2.18: a) Transfer curves of TFTs made with $c_{Sn} = 21\%$ ALD ZTO films deposited using the thermal process at 200°C and annealed at 500°C with various ZTO layer thickness. Note, the trace labeled 9 nm is the same as that shown in Figure 2.9a. Forward *I-V* curves are indicated by solid lines and reverse curves are indicated by dashed lines. b) Effective mobility extracted from the forward *I-V* curves show in part (a). c) The number of supercycles vs. film thickness for the devices in Figure 2.18a and Table 2.8 are plotted in black squares. The linear fit of the points going through the origin is indicated by the black dashed line. Adapted with permission from reference [70].

Optimization of active-layer thickness has been shown to be necessary to obtain good TFT stability[115] and enhancement mode behavior[116] for TFTs made using other deposition techniques or semiconductor oxides. To investigate the effect of thickness on TFT behavior, three identical devices were fabricated with thermal ALD ZTO active layers deposited at 200°C with thickness of 5, 9, and 13 nm and post-deposition annealed at 500°C. Transfer curves and plots of effective mobility are shown in Figure 2.18a and Figure 2.18b, respectively, with extracted device parameters tabulated in Table 2.8. The 200°C thermal process yields enhancement-mode behavior for all three active layer thicknesses. While both the 9 and 13 nm thick films have a mobility greater than 17 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, there is a decrease for the 5 nm thick device. In Figure 2.18c, we plot the number of supercycles vs. film thickness for these three films and create a linear fit through the origin. The good linear fit through the origin indicates the films have a similar GPC and there is minimal nucleation delay for the 200°C thermal process. Additionally, all three films have similar refractive index, Table 2.8, which would not be expected if there as a growth issue as the film thickness was reduced. Therefore, nucleation-limited growth likely does not explain the reduced mobility of the 5 nm thick device. Instead, the reduced mobility could possibly be attributed to the increased influence of carrier scattering at the top surface. Future work could investigate applying a passivation layer to the 5 nm thick device to reduce the influence of carrier scattering at the top surface.

Table 2.8: Electrical properties of TFTs made with different ZTO layer thicknesses. The ZTO layers are deposited by thermal ALD at 200°C with 21% tin composition and annealed at 500°C. The *I-V* behavior and extracted mobility are shown in Figure 2.18a and Figure 2.18b, respectively. The last column gives the refractive index of the ZTO films measured by ellipsometry. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

ZTO Thickness [nm]	μ _{FE} [cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹]	SS [V dec ⁻¹]	∆ <i>V</i> c [V]	V _{On} [V]	Refractive Index
5	11.3	0.35	1.63	3.54	1.90
9	17.5	0.30	1.06	1.75	1.86
13	18.5	0.37	1.58	3.60	1.85



Figure 2.19: Transfer curves of TFTs with two different channel layer thickness. In both cases, the ZTO was deposited by thermal ALD at 130°C with $f_{Sn} = 50\%$, and annealed at 500°C. For both devices, W/L is 10 and $V_{DS} = 1$ V. The forward *I-V* curves are indicated by solid lines while reverse curves are indicated by dashed lines, all plotted on the left y-axis. Mobility is plotted using the open circles on the right y-axis. Reprinted with permission from reference [70].

Interestingly, for some ALD ZTO recipes we tried, device performance degrades for thicker films. TFT behavior for thermal ALD ZTO deposited with $f_{\text{Sn}} = 50\%$ at 130°C and annealed at 500°C is shown in Figure 2.19. As ZTO film thickness increased from 15 to 50 nm, the mobility decreased from 2.7 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ to approximately 1 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. In addition, the *SS* increases substantially from 0.48 V dec⁻¹ for the 15 nm thin film to approximately 1 V dec⁻¹ for the 50 nm thick film and the turn-on voltage became more negative with increasing thickness. Similar trends with channel thickness have been reported previously for a-Si, IGZO, and ZnO TFTs, and may be associated with surface depletion layers or other back-channel effects, or, in some cases, with vertical gradients in semiconductor film trap densities.[117] These results indicate that, at least for some ALD ZTO conditions, the channel layer thickness needs to be optimized alongside the gate dielectric process in order to achieve the best TFT behavior.

2.8 Conclusions

In conclusion, we developed an ALD supercycle approach to deposit high quality amorphous zinc tin oxide. Using XPS to extract the tin composition for a given tin cycle fraction resulted in a correction of the ZnO growth rate in the c_{Sn} equation based on the rule of mixtures. This equation can be used for precise tuning of the film composition with c_{Sn} ranging the values of interest for active electronic devices and is less complex than previously proposed equations because the supercycle design approach used in this chapter only has one or two ZnO cycles in a row. The tin composition was then tuned to find 21% yielded the best TFT performance for the processes studied in this chapter.

Three different deposition processes were studied: H₂O-based thermal, hybrid H₂O/O₂ plasma, and all-plasma. All processes yield as-deposited semiconducting films, due to a low concentration of oxygen vacancies, with enhancement-mode behavior and electron mobility as high as 13.8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. For all processes, we found increasing the ALD deposition temperature and the post-deposition annealing temperature improves the ZTO electrical properties, due to film densification studied using XRR. The best performance was seen for hybrid ALD ZTO films with $c_{\text{Sn}} = 21\%$ deposited at 200°C and annealed at 500°C with $\mu_{\text{FE}} = 22.0 \text{ cm}^2\text{V}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ and SS =0.28 V dec⁻¹. The better behavior of the hybrid thermal/plasma ALD ZTO films compared to those deposited by thermal ALD or all-plasma ALD is attributed to the densification of the film and reduction of hydroxyl states, extracted from XPS data, while avoiding the plasma damage that may come from an all-plasma process.

Moreover, nearly the same performance was observed when the hybrid ALD film was annealed at 400°C: $\mu_{FE} = 22.1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and $SS = 0.29 \text{ V} \text{ dec}^{-1}$. This indicates the compatibility of these ALD processes with the thermal budget at the silicon CMOS back-end-of-line. Finally, by using an *in situ* ALD Al_2O_3 gate insulator with a low D_{it} and choosing an optimal ZTO film thickness of 9 to 13 nm, we obtained transistors with *SS* approaching the Boltzmann limit leading to rapid turnon and low switching voltages, enabling supply voltage compatibility with silicon ICs. The results of this chapter pave the way for future monolithic integration of multi-functional ZTO electronics on top of silicon CMOS or onto large-area flexible substrates.

Chapter 3 High voltage ZTO thin film transistor

3.1 Introduction

In Chapter 1, we discussed how over 60 years of silicon research has led to maturity of the silicon industry, but even as a mature material, Si is a poor choice for power devices because of a narrow bandgap and low breakdown electric field. Instead, power semiconductors have a wide bandgap which generally leads to high thermal conductivity, high critical fields (allowing for higher doping and reduced on-resistance), and high barrier heights (reducing the leakage current). Traditional wide bandgap semiconductors, like SiC and GaN, require crystalline substrates with devices fabricated in only a single plane of bulk material leading to a costly and complex process. Thin-film power devices present a low-cost opportunity to act as a low to high voltage interface through large-area 3D monolithic integration of power devices on underlying integrated circuits.



Figure 3.1: A) Schematic and C) cross section diagram of traditional bottom gate top contact TFT with top source/drain metal overlapping the bottom gate metal by length, *L*_{OV}. C) Schematic and D) cross section diagram of HVTFT with offset between bottom gate metal and top drain metal by length, *L*_{OF}.

An important characteristic of power devices is the highest sustainable drain voltage before failure, known as the breakdown voltage, V_{BD} . One way to increase V_{BD} is by introducing an offset between the gate and drain electrode edges of length L_{OF} , Figure 3.1. These offsets have been used with bulk crystalline materials, both silicon and wide bandgap semiconductors, and with amorphous silicon TFTs as early as 1993.[118] Even with a gate/drain offset, a-Si is a poor choice for HVTFT applications because of a-Si's narrow bandgap and low field effect mobility.

Amorphous oxide semiconductors, on the other hand, are well posed for HVTFT applications because of their large area uniformity and favorable semiconductor properties, i.e. wide bandgap, large dielectric constant, and higher mobility compared to a-Si and organics, Table 3.1. Vacuum-deposited amorphous-indium gallium zinc oxide and zinc oxide TFTs for high voltage applications have adopted gate/drain offset structure to achieve high-voltage TFTs (HVTFTs) with *V*_{BD} as high as 82 V.[15], [119]–[122] ZnO is a nano-crystalline material and nano-crystalline morphology may present uniformity issues and cause a buildup of defects along grain boundaries leading to premature breakdown.

Property (at 300K)	<i>c</i> -Si	<i>a-</i> Si:H	ZnO	GaN	Ga ₂ O ₃	4H-SiC	AOS
Bandgap (eV)	1.12	1.7-1.9	3.3	3.4	4.6	3.3	~3.0
Relative dielectric constant	11.8	11.8	8.75	10.6	10.2	9.7	11.5-13.8
			0.1.0			•	
Electron mobility (cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹)	1400	<1	226	5300	100-300	1000	10-30
Large area scalable	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes

Table 3.1 Summary of semiconductor properties for high-voltage applications.

To achieve an amorphous indium-free HVTFT, we implement the gate/drain offset structure with a-ZTO deposited using a solution-process. The V_{BD} of the HVTFTs increases from 45 V with no-offset to over 100 V with a 3 µm drain offset while maintaining 200 µA on-current. As shown with previous work with gate/drain offset HVTFTs, the on-resistance (R_{on}) increased due to the drain offset region. Large R_{on} values limit current and lead to power loss and reduced power efficiency. To optimize the trade-off between V_{BD} and R_{on} the impact of the gate/drain offset on device characteristics was studied using Silvaco ATLAS simulations.

3.2 Experimental Section

Silvaco Atlas Simulations

To choose the appropriate L_{OF} , 2D TCAD simulations of devices with a cross section as depicted in Figure 3.1D were performed using Silvaco Atlas. When simulating AOS films, the defects of the film define how the devices operate. The parameters used to define the defects in these simulations were selected from previous work.[123] Furthermore, the breakdown of the a-ZTO film was simulated by using an impact ionization rate from a revised lucky drift model.[124] The model calculates the energy an electron gains, E_a , under an applied electric field where the optical photon energy, E_r , and the ionization threshold energy, E_i , were taken as the worst-case prediction of 30 meV and 1.7 eV, respectively.[125] The model is then incorporated into Silvaco Atlas simulations using a piece-wise linear approximation. Breakdown simulations swept V_{DS} while keeping V_{GS} and V_S grounded. These simulations resulted in approximations of the breakdown field and V_{BD} of the HVTFTs with various L_{OF} . As these results were approximations based on assumptions of breakdown of ZTO, the electric-fields were normalized for comparison. Additional simulations of I_{DS} - V_{DS} were performed to extract a R_{on} approximation from the slope of the I_D - V_{DS} curves in the linear, or ohmic, region before saturation occurs.



3.2.1 Sample fabrication

Figure 3.2: Top: Fabrication process of TFT. 1) Bottom gate metal deposited by sputtering Mo and patterned by RIE. 2) 30 nm Al₂O₃ deposited by ALD as gate insulator. 3) ZTO deposited by solution process and etched using a wet etch. Gate insulator etched using a wet etch. 4) Top ohmic contacts made by sputtering Mo and patterning by liftoff. Bottom: Top down microscope image of fabricated device with 500 μ m width, 50 μ m length, and *L*_{OF} of 12 μ m. Adapted from [31].

Approximately 40 nm of molybdenum was deposited on to Corning Eagle XG glass substrates by sputtering. The molybdenum was then etched to form the bottom gate using standard photolithography and reactive ion etching (RIE). After patterning of the bottom gate metal, approximately 30 nm of Al₂O₃ was deposited by atomic layer deposition (ALD) to form the gate insulator with an oxide capacitance, C_{ox} , of 72.3 nF·cm⁻². Then, 3 layers of 0.5 M ZTO solution with a 7:3 Zn:Sn ratio were spin coated onto the samples with a 1 min 520°C air anneal between

each layer and a final 1 hour 520°C air anneal after the final layer was spin coated for a film thickness of approximately 80 nm.[77] For device isolation, the ZTO layer was patterned using standard photolithography and etched with a dilute hydrochloric and nitric acid solution. To allow probing of the gate, the insulator was then patterned using standard photolithography and etched in a heated dilute ammonium hydroxide wet etch. Finally, ohmic top source and drain electrodes were deposited by sputtering approximately 40 nm of molybdenum and patterned by liftoff.[78] This fabrication process is illustrated in Figure 3.2.

3.3 Increased Blocking Voltage in ZTO HVTFTs through Drain Offset

3.3.1 Simulations Varying Offset Length



Figure 3.3: A),B) and C) show cross sections views of the electric field magnitude in the offset region for devices with L_{OF} of 0, 4, and 8 µm, respectively. D) Normalized electric field between gate and drain edges at breakdown. E) Plot showing how the breakdown voltage and on-resistance of the devices are correlated. Adapted from [31].

Before fabricating devices, device simulations were performed using Silvaco Atlas to understand the impact of L_{OF} on the electric field distribution and to help define the architecture of the fabricated devices. The electric field magnitude, normalized to the highest peak, at breakdown

for devices with L_{OF} of 0, 4, 5, and 8 µm are shown in Figure 3.3D. In general, there is a peak at the gate and drain edges and the drain offset works to distribute the electric field in the device increasing the voltage at which breakdown occurs.

The electric field is redistributed because the offset acts as a depletion region where the voltage applied to the drain electrode causes depletion of the semiconductor starting at the gate edge. With no offset, the electric potential is only spread vertically leading to a low breakdown voltage (red curve in Figure 3.3D). With an offset, the potential is spread further, laterally, across the depletion region reducing the peak electric field. If L_{OF} is smaller than the depletion width, the depletion layer penetrates just past the drain edge creating a trapezoidal field shape (gray and blue curves in Figure 3.3D) with a non-zero electric field at the drain edge and this electric-field setup is called punch-through type. For these devices, punch-through means that increasing the LoF will increase the breakdown voltage, Figure 3.3E. If the L_{OF} is larger than the depletion width, about $6 \,\mu\text{m}$ in these simulations, there is a triangular field shape (green curve in Figure 3.3D) with zero electric field at the drain edge and this is called non-punch-through dimensioning.[126] For these devices this means the maximum breakdown voltage for this architecture has been achieved. When the maximum breakdown voltage is achieved, any further increase in LoF will cause an increase in on-resistance, Figure 3.3E. As discussed earlier, any increase in R_{on} yields increased power loss and therefore, it is important to optimize the offset length.

Simulations show the gate cannot accumulate a channel in the offset region of the HVTFT. For AOS MISFETs, where device operation is dependent on the ability to accumulate a channel, the inability to accumulate more electrons means the offset, with low unintentional doping of about 10^{16} cm⁻³, will dominate R_{on} . The resistance of the offset region increases as the length of the resistance (L_{OF}) increases while the blocking voltage will reach a maximum value. As there is a tradeoff between R_{on} and V_{BD} , the minimum L_{OF} to achieve a given V_{BD} should be chosen to minimize R_{on} and therefore power loss.



3.3.2 Reducing Series Resistance of Offset Region

Figure 3.4: A) Transfer curves of HVTFTs with various L_{OF} . All HVTFTs have a W/L of 10 and V_{DS} = 1 V. The forward *I-V* curves are indicated by the solid lines and the reverse *I-V* curves are indicated by the dashed lines. The hysteresis between the forward and reverse sweeps is caused by traps in the bulk ZTO or by reactions at the back interface.[97] B) Schematic diagram of HVTFT highlighting (red shaded area) high-resistance ungated region of the HVTFT. C) Band diagram of the top surface of the ZTO in the ungated region showing depletion caused by adsorbed oxygen in the environment.

Initial measurements of fabricated HVTFTs with non-zero L_{OF} , as short as 3 µm, resulted in unexpectedly low on-current, Figure 3.4. Some decrease in on-current was expected due to introduction of the offset, but this cannot explain the decrease observed. The low on-current is instead attributed to oxygen adsorption on the top surface.[127] The adsorbed oxygen depletes carriers in the offset region, Figure 3.4B and Figure 3.4C, which cannot create an accumulation region without gate control. The resulting low carrier concentration, caused by the depletion of electrons, leads to a large resistance and decreased on-current. The on-current decreases as L_{OF} increases because as the length of the high-resistance ungated region increases the series resistance also increases.



Figure 3.5: Transfer curves of HVTFTs with L_{OF} of A) 0 µm and B) 3 µm both pre- and post-passivation. All HVTFTs have a W/L of 10 and V_{DS} = 1 V. The forward *I-V* curves are indicated by the solid lines and the reverse *I-V* curves are indicated by the dashed lines. Note: The pre-passivation curves are the same as those in Figure 3.4. C) Top: Schematic and bottom: cross section diagram of passivated HVTFT. Adapted from [31].

One way to prevent the adsorption of oxygen molecules is to encapsulate the back surface of the ZTO. This can be accomplished through deposition of a dielectric layer after the devices are fabricated. Here, we use approximately 30 nm of Al₂O₃, deposited by thermal ALD at 150°C, as the passivation layer as illustrated in Figure 3.5C. Transfer curves for devices pre- and postpassivation with L_{OF} of 0 µm and 3 µm are shown in Figure 3.5A and Figure 3.5B, respectively. Post-passivation there is a clear increase in on-current for both devices indicating successful inhibition of oxygen adsorption causing depletion and possibly even doping from the H₂O during the ALD process.[127] The passivated device with L_{OF} of 0 µm has an electron mobility of 11.8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, threshold voltage of -0.4 V, and $I_{op}/I_{off} > 10^6$. Unfortunately, however, passivation introduced a second parallel channel, either at the back interface or at the semiconductor edges, that turns on at negative V_{GS} and increases the subthreshold slope from 0.33 V dec⁻¹ to 1.36 V dec⁻¹. This issue was resolved by using an O₃-based ALD Al₂O₃ passivation layer and is the topic of Section 4.4.



3.3.3 Electrical and Breakdown Performance of Fabricated HVTFTs

Figure 3.6: A) Reverse transfer curves of passivated HVTFTs with various L_{OF} . All HVTFTs have a W/L of 10 and $V_{DS} = 1$ V. Note: The $L_{OF} = 0$ µm and $L_{OF} = 3$ µm curves are the same as the reverse curves in Figure 3.5. Output curves of passivated HVTFTs with L_{OF} of B) 0 µm, C) 3 µm, and D) 12 µm. The V_{GS} is varied from 0 V to 10 V in 1 V increments. Adapted from [31].

The reverse sweeps (positive V_{GS} to negative V_{GS}) are better representations of how the devices would perform with a higher quality passivation layer and are therefore analyzed in this section. Figure 3.6A shows the reverse I_D - V_{GS} sweeps for devices with L_{OF} of 0 µm, 3 µm, and 12 µm. As expected from simulations, an increase in offset length leads to a decrease in on-current

due to increased resistance. The output characteristics for these devices are shown in Figure 3.6B-D. All devices show good linear and saturation behavior indicating ohmic contacts. Again, as L_{OF} increases the saturation current decreases and the linear region becomes more prominent due to the increased resistance of the offset region.



Figure 3.7: A) R_{on} extracted from the inverse slope of the linear region of the output curves in Figure 3.6B-D as a function of gate voltage. B) R_{DS} as a function of L_{OF} for V_{GS} = 10 V. Adapted from [31].

The resistance of the devices can be extracted from the output curves in Figure 3.6B-D by taking the inverse of the slope in the linear region. The extracted R_{on} , Figure 3.7A, confirms the longer L_{OF} is, the higher R_{on} is. At low V_{GS} all devices have a comparatively high R_{on} because in this region, R_{on} is dominated by the channel resistance, $R_{channel}$. As V_{GS} increases, the channel is accumulated and the resistance decreases. Once $R_{channel}$ is less than the offset resistance, R_{OF} , R_{on} as a function of V_{GS} begins to flatten out as R_{OF} dominates R_{on} and cannot be modulated by V_{GS} . Another indication of ohmic contacts is that R_{DS} is independent of V_{DS} down to $V_{DS} = 0.25$ V for all devices analyzed here, Figure 3.7B.



Figure 3.8: A) V_{DS} sweeps to test breakdown of the devices. Note: Current resolution is limited by the test setup. B) Top: Schematic illustration of test setup used in A). Bottom: Photos of devices after breakdown. Adapted from [31].

Breakdown was measured by grounding the source and gate electrodes and sweeping the drain voltage using an SRS PS310, as schematically shown in Figure 3.8B. Without a drain offset, breakdown occurs at about 45 V, Figure 3.8A, regardless of passivation. This breakdown is dielectric breakdown and occurs at the drain-gate edge as shown in Figure 3.8B. With an L_{OF} of 3 µm, the breakdown voltage increases to about 100 V and the breakdown mechanism is still dielectric breakdown. When L_{OF} is greater than 3 µm, the breakdown mechanism changes. The influx of charge at the higher voltages may cause the metallic pads to vaporize or breakdown may occur through the air/surface of the film as shown in Figure 3.8B for a device with a 12 µm offset. As a result, the breakdown voltage becomes less sensitive to offset length and is around 150 V.

3.4 Potential Next Generation HVTFTs



Figure 3.9: A) Diagram of simulated device. Simulation results of devices without a gate field plate and devices with $L_{FP} = 3 \mu m$. B) Breakdown voltage as a function of offset. C) Plot showing the breakdown voltage and on-resistance of the devices. D) Normalized electric field between gate and drain edges at breakdown.

As discussed earlier in this chapter, there is a tradeoff between V_{BD} and R_{on} where the highest V_{BD} for a given R_{on} is desired to reduce power loss. When plotting R_{on} versus V_{BD} , as done in Figure 3.3E, devices low on the y-axis and far to the right on the x-axis are desirable. After fabrication of the first-generation HVTFTs, Silvaco Atlas simulations were again used to find design windows

where better devices on the R_{on} versus V_{BD} plot could be found. Devices with cross section as shown in Figure 3.9A were simulated where the gate field plate oxide was 640 nm of SiO₂. As was found earlier in this chapter, V_{BD} saturates for devices without a gate field plate when the nonpunch-through field condition is met. Adding the gate field plate with a length past the gate edge, L_{FP} , of 3 µm can spread the electric field, as shown in Figure 3.9D, allowing the devices to achieve higher V_{BD} with extended L_{OF} , Figure 3.9B. Even so, the devices with L_{FP} of 3 µm reach a nonpunch-through field condition around $L_{OF} = 16$ µm, Figure 3.9D, resulting in V_{BD} saturation, Figure 3.9B. Looking at the R_{on} versus V_{BD} plot the only clear advantage of using a gate field plate with an L_{FP} of 3 µm is an increase in V_{BD} capability. The R_{on} still suffers from the large resistance of the offset and is not improved by a gate field plate with L_{FP} of 3 µm.



Figure 3.10: A) Breakdown voltage as a function of L_{FP} for devices without the gate field plate structure (black dot) and with various L_{FP} (red symbols). B) Plot showing the breakdown voltage and on-resistance of devices with only an offset (black symbols), with a 3 µm L_{FP} and various L_{OF} (red symbols), and with a 19 µm L_{OF} and various L_{FP} (green symbols). C) Normalized electric field between gate and drain edges at breakdown for simulated devices with a L_{OF} or 19 µm and various L_{FP} .

Further simulations were performed using the structure in Figure 3.9A where L_{OF} was 19 µm, chosen past the non-punch-through condition of a 3 µm L_{FP} , and L_{FP} was varied. Simply by introducing a gate field plate with L_{FP} of 0 µm (aligned with the gate metal), the fringing fields are enough to increase the breakdown voltage by about 1.9 times, Figure 3.10A. The fringing fields

of a gate field plate with L_{FP} of 0 µm spread the electric field an additional approximately 7 µm (blue curve Figure 3.10C) compared to the devices with no gate filed plate (green curve Figure 3.9D). As L_{FP} is extend past the gate edge two distinct separate peaks between the gate edge and the gate field plate edge are observed (red curve Figure 3.10C). Distinct separate peaks result in saturation of V_{BD} (red curve Figure 3.10A). When L_{FP} is long enough to cause punch-through field condition at the drain edge (green curve Figure 3.10C), V_{BD} begins to roll off again (red curve Figure 3.10A). Here, again, we do not see an improvement in R_{on} for a given V_{BD} , Figure 3.10B.



Figure 3.11: A) Diagram of simulated device with both a gate and drain field plate. B) Plot showing the breakdown voltage and on-resistance of various devices. C) Normalized electric field between gate and drain edges at breakdown for simulated devices.

From the previous simulations two things are apparent: a short L_{OF} is required for low onresistance and a gate field plate is useful for decreasing the on-resistance and increasing the blocking voltage. When combining a short L_{OF} with a gate field plate, the peak electric field shifts to the drain edge (blue curve Figure 3.11C). To more evenly distribute the electric field in the offset region a drain field plate, with length L_{DP} past the drain edge, was added to the simulations in addition to the gate field plate as shown schematically in Figure 3.11A. As shown in Figure 3.11C for a simulated device with L_{OF} of 5 µm and a gate field plate with L_{FP} of 4 µm adding a drain field plate with L_{DP} of 3 µm more evenly distributes the electric field resulting in a V_{BD} increase of about 2.1 times compared to the same structure without the drain field plate. In addition to increasing V_{BD} , this is the first design showing significant improvement in R_{on} (Figure 3.11B). The reduction in R_{on} is due to the drain field plate accumulating a second channel. Further performance improvements may be possible with optimization of all the different dimensions and/or adding more field plates.[128]

3.5 Conclusions

The work in this chapter explored expanding the capabilities of AOS TFTs by using lateral device architectures to create high-voltage TFTs with ZTO active regions deposited by solution-processing. First, Silvaco Atlas simulations were used to model HVTFTs with a gate-to-drain offset. Simulations results show a gate-to-drain offset increased the breakdown voltage by distributing the electric field in the offset region. There is a limit to the highest breakdown achievable by the offset and the on-resistance of the devices suffers. The offset region's conductance cannot be modulated by the gate and therefore its resistance dominates the on-resistance of the ZTO HVTFTs with drain offset.

Fabricated devices based on the simulations showed an unexpectedly low on-current. The low on-current was attributed to depletion of the offset region caused by oxygen adsorbed onto the surface of the semiconductor. Passivation was used to prevent the oxygen adsorption and higher on-current was achieved. Passivated devices with no offset show excellent linear and saturation behavior and have an electron mobility of 11.8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, threshold voltage of -0.4 V, on/off current ratio greater than 10⁶, and a breakdown voltage around 45 V. The introduction of a 3 μm

drain offset increased the breakdown voltage to over 100 V. As predicted by the simulation results, the on-resistance increases with increasing offset length.

Finally, Silvaco Atlas was again used to model new HVTFT structures. Gate field plates can be added to the gate-to-drain offset structure to enable higher breakdown voltages by further distributing the electric field in the offset region. There is, however, little improvement in the on-resistance. To reduce the on-resistance a short offset length is required in combination with the gate field plate but under these conditions, the breakdown shifts to the drain edge and there is little improvement in breakdown voltage. Adding a drain field plate to the structure spreads the electric field yielding a higher breakdown voltage and a second electron channel is accumulated by the drain field plate resulting in a significant improvement in on-resistance. Future work could look at co-optimizing all of the dimensions using simulations and then finally device fabrication.

Chapter 4 Enhancement-mode ZTO TFTs with Improved Ambient Stability

4.1 Introduction

While amorphous oxide semiconductors (AOS) are interesting materials for several reasons, e.g. material properties of metal oxide semiconductors plus large-area uniformity,[20], [68] potential applications, as shown in the previous chapter, require high device stability. Changes in humidity during fabrication of AOS TFTs can cause poor electrical performance characterized by large hysteresis, strong depletion-mode behavior, and a kink in the subthreshold region.[34] The degree of moisture sensitivity can be dependent on the active layer thickness.[115] Active layer thickness is also important when a highly conductive back channel is present because as the thickness increases, kinks in the subthreshold region become more pronounced.[129] ZnO TFTs require a thin semiconductor to keep enhancement-mode behavior after passivation using ALD Al₂O₃.[116]

For AOS devices, various passivation layers have been studied to stabilize device characteristics. Devices with sputtered ZTO or IGZO channel layers have shown successful passivation, i.e. minimal changes in device characteristics, with sputtered amorphous zinc-tin-silicon-oxide as the passivation layer.[130] Other work on pulse laser deposition IGZO investigating passivation using Y₂O₃, Al₂O₃, HfO₂, and SiO₂ found Y₂O₃ was the highest performance passivation material when the channel was annealed prior to passivation and the passivation layer went through a post-deposition anneal.[131] These findings lead to the conclusions that the bulk defects should be removed by annealing before passivation and the

passivation layer can remove deep subgap defects from the surface therefore eliminating the subgap photo response during negative bias illumination stress.

There have been many more studies looking at the stability of indium-based AOS deposited using various deposition techniques for TFT applications,[117], [131]–[134] but here, we investigate the back-channel stability of TFTs with various thickness with solution processed zinc-tin-oxide active layers, as an indium-free AOS alternative. Previous work studying film thickness of single-layer solution-processed ZTO has produced films as thin as 20 nm by varying the spin coater speed [23] and down to 5 nm by varying the solution molarity.[115] In this chapter, we vary both the molarity of the solution and number of spin-coated layers to achieve sub-10 nm film thickness.

There are several different solution chemistries that can be used to create ZTO active layers. One popular chemistry uses a chloride-based process but this is undesirable due to the release of harmful byproducts during the process[23], [115] and no solution to device instability for chloridebased processes has been demonstrated.[135] We have chosen a solution chemistry that uses acetate precursors with the ability to be processed over a wide range of conditions while avoiding the creation of harmful byproducts.[77]

In this chapter, we explore depositing sub-10 nm ZTO films using an indium-free acetate-based solution process. The resulting devices were passivated using an alumina passivation layer deposited using an ozone-based atomic layer deposition (ALD) process. The devices passivated using the O₃-based ALD Al₂O₃ layer show enhancement-mode behavior with good bias stress stability, a low hysteresis of 0.85 V, and a field effect mobility, μ_{FE} , of 8.3 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹.

4.2 Experimental Section



Figure 4.1: A) Schematic and C) cross section diagram of common bottom-gate top-contact TFT. B) Schematic and D) cross section diagram of passivated TFT. The n^{++} silicon substrate and 100 nm of thermally grown SiO₂ act as the gate electrode and insulator, respectively.

Using heavily doped silicon with 100 nm thermally grown SiO₂ layer as the gate and gate insulator, respectively, common bottom-gate, top-contact TFTs with ZTO active layers were fabricated with the structure shown in Figure 4.1A and Figure 4.1C. The deposition of the ZTO active layer followed our previously-reported acetate-based solution with the exception that in this chapter we explore changing the solution molarity and number of spin-coated layers to vary the film thickness.[77] After the 1-hour 520°C anneal, following the spin-coating of the final layer, the ZTO is patterned using a wet etch process for device isolation. The top source/drain contacts were deposited by sputtering 100 nm of molybdenum and patterned by liftoff. The overlap between the top metal and ZTO layer was chosen to be much greater than the transfer length of Mo to ZTO in order to create low resistance ohmic contacts.[78] Two different deposition techniques were used to explore the use of approximately 30 nm of ALD deposited Al₂O₃ as a passivation layer as illustrated in Figure 4.1B and Figure 4.1D. The first technique is the traditional thermal ALD process where H₂O and trimethylaluminum (TMA) are the ALD precursors used at a process

temperature of 150°C in an Oxford OpAL ALD system.[133], [136], [137] The second technique, used previously with sputtered ZTO [138] and IGZO [139], is a thermal ALD process that uses ozone as the oxidant, instead of H₂O, at a process temperature of 100°C in a Veeco Savannah system. A J.A. Woollam M-2000 Ellipsometer was used to measure film thickness. A HP4156A semiconductor parameter analyzer or Keysight B1505A power device analyzer were used to take electrical measurements in the dark at room temperature in an air ambient. Vacuum measurements were taken using a Lake Shore Cryotronics TTPX Probe Station and the HP4156A semiconductor parameter analyzer.





Figure 4.2: A) Measured ZTO film thickness as a function of number of spin-coated layers deposited with solutions with various molarity (M). Symbols indicate experimental data while dashed lines indicate linear fits through the origin. B) Transfer curves of ZTO TFTs with $t_{channel} < 10$ nm, W/L of 10, and $V_{DS} = 1$ V. C) AFM measurements of a 1 μ m² area indicate a uniform continuous film with RMS surface roughness less than 1.2 nm. Adapted with permission from [30].

Samples were prepared with ZTO deposited using various solution molarity and number of spin-coated layers. The resulting film thickness was measured using ellipsometry and is plotted in Figure 4.2A showing the relationship between the number of spin-coated layers and the final film thickness. For a given molarity, the relationship between thickness and number of spin-coated layers is approximately linear as indicated by the dashed lines in Figure 4.2A. A linear relationship means that, for a given molarity, the thickness of each layer making up the final film is

approximately equal allowing the thickness of the active layer to be easily tuned. The layer thickness is dependent on the molarity of the solution, where a higher molarity results in a thicker layer. To ensure any changes in electrical performance were due to changes in film thickness, rather than a change in the number of layers or solution molarity, devices with similar active layer thickness but various number of layer and solution molarity were measured as shown in Figure 4.2B. The variation seen falls within the device-to-device variation indicating the number of layers and solution molarity does not impact device performance. AFM measurements, Figure 4.2C, on a 1 μ m² area show a uniform continuous film with RMS roughness less than 1.2 nm, much lower than 3.85 nm measured for a 20 nm thick film previously reported.[23]





Figure 4.3: Transfer curves of ZTO TFTs as-fabricated in an air environment (pre-vac) and under vacuum after a vacuum treatment (post-vac) with V_{DS} = 1 V. The device in a) has a film thickness of approximately 70 nm and W/L of 10 while b) has a film thickness of approximately 7 nm and W/L of 12.5. From [30] © 2019 IEEE.

To study the impact of environmental oxygen and water on device performance, devices with thick (\sim 70 nm) and thin (\sim 7 nm) active layers were measured both in an air ambient as-fabricated

and under vacuum after a vacuum treatment. The vacuum treatment consisted of keeping the samples under vacuum for approximately 22 hours and, while under vacuum, annealing the samples up to 400 K for approximately 1.75 hours. Transfer curves for as-fabricated devices in an air environment (pre-vac) and vacuum treated samples under vacuum (post-vac) are shown in Figure 4.3. Large hysteresis, measured as the difference between V_{GS} of the forward and reverse sweep required to achieve 100 nA I_D at 1 V V_{DS} , of 5.28 V and 12.65 V is present in the as-fabricated devices under air ambient for the thick and thin films, respectively. When the devices are measured under vacuum after vacuum treatment, the hysteresis is significantly reduced to -0.52 V and -0.05 V for the thick and thin films, respectively, leading to forward and reverse sweeps that are almost completely overlapping. The devices with a thick active layer have an "S" shaped transfer characteristic caused by a kink in the subthreshold region between -15 V and -5 V V_{GS} not apparent for devices with a thin active layer. Kinks in the subthreshold region are caused by traps in the channel that are attributed to remaining adsorbed water.[107]

Hysteresis is expected for as-fabricated AOS devices when measured in an air ambient due to interactions between the back channel and molecules in the environment, such as water and oxygen.[140] When water is adsorbed onto the back channel, it can act as either an electron donor [115] or an acceptor-like trap [97] depending on the active layer thickness [127] and relative humidity of the air.[141] On the other hand, molecular oxygen has only been characterized to act as an electron trap when adsorbed onto the back channel.[97], [115], [127], [141] Under an air environment, these molecules can freely desorb and re-adsorb during V_{GS} sweeps while, when the devices are under vacuum only desorption can happen freely as readsorption is limited by the minimal number of molecules available. During the vacuum treatment, desorption was assisted by the vacuum annealing process. The reduced hysteresis under vacuum is due to this desorption without readsorption.

The inferior characteristics of the thicker film under vacuum are due, in part, to the remaining adsorbed water that also causes the kink in the subthreshold region as discussed earlier in this chapter. As the thickness of the films decreases, the gate has a greater ability to couple through the bulk of the active layer and control the back channel of the device making thin films less susceptible to these issues and leading to the superior characteristics of the thin film.[142] The devices measured here were the thickest and thinnest films studied and as such we expect films with intermediate thicknesses to perform similarly. The next focus of this chapter is developing a passivation layer to enable the post-vacuum treatment behavior in an air environment without impractical vacuum treatment.



Figure 4.4: Transfer curves of ZTO TFTs in an air environment with $V_{DS} = 1 \text{ V}$ and W/L of 10 as-fabricated (pre-passivation) and after deposition of approximately 30 nm Al₂O₃ using a) and c) a H₂O-based ALD process and b) and d) an O₃-based ALD process (post-passivation). Devices measured have a film thickness of a) and b) ~ 70 nm and c) and d) ~ 28 nm. The apparent differences in pre-passivation characteristics of devices with the same thickness are caused by device-to-device variation and/or temporal instability of devices without passivation. Adapted from [30].

Samples with a ZTO thickness of approximately 70 nm and 28 nm were passivated using approximately 30 nm of Al₂O₃ deposited using either an H₂O-based or O₃-based ALD process to study which deposition process would lead to device characteristics that are stable and hysteresisfree in an air environment. The samples passivated using the H₂O-based process, Figure 4.4A and Figure 4.4C, are unable to be turned off in the V_{GS} region tested, exhibiting conducting behavior
regardless of film thickness. A more conductive film is caused by an increased number of free carriers, in this case, electrons. The metal precursor used during the ALD process, TMA, is highly reactive and may remove chemisorbed oxygen, or -OH groups, from the ZTO surface that would normally deplete the film and reduce the number of free carriers.[136] Without the chemisorbed molecules causing depletion, the number of free carriers increases and the device becomes more difficult to turn off. Hydrogen generated from the reaction between H₂O and TMA may also be trapped in the ZTO changing the film conductivity.[137] These results make the H₂O-based process an unattractive solution for device passivation.

The O₃-based process, Figure 4.4C and Figure 4.4D, still results in conductive behavior for the passivated device with a 70 nm thick active layer while the passivated 28 nm thick device can be turned off in the V_{GS} range measured. Passivating the 28 nm thick film resulted in a negative V_t shift of 9.9 V, a decrease in hysteresis from 2.03 V to 0.16 V, and a μ_{FE} of 8.6 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. The O₃-based process still uses the same highly reactive metal precursor (TMA) that we attributed to the conductive behavior for the H₂O-based passivation, but ozone may reintroduce the -OH groups that are stripped form the ZTO surface by TMA resulting in the better switching ability when the O₃-based process is used.[138], [139] While the 28 nm film results in switchable devices, the device turn-on is near -10 V and must be closer to 0 V for enhancement-mode behavior.



Figure 4.5: Transfer curves with V_{DS} = 1 V of ZTO TFTs with a) various thickness before passivation (solid line) and after passivation (dashed line) using an O₃-based Al₂O₃ ALD process. B) I-V curves showing the hysteresis of the 6 nm thick device in a) before passivation (black lines) and after passivation (red lines). Adapted with permission from [30].

To create passivated devices with enhancement-mode behavior, devices with active layer thickness of 6 nm, 17 nm, and 28 nm were measured before passivation and after passivation using the O₃-based Al₂O₃ ALD process, Figure 4.5. As the thickness of the film increases, the V_t of the as-deposited devices becomes more negative, Figure 4.5A. This relationship between V_t and film thickness is not unusual for AOS devices and has been attributed to a decrease in the number of traps in thicker films [143] resulting in an increased number of free carriers requiring more negative voltage to turn-off the device.[23], [144] As with the thicker films studied previously in this chapter, the as-deposited 28 nm thick film shows a kink in the subthreshold current near 0 V V_{GS} explained by traps caused by water adsorption. The subthreshold slope (*SS*) of the 6 nm and 17 nm devices do not greatly vary with passivation, while the 28 nm device shows a decrease in *SS* from 0.77 V dec⁻¹, before passivation, to 0.38 V dec⁻¹, after passivation. The reduction in *SS* for the 28 nm device can be explained by the removal of the kink in the subthreshold current likely caused by a reduction of trap density in the bulk of the film or at the back interface.[117] The pre-

passivation trend of thicker films causing more negative V_t persists post-passivation with all devices showing a negative shift caused by passivation. The negative shift is explained by an increase in free carriers caused by the desorption of surface species as discussed earlier in this chapter. Forward and reverse sweeps for the pre- and post-passivation 6 nm device are shown in Figure 4.5B. The post-passivation 6 nm device exhibits the best performance with a μ_{FE} of 8.3 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, V_t of 5.5 V, and hysteresis of 0.85 V.





Figure 4.6: A) Schematic illustration of constant current bias test setup used. Transfer curves of ZTO TFTs with $V_{DS} = 1$ V during constant current stress testing in B) semi-logarithmic and C) linear scale. I and II are 28 nm and 7 nm thick devices, respectively, passivated using the O₃-based process. III is the same 7 nm thick film II but prior to passivation. Adapted from [30].

To test the stability of the fabricated devices, both before passivation and after passivation using the O₃-based process, a constant current stress test was used. The test was performed in the dark at room temperature with the source grounded and a constant current of 10 μ A applied to the gate and drain in parallel as illustrated in Figure 4.6A. Transfer curves with a V_{GS} range of approximately $V_t \pm 5$ V, where V_t is defined here as the value of V_{GS} required to produce 10 nA I_D , were taken after every 1000 s of constant current stress for a total of 5000 s, an appropriate time to observe device instability.[115], [132], [134] The resulting transfer curves for passivated devices with a thickness of 28 nm (I) and 7 nm (II) and for a 7 nm device without passivation (III) are show in Figure 4.6B and Figure 4.6C. The change in threshold voltage, ΔV_t , after 5000 s constant current stress for the thin device improves from -0.18 V to 0.08 V after O₃-based passivation and remains positive while the 28 nm device shows even smaller V_t , 0.03 V, however the device behaves in depletion mode. These results indicate an Al₂O₃ layer deposited using an O₃-based ALD process can be used to passivation thin ZTO TFTs to enable enhancement mode devices with improved V_t stability compared to devices without passivation.

4.6 Conclusions

By varying the solution molarity and number of spin-coated layers, solution processed ZTO TFTs were fabricated with active layer thickness as thin as 6 nm. The resulting device characteristics were independent of the solution molarity and number of layers but were dependent on film thickness where V_t was more negative with increasing film thickness. As-fabricated devices show hysteresis as large as 12.65 V at 100 nA I_D when $V_{DS} = 1$ V. A vacuum treatment was used to study the impact of the device back channel on transfer characteristics. The hysteresis measured after vacuum treatment was greatly reduced to -0.05 V due to desorption of molecules at the back channel without readsorption. To obtain devices that are stable and hysteresis-free in an air ambient, passivation using ALD deposited Al₂O₃ was studied.

When the Al₂O₃ back channel passivation layer was deposited using an ALD process that used H₂O as the oxidant, the resulting ZTO films were conductive. The conductive behavior was attributed to the highly reactive metal precursor, TMA, stripping the back channel of molecules that would otherwise deplete the ZTO film resulting in an increased number of free carriers. An O₃-based process, on the other hand, resulted in normal TFT behavior with a μ_{FE} of 8.3 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, V_{t} of 5.5 V, and a hysteresis of 0.85 V. As seen with as-deposited devices, the threshold voltage decreased with increasing film thickness and the devices all exhibited a negative V_{t} shift after

passivation. The O₃-based passivation layer also improved stress stability indicating an Al₂O₃ layer deposited using an O₃-based ALD process can be used to passivate thin ZTO TFTs to enable enhancement mode devices with improved V_1 stability. Further work investigating less reactive metal precursors for Al₂O₃, e.g. dimethylaluminum hydride [145] or dimethylaluminum isopropoxide,[146] or for other dielectrics [131] in combination with thin active layers could result in further improvement to air-stable enhancement mode devices. Additionally, materials analysis, e.g. XPS, could be used to verify chemical composition and co-ordination changes at the back channel due to different ALD processes.

Chapter 5 Robustness of Passivated ALD Zinc Tin Oxide TFTs to Aging and Bias Stress

5.1 Introduction

In Chapter 2 we developed high-performance ALD films necessary for beyond-display technologies and in Chapter 4 we used passivation to improve the ambient stability of the devices. To apply these devices to the applications introduced in Chapter 1, devices with excellent temporal and bias stress stability are necessary. Here, by device temporal stability, we mean any changes in threshold voltage, V_t , field-effect mobility, μ_{FE} , and subthreshold swing, *SS*, that occur due solely to aging. In contrast, device bias stress stability is a measure of the change in those same parameters due to bias stress.

Temporal and bias stress stability can vary with ambient atmosphere [34], thickness of the active layer [115], [127], the active layer structure [147], and passivation [130], [131]. Ambient dependency, as discussed in Chapter 4, comes from interactions with water and oxygen molecules where water can act as an electron donor [115] or an acceptor-like trap [97] and oxygen acts as an electron trap [97], [115], [127]. In Chapter 4 we applied passivation layers, as others have, to prevent interactions with ambient molecules [115], [130], [131], [136]. The bias stress stability is dependent on the stress time and magnitude where longer stress times and larger magnitudes generally result in larger changes [115], [127]. These changes can result from creation of defect states near the gate insulator/semiconductor interface [148], charge trapping in the gate insulator [149], or interactions with ambient molecules [150].

As the stability can also vary with deposition technique and postdeposition annealing [151], it is important to study the stability of each promising technique. ALD is one of the most promising techniques because it is a low-temperature vapor-phase deposition method allowing for conformal and uniform thin-films with precise interfaces, stoichiometries, and thicknesses [40]. Only one previous study examined the stability or reliability of ALD ZTO TFTs and was limited to studying negative bias stability (NBS) [28]. The NBS of ALD ZTO TFTs is of limited interest because it is well known that holes cannot be readily generated without illumination in n-type AOS because of a high density of deep subgap states [152]. Furthermore, no previous study on ALD ZTO TFTs has explored passivation layers. Therefore, a more thorough investigation of ALD ZTO TFT temporal and bias stress stability, including a passivation layer, is required.

In this study, we examine the temporal and bias stress stability of ALD ZTO TFTs prepared under two different sets of process conditions, with and without a passivation layer. Devices without a passivation layer show minor changes in V_t and ΔV_c during the first 25 days of aging in a dark air ambient, after which they stabilize. Passivation greatly improves the temporal stability and robustness to PBS but also results in a one-time decrease in V_t and increase in SS and contact resistance, extracted using the transmission line method. Silvaco Atlas simulations are used to show that these one-time changes in V_t and SS are likely due to back-channel interface states induced during deposition of the passivation layer. NBIS is reduced by using optimal ZTO process conditions, but is not eliminated by passivation. The work presented here demonstrates the excellent temporal and bias stress stability of passivated ALD ZTO TFTs, which paves the way for their adoption in thin-film electronics for beyond-display technologies.

5.2 Experimental Section



Figure 5.1 (a) Schematic illustration of a ZTO TFT cross section with bottom-gate top-contact structure. Representative transfer characteristics (I_D - V_{GS}) with V_{DS} = 1 V are plotted on the left *y*-axis for devices with ZTO annealed at (b) 400°C and (c) 500°C. The forward *I*-V curves are indicated by the solid lines and the reverse *I*-V curves are indicated by the dashed lines. Linear field effect mobility extracted from these *I*-V curves are plotted on the right *y*-axis using open circles. From [153].

TFTs were fabricated on heavily doped n⁺ Si where approximately 100 nm of thermal oxide was grown to act as the gate and gate insulator, respectively, in a bottom-gate top-contact structure schematically illustrated in Figure 5.1(a). The active layer, approximately 12 nm of ZTO, was deposited by ALD at a deposition temperature of 150°C using a hybrid thermal H₂O and O₂-plasma process with a cycle ratio yielding a film with approximately 21 at. % Sn content, as described in Chapter 2. The ZTO films were then wet-etched for device isolation before being annealed at either 400 or 500°C on a hotplate in air in a custom-built moisture-controlled glovebox with less than 20% relative humidity (Chapter 2). Finally, approximately 100 nm of molybdenum was deposited by sputtering and patterned by lift-off to form source/drain ohmic contacts [78]. Devices have channel lengths, *L*, and widths, *W*, of 10 and 120 μ m, respectively, unless otherwise stated. Passivated devices were encapsulated with approximately 30 nm of Al₂O₃ deposited by ALD at 100°C in a Veeco Savannah system using an ozone process [30], chosen in Chapter 4 to reduce the *V*_t shift introduced by passivation [154]. Samples were stored at room temperature in a dark air ambient between measurements. Temporal stability and transmission line method (TLM) measurements were taken using a Keysight B1505A power device analyzer while bias stress measurements were taken using an HP4156A semiconductor parameter analyzer. All measurements were taken at room temperature in air using continuous voltage sweeps. When both forward and reverse *I-V* curves are shown, the measurement was first taken in the forward direction, negative to positive V_{GS} , immediately followed by the reverse direction, positive to negative V_{GS} . Positive bias stress (PBS) was applied by biasing the gate at +20 V while the source and drain were kept at 0 V. Negative bias illumination stress (NBIS) was applied by biasing the gate at -20 V while the source and drain were kept at 0 V. Negative bias illumination of a green LED (520 nm) with an optical power density of 900 μ W cm⁻². All other measurements were taken in the dark.

The linear field-effect mobility, μ_{FE} , is extracted using the equation $\mu_{FE} = (dI_D/dV_{GS})L(WC_{ox}V_{DS})^{-1}$ where C_{ox} refers to the oxide capacitance per unit area and dI_D/dV_{GS} is the slope of the I_D - V_{GS} curve in the linear region. Reported μ_{FE} values were taken using a gate voltage range of 13 V < V_{GS} < 15 V with $V_{DS} = 1$ V, unless otherwise stated. Threshold voltage, V_t , is reported as the x-axis intercept of a linear fit to the linear region of an I_D - V_{GS} sweep. Subthreshold swing, SS, is taken as the inverse of the logarithmic rate of device current turn-on, in units of volts per decade of current. Hysteresis, ΔV_C , is defined as the difference in the value of V_{GS} at $I_D = 100$ nA between the reverse and forward sweeps.



Figure 5.2 (a) Band structure of bulk ZTO and (b) interfaces used in Silvaco ATLAS simulations. For (b), solid lines indicate the semiconductor/gate insulator interface (BG) used in all simulations while the dashed lines indicate the semiconductor/passivation interface (BC) used in simulations including a passivation layer. From [153].

Silvaco ATLAS was used to conduct 2-D numerical simulations of the TFTs to understand the changes in device performance with the addition of a passivation layer. Simulation parameters from [155], [156] were used as a starting point and were then modified to fit the device characteristics presented here. The final band model of the subgap states is shown in Figure 5.2 using the parameters found in Table 5.1 where *BG* refers to the ZTO/gate insulator interface, *BC* refers to the ZTO/passivation interface, and *IT* refers to parameters applied to both *BG* and *BC* where *BC* parameters were only applied to simulations that include a passivation layer.

Symbol (Unit)	Description	Value
$\mu_{\rm n} ({\rm cm}^2 {\rm V}^{-1} {\rm s}^{-1})$	Electron Mobility	13.46
$N_{\rm C}/N_{\rm V}~{\rm (cm^{-3})}$	Conduction/Valance Band Effective DOS	4.14×10^{18}
$E_{\rm G}({\rm eV})$	Band Gap	3.08
$N_{\rm TA}/N_{\rm TD}~({\rm cm}^{-3}{\rm eV}^{-1})$	Tail Acceptor/Donor State Peak Density	8.25×10 ¹⁹
$W_{\mathrm{TA}}\left(\mathrm{eV}\right)$	Tail Acceptor State Width	0.019
$W_{\mathrm{TD}}(\mathrm{eV})$	Tail Donor State Width	0.1
$N_{\rm GD}({\rm cm}^{-3}{\rm eV}^{-1})$	Gaussian Donor State Peak Density	6.5×10^{16}
$E_{\rm GD}({ m eV})$	Gaussian Donor State Peak Position	2.93
$W_{\rm GD}({ m eV})$	Gaussian Donor State Peak Width	0.05
$N_{\mathrm{TA,IT}}(\mathrm{cm}^{-3}\mathrm{eV}^{-1})$	IT Tail Acceptor State Peak Density	8.34×10^{11}
$N_{\text{TD,IT}}$ (cm ⁻³ eV ⁻¹)	IT Tail Donor State Peak Density	2.25×10^{16}
$W_{\mathrm{TA,IT}} \left(\mathrm{eV} \right)$	IT Tail Acceptor State Width	0.19
$Q_{\mathrm{F,BG}}\mathrm{(cm^{-2})}$	BG Fixed Charge	-5.20×10 ¹⁰
$W_{\mathrm{TD,BG}}\left(\mathrm{eV}\right)$	BG Tail Donor State Width	0.1
$Q_{\rm F,BC}({\rm cm}^{-2})$	BC Fixed Charge	2.38×10^{11}
$W_{\rm TD,BC}({\rm eV})$	BC Tail Donor State Width	0.28
$N_{\rm GD,BC}$ (cm ⁻³ eV ⁻¹)	BC Gaussian Donor State Peak Density	6.5×10 ¹⁷
$E_{\rm GD,BC}({\rm eV})$	BC Gaussian Donor State Peak Position	2.334
$W_{\rm GD,BC}({ m eV})$	BC Gaussian Donor State Peak Width	0.05

Table 5.1 Parameters used in Silvaco Atlas simulations. From [153].

5.3 Results and Discussion



Figure 5.3 Changes in electrical characteristics of TFTs with aging. Symbols indicate the average of 5 measured devices and error bars indicate the standard deviation. From [153].

The transfer characteristics for devices without passivation and annealed at 400 and 500°C are shown in Figure 5.1(b) and Figure 5.1(c), respectively, and are summarized in Table 5.2 for 0 and 178 days of aging. The excellent performance of unaged devices has been discussed in Chapter 2. For both samples without passivation, the μ_{FE} and *SS* before and after 178 days of aging agree within the measured standard deviation. (Five devices of each type were measured on each date.) The stability of μ_{FE} indicates the bulk tail acceptors at the conduction band edge do not change

with time [157] while the stability of SS indicates a stable semiconductor/gate insulator interface [117]. There are, however, statistically significant decreases in V_t and ΔV_c within the first 25 days of aging (Figure 5.3).

		μ _{FE} (cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹)	$V_{\rm t}$ (V)	<i>SS</i> (V dec ⁻¹)	ΔV_{c} (V)
	0-day	11.8	3.03	0.220	2.18
400°C without passivation	178-days	12.2	2.08	0.235	1.25
	Change	0.4	-0.95	0.015	-0.92
	0-day	12.4	3.73	0.223	1.59
500°C without passivation	178-days	12.5	3.37	0.215	0.949
	Change	0.1	-0.36	-0.008	-0.641
	0-day	10.2	1.32	0.473	1.18
400°C with passivation	178-days	10.3	0.815	0.458	1.07
	Change	0.1	-0.505	-0.015	-0.11

Table 5.2 Electrical characteristics of TFTs. From [153].

There are at least two possible explanations for a decrease in V_t with aging. The first is adsorption of water molecules that would then act as electron donors [127]. This explanation is unlikely to apply here because water has been shown to act as an electron donor only in thicker AOS films [127] and adsorption/desorption of water should also correspond to an increase in hysteresis [97], which is not seen for these devices (Figure 5.3). The other, more likely, explanation is an increase in the oxygen vacancies that are native defect dopants and the main contributor to free electrons in AOS materials [158]. As ΔV_t stabilizes after 25 days of aging (Figure 5.3), the concentration of oxygen vacancies must reach an equilibrium value within the first 25 days due to kinetic constraints or a self-limiting reaction [159]. Hysteresis, however, continues to vary after 25 days of aging (Figure 5.3) because of interactions between ambient molecules and the exposed AOS surface, commonly referred to as the back-channel, requiring passivation to inhibit these interactions [30], [127].

As the 400 and 500°C annealed devices without passivation show similar trends with aging, studies implementing an Al₂O₃ passivation layer were only performed on devices with a 400°C

anneal as those are within the 450°C thermal budget of 3D monolithic integration [69]. The sample with passivation exhibits V_t temporal stability, in addition to the μ_{FE} and SS temporal stability also exhibited by the samples without passivation (Figure 5.3). The passivation process may speed up or inhibit the creation of oxygen vacancies that resulted in the V_t instability of the samples without passivation, reaching an equilibrium value without the need for aging. The only parameter that does vary with aging is ΔV_c , which decreases in the first 100 days of aging and then stabilizes. As the passivation layer inhibits interactions with ambient molecules, the source of hysteresis in passivated devices must come from another source, such as trapping and detrapping of electrons into defect states at the BC that may reduce with time [159], [160].



Figure 5.4 (a) Experimental (symbols) and simulated (lines) $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ curves of 0 day 400°C annealed ZTO devices. Closed symbols indicate forward sweeps while open symbols indicate reverse sweeps. The without passivation data is the same as the $I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$ data in Figure 5.1(b). (b) Percent Change in $\mu_{\rm FE}$ with passivation as a function of channel length for 0 day 400°C annealed ZTO devices. Symbols and error bars indicate averages and standard deviations of five devices, respectively. c) Width normalized channel resistance (left *y*-axis) and contact resistance (right *y*-axis) as a function of $V_{\rm GS}$ - $V_{\rm on}$ as extracted using transmission line method for 0 day 400°C annealed ZTO devices. From [153].

Transfer characteristics for 400°C annealed devices with and without passivation are shown in Figure 5.4(a). From these transfer curves, there is a perceptible decrease in V_t and ΔV_c and increase in SS with passivation. The reduction of ΔV_c with passivation is an expected result as the main contributor to hysteresis for the devices without passivation, interactions between ambient molecules and the back-channel, is blocked by passivation and is now attributed to BC defect states [97]. Silvaco ATLAS simulations (Figure 5.4 (a)) with parameters listed in Table 5.1 were used to explain the change in *SS* and V_t with passivation. The simulated Gaussian distribution of donor states at the BC (Figure 5.2(b)) create a second parallel channel resulting in a kink in the subthreshold I_D between -5 and -2 V V_{GS} (Figure 5.4(a)) while the tail donors increase the *SS* of the main channel [161]. The parallel negative shift in V_t was modeled by a positive fixed charge at the BC and may result from reactions with highly reactive trimethylaluminum or ozone [16] or positive fixed charge in the bulk Al₂O₃ [162]. The kink in the subthreshold I_D is no longer present in the aged sample, further indicating the reduction of *BC* states with time. We should note that there was no increase in *SS* with passivation for the solution-processed devices in Chapter 4. This is because the solution-processed devices without passivation already have a large *SS* caused by a large number of defects making the further contribution of back-channel defects negligible.

A statistically relevant reduction in μ_{FE} , unperceivable in Figure 5.4(a), from 11.8 to 10.2 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ also occurs with passivation (Figure 5.4 (b)). The change in μ_{FE} with passivation becomes more dominant as *L* decreases as shown in Figure 5.4 (b). When μ_{FE} decreases with decreasing *L*, the apparent μ_{FE} degradation is caused by voltage division between the channel resistance, r_{ch} , that scales with *L* and the contact resistance, R_C . As *L* decreases, R_C becomes a larger portion of the total resistance, creating a voltage drop effectively reducing the voltage, V_{DS} , across the channel by $I_{DS}R_C$. The μ_{FE} equation neglects R_C but can be corrected for this voltage drop by replacing V_{DS} with V_{DS} -($(R_C V_{DS})R_{Tot}^{-1}$), where $R_{Tot} = R_C + r_{ch}L$ [78]. TLM measurements were used to extract r_{ch} and R_C as shown in Figure 5.4(c). As expected, for an n-type device with ohmic contacts, r_{ch} decreases with increasing V_{GS} while R_C stays constant. While r_{ch} does not change with passivation, indicating the bulk ZTO is unchanged, there is an approximate five times increase in R_C after passivation. Using the extracted R_C values, a corrected μ_{FE} is calculated and

plotted in Figure 5.4 (b). The corrected μ_{FE} is within one standard deviation of 0% change in mobility indicating that the five times increase in R_C may account for the apparent decrease in μ_{FE} .

During the passivation process, the sample is placed in an ALD chamber and exposed to a vacuum environment at 100°C. These conditions may cause an increase in contact resistance with passivation. To test whether these conditions would increase the contact resistance, a sample with identical ZTO film was prepared and $R_{\rm C}$ was estimated. The fresh sample has an estimated contact resistance of about 6.89 Ω -cm, similar to the 0 day device with passivation. To test whether a vacuum treatment would impact $R_{\rm C}$, the sample was placed in a vacuum chamber for one hour and remeasured in an air ambient. Vacuum treatment caused the estimated R_C to increase to about 13.5 Ω -cm. Then, the sample was annealed for one hour in vacuum at 100°C to test whether a vacuum anneal would change the contact resistance. After the vacuum anneal, the estimated $R_{\rm C}$ further increases to about 19.8 Ω -cm, similar to the 0 day device without passivation. Therefore, the increase in contact resistance with passivation may be attributed to the coincidental vacuum anneal of the ALD process. Contact resistance may increase during a vacuum anneal because the oxygen vacancies induced by the top metallization process [78], [163] will readily diffuse from the metal/semiconductor junction increasing the potential barrier and, therefore, the interfacial contact resistance [164]. Further work is required to verify these proposed mechanisms. Nonetheless, from the aging stability of μ_{FE} we can conclude that the contact resistance – after undergoing the one-time change induced during passivation – appears stable under aging.



Figure 5.5 Change in μ_{FE} , V_t , and SS with stress time. The filled symbols indicate PBS, the open symbols indicate NBIS, and the lines in the plot of ΔV_t are fits by the stretched-exponential equation for ΔV_t . From [153].

Finally, the reliability of the aged devices was studied by PBS and NBIS and the results are shown in Figure 5.5. Under PBS, there is an increase in V_t with increasing stress time for all samples. The source of the PBS for the 400°C device without passivation is related to the interaction between the ambient oxygen and the back channel and can be described by the stretched exponential, $\Delta V_t(t) = \Delta V_{t0}[1 - \exp(-(t/\tau)^{\beta})]$ where $\Delta V_{t0} = V_{\text{stress}} - V_t(t=0 \text{ s})$, τ is the stretched exponential, and β is the characteristic trapping time of carriers [150]. In the ΔV_t plot in Figure 5.5, the filled symbols indicate the measured change in V_t with time while the line indicates the $\Delta V_t(t)$ fitted equation. For the devices without passivation, τ is on the order of 10⁵ s which is in line with pervious results attributed to oxygen adsorption [165]. After passivation, however, τ increases to the order of 10⁹ s indicating an increase in stability [166]. Without passivation, β is approximately 0.28 while after passivation it decreases to 0.16. The change in both τ and β indicate the dominant charge trapping shifts from oxygen adsorption without passivation to interface states, likely the shallow Gaussian donors, with passivation and that an improved passivation layer, with reduced interface states, could further reduce ΔV_t from PBS.



Figure 5.6 Variable angle spectroscopic ellipsometry analysis for ZTO films deposited on Si at 150°C with various c_{sn} . The exponent of 0.5 indicates indirect or amorphous type bandgap and the *y*-axis intercept of the fitted lines indicate the bandgap of the film. Sub-bandgap absorption is clearly present. Reprinted from [50] with permission from Elsevier.

Under NBIS, there is a decrease in V_t with increasing stress time for all samples. The source of negative V_t shift in AOS materials with NBIS has been attributed to photo-ionization of oxygen vacancy sites from V₀ to V₀²⁺ which occurs under the combination of visible light ~2.3 eV and negative gate bias. These V₀²⁺ states contribute free electrons, causing parallel negative V_T shifts and persistent photoconductivity.[33] The neutral oxygen vacancy sites and/or local undercoordination of oxygen, can be correlated with the simulated valence band tail-states with a density of ~10²⁰ cm⁻³ (Figure 5.2), and are experimentally observable in absorption spectra (Figure 5.6) as subgap absorption.[167], [168] The larger negative V_t shift of the 400°C samples with and without passivation, compared to that of the 500°C sample, may be due a greater concentration of subgap defects. The passivated sample exhibits the largest negative V_t shift with NBIS, likely due to the presence of donor-like tail states at the back channel/passivation interface (Figure 5.2(b)).[169], [170] In addition to a negative V_t shift, the 400°C annealed sample without passivation shows a large increase in *SS* with increased NBIS time. The other two samples also show an increase in *SS* for stress times greater than approximately 4000 s. These *SS* increases may be due to changes in subgap defects states or interface states [148].

The mobility values used to calculate the change in mobility shown in Figure 5.5 were extracted using the same gate over-drive voltage for every measurement of a given sample in order to reduce the impact of ΔV_t on mobility extraction. Two clear trends are observable for samples without passivation: PBS causes a decrease in μ_{FE} and NBIS causes an increase in μ_{FE} . The decrease in μ_{FE} with PBS can be understood from the interaction of carriers with the chemisorbed oxygen that also causes the positive V_t shift. As the passivated sample does not suffer from interaction with ambient molecules, the $\Delta \mu_{FE}$ with PBS is significantly reduced for that sample. The increase in μ_{FE} with NBIS can be understood as the increase in free carriers resulting in more band-like conduction with higher mobility.

5.4 Conclusion

Understanding and improving the temporal and bias stress stability of AOS TFTs fabricated using promising techniques such as ALD is critical for their adoption for beyond-display technologies. Here, we have investigated the temporal and bias stress stability of BEOL compatible zinc-tin-oxide n-TFTs with and without passivation layers. Devices without passivation exhibit slight changes within the first 25 days of aging and then excellent temporal stability. PBS instability, predominately caused by interactions with ambient molecules in samples without passivation, is significantly reduced for samples with passivation. However, passivation also causes an increase in contact resistance, *SS*, and does not completely eliminate NBIS instabilities. Future studies are needed to reduce the interface defect density between the passivation layer and

the active channel layer, and to confirm the physical mechanism driving the increased contact resistance following passivation.

Chapter 6 Schottky Contact to ALD ZTO

6.1 Introduction

In Chapter 2, we developed the processes required to deposit high-performance ZTO and low interface defect density gate insulators, achieving μ_{FE} greater than 20 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and *SS* approaching the Boltzmann limit. With high quality films and interfaces, we focused on characterizing and improving the ambient, temporal, and bias stress stability in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5. These chapters have, thus far, only focused on metal insulator semiconductor field effect transistors (MISFETs), as has the majority of existing literature.[29], [82], [86], [171] The thin-film electronics that can be fabricated using only our ZTO MISFETs are limited because of their unipolar, n-type, behavior and, therefore, other types of devices are required to expand to other thin-film ICs. In this chapter, we will focus on developing Schottky contacts to our highperformance ZTO which can be used to fabricate diodes used for rectification and metal semiconductor field effect transistors (MESFETs) for unipolar logic circuits.



Figure 6.1 a) *I-V* measurements demonstrating diodes can be fabricated using either MISFETs, by tying the gate and drain electrodes as shown in the inset, or through a Schottky contact-based vertical thin film diode (V-TFD). b,c) AC/DC conversion using a half-wave rectifier, schematically shown in the inset. The lower switching voltage of the V-TFD results in a higher *V*_{out}. d) Circuit diagrams of logic inverters using a bottom drive MISFET and a top load MISFET (left) or MESFET (right). e) Inverter characteristics show a sharper voltage transfer characteristic and higher gain is observed for the MESFET-loaded inverter. Adapted by permission from Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH: [16].

Rectification is critical for applications where wireless energy harvesting and power conversion is required. In wireless energy harvesting, a radio frequency (RF) input is received by an antenna and then fed into a full-wave rectifier, converting AC to DC.[172] This DC output can then be modulated using a DC-DC converter with a rectifier-based architecture.[173] Unipolar rectifiers can be fabricated using MISFETs in a diode-tied configuration, where the drain and gate are shorted together, or by applying a Schottky contact to the AOS material. Previous works on AOS Schottky-based devices have illustrated the superiority of their rectifying behavior and application to MESFETs.[16] In Figure 6.1a, *I-V* curves of diodes fabricated using a diode-tied

MISFET (black) and Schottky-based vertical thin film diode (V-TFD) shows the V-TFD has much lower reverse current and higher forward current leading to a better on/off current ratio and more ideal diode characteristics. When the MISFET is diode-tied, the device is operated in saturation where the current is defined by

$$I = \frac{WC_{\rm ox}}{2L} \mu_{\rm sat} (V_{\rm GS} - V_{\rm t})^2$$
(6.1)

and increases by the square of V_{GS} (or V_{DS} as they are tied together).[171] Ideal diodes, on the other hand, have current defined by

$$I = I_{\rm s} \left\{ \exp\left[\frac{qV}{nk_{\rm B}T}\right] - 1 \right\}$$
(6.2)

that increases exponentially by the applied forward bias, *V*.[174] The exponential increase results in the lower on-resistance and thus lower forward voltage drops compared to the diode-tied MISFET and the half-wave rectifiers in Figure 6.1b,c show higher output voltages when diodes are used for the rectification.

Without a comparable p-type AOS material, current matching for CMOS-based logic architecture is challenging. An alternative to using CMOS architecture is enhancement/depletionmode architecture based on unipolar semiconductors. Previous work has demonstrated diode-tied MISFETs (black) or MESFETs (red) can be applied as load transistors in AOS-based unipolar logic inverters, Figure 6.1d. The resulting transfer characteristics and gain profiles illustrate the superiority of the MESFET loaded inverter compared to the MISFET loaded inverter for small switching voltages and high gain, Figure 6.1e.

As Schottky contacts and MESFETs are important to achieve high-performance AOS logic circuits, as shown above, some work on AOS MESFETs has been performed over the last decade, as summarized in Table 6.1. Several of the works use IGZO as the semiconductor but, as we

explained in previous chapters, we are interested in ZTO as a ternary alternative. From the works that do focus on ZTO, annealing at 400°C, or higher, is necessary for even moderate μ_{FE} , ruling out application to flexible substrates. Furthermore, the deposition techniques used are not suitable with the scalable manufacturing applications we are interested in. As a result, new low-temperature high-performance processes must be developed for ALD ZTO MESFETs, but first Schottky contacts to ALD ZTO are required.

Process Temperature	Deposition Technique	AOS Material	μ _{FE} [cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹]	SS [V dec ⁻¹]	Ref.
200°C	PLD	IGZO	0.5 (V _{GS} = 0 V)	0.13	[175]
350°C	Mist-CVD	IGZO	3.2 (V _{DS} = 3 V)	0.35	[176]
RT	Sputter	IGZO	8.8 (<i>V</i> _{DS} = 2 V)	0.42	[177]
400°C	Mist-CVD	ZTO	12 (<i>V</i> _{DS} = 2 V)	0.18	[178]
RT	Sputter	ZTO	0.9 (V _{DS} = 3 V)	0.12	[179]
520°C	Solution-process	ZTO	4.5 (V _{GS} = 0 V)	0.11	[16]

Table 6.1 Brief summary of current AOS MESFETs

At the simpliest level, to form a high quality Schottky interface to an n-type semicondcutor, the metal must have a high-workfunction and the junction between the metal and semiconductor must be clean and abrupt. Even with a high-workfunction metal and a clean junction, neither an abrupt or Schottky junction is guaranteed. Abrupt junctions are not energentically favorable and interactions between the semiconductor and metal, such as interdiffusion or alloy-mixing, can lead to interfacial layers, interface defects, or semiconductor defects that change the characteristics of the junction. For oxide-based based semiconductors, inlcuding ZTO, reduction and oxidation also play a critical role in the characteritics of a metal semiconductor junction. For example, junctions between high-workfunction Pd, Pt, and Au show little to no retification to ZnO because redox reactions between the metal and ZnO create Zn and O vacancies that cause Fermi-level pinning or trap-assited tunneling.[180], [181] This is further illustrated by earlier work done by PetersonLab, in which O_2 plasma is used to modify the surface of Pd to PdO_x before spin-coating ZTO. During the annealing of the spin-coated ZTO, the PdO_x is reduced to Pd and oxygen vacancies in ZTO are filled resulting in a Schottky contact at that interface.[182]

A previous study on reactively sputtered Au, Ag, Ni, Pd, and Pt Schottky contacts to PLD ZTO showed Ni provides no rectifying behavior while Au, Ag, Pd, and Pt all provide greater than three orders of magnitude of rectification with Au and Pd showing the best performance with over seven orders of magnitude of rectification.[183] Another previous work showed evaporated Ag created a Schottky contact to solution-processed ZTO because the Ag oxidized to AgO_x due the favorable chemical states that existed at the interface.[16] All of this is to say, the formation of a Schottky contact may be highly dependent on the interface, which varies with deposition technique.

Schottky contacts are required to create unipolar thin-film diodes and MESFETS but have not yet been studied with ALD ZTO. Therefore, it is unknown whether metals that provide Schottky contacts to ZTO deposited by other deposition techniques will create Schottky contacts to ALD ZTO because of differences in the metal-semiconductor interface. In this chapter, we study and characterize different contact materials to enable future high-performance Schottky-based devices. First, we will attempt to use bottom Pd and top Ag as a bottom ohmic and top Schottky contact, respectively. Then, we will use reactively sputtered AgO_x as a top Schottky contact in a lateral structure to demonstrate the first Schottky contact to ALD ZTO. Finally, because of the limitations of a lateral structure, we will investigate several different metals as possible bottom Schottky contacts.

6.2 Experimental Section

6.2.1 Silver and Reactively Sputtered Silver Process

Samples were first prepared following a process similar to that in [16] with bottom Pd and top Ag. First, heavily doped n-type silicon with 100 nm thermally grown oxide was used as the substrate where 10 nm of Ti followed by 100 nm of Pd was deposited by evaporation and patterned by lift-off to form the bottom electrode. Then, ZTO was deposited using 200°C thermal ALD process described in Chapter 2. The sample was either annealed at 400°C in an air ambient with relative humidity < 20% first and then wet-etched for device isolation or vice versa. Finally, a top electrode was formed by evaporating 100 nm of Ag followed by 10 nm of Pd and patterned by lift-off.

Another set of samples were fabricated using the same substrate where ZTO was deposited using the same 200°C thermal ALD process described in Chapter 2. The ZTO was then wet etched for device isolation and annealed at 400°C in an air ambient with less than 20% RH. Top Schottky contacts were deposited using reactive sputtering of Ag using a Kurt J. Lesker PVD 75 and top ohmic contacts were deposited using sputtering of Mo. Both metals were patterned using liftoff. Fabricated devices were measured in air ambient in the dark using an HP4156A semiconductor parameter analyzer with the substrate floating, the ohmic contact grounded, and the bias applied to the Schottky contact.

6.2.2 Process to Screen Other Potential Bottom Schottky Contacts

Starting with a glass substrate, two samples each were coated in approximately 100 nm of Ag, Pd, or Pt. The first sample for each metal was used to test the metal as a bottom Schottky contact while the second sample was exposed to 800 W of O₂-plasma for 10 min at 60°C using a YES-CV200RFS. Previous work has shown this O₂-plasma exposure results in oxidization of the surface of metals such as Ir, Pd, and Pt, improving rectifying performance to metal-oxide semiconductors.[182], [184] We will therefore refer to the O₂-plasma treated metals as oxidized in this chapter. Next, approximately 80 nm of ZTO was deposited using the 200°C thermal process described in Chapter 2 and was then annealed at 400°C in a moisture controlled glovebox with relative humidity less than 20%. Then, the ZTO was wet-etched for device isolation. Finally, ohmic contacts were made to the top of the ZTO by sputtering approximately 100 nm of Mo. Passivated samples were encapsulated with 30 nm of Al₂O₃ deposited using the O₃-based ALD process introduced in Chapter 4.

6.2.3 Process to Further Investigate Platinum as a Bottom Schottky Contact

Starting with a silicon substrate with 100 nm of thermally grown oxide on the surface, two samples were prepared. Both samples were coated with approximately 100 nm of Pt. The bottom Pt layer on the second sample, Sample B, was patterned by lift-off while the bottom Pt on the first sample, Sample A, remains as a blanket film. Next, approximately 96 nm of ZTO was deposited on both by the 200°C O₃-based ZTO process developed in Section 7.4.1. The ZTO was patterned by wet-etching for device isolation for Sample B only. Then, the samples were annealed at 400°C for one hour in an air ambient with relative humidity less than 20%. Finally, top ohmic contacts were fabricated by depositing approximately 100 nm of Mo that was then patterned by lift-off.

6.3 Demonstration of the First Schottky Contact to ALD ZTO

ZTO Pd C) SiO₂ Pd Silicon Oxidized Pd ZTO Solution Processed b) SiO₂ ZTO Pd SiO₂ Silicon

a) ALD with ZTO pre-etched

Figure 6.2 a) Schematic cross section of ALD sample with ZTO etched prior to ZTO annealing. b) Schematic cross section of solution-processed sample during ZTO annealing. c) Top down microscope image of a) after annealing.

The Ag process used to create Schottky contacts to solution-processed ZTO was the first process we attempted to create Schottky contacts to ALD ZTO.[16] During the first fabrication run, we discovered an issue with the fabrication process illustrated in Figure 6.2. As-deposited ZTO etches in our wet-etchant more readily than annealed ZTO and because of this, our preferred fabrication process is to etch the ZTO before annealing (Figure 6.2a). This is different than the solution process where annealing is required before wet-etching (Figure 6.2b). As a result of these

differences, the bottom Pd, in some areas, was exposed to air during the ALD ZTO anneal, which would not be exposed during the ZTO solution process. The Pd that was exposed to air readily oxidized and no longer provided a metallic contact. To correct for this issue, we switched the order of process steps to anneal the ALD ZTO before wet-etching.



Figure 6.3 On the left, we see the back of a sample with ZTO deposited on the back from the conformal vapor-phase ALD process. On the right, we see the back of a different sample after photoresist developing where the ZTO that was exposed to the developer was etched.

After correcting the issue of oxygen exposure of Pd during the ALD ZTO anneal, a second fabrication issue was discovered. The typical photolithography process we use calls for a 30-second single pass of AZ-726 developer after exposing the photoresist. However, we found that the AZ-726 developer readily etches our ZTO films, as illustrated in Figure 6.3. As a result, the photolithography process used to pattern the top electrode may cause a short between the top and bottom electrodes anywhere the developer etched the ZTO film and the metals overlap vertically. To mitigate this, we found that developing with a 15-second pass was sufficient and did not cause a short the top and bottom metal electrodes.



Figure 6.4 a) *I-V* curve of a circular diode with 110 µm diameter. The bias was applied to the top Ag contact. b) Top-down microscope image of MESFET fabricated using ALD ZTO. c) Top-down microscope image of MESFET fabricated using solution-processed ZTO reprinted with permission from [16]. Notice, the Pd overlapping ZTO in b) and c) both show obvious reactions with the ZTO.

Finally, with the fabrication issues resolved, we could fabricate devices with bottom Pd and top Ag contacts. In [16], the bottom Pd acts an ohmic contact to the ZTO while the top Ag acts a Schottky contact. To test these devices, assuming the Ag would form a Schottky contact, we biased the Ag electrode and measured the I-V shown in Figure 6.4a. If the Ag was a Schottky contact, we contact, we would expect to see low off-current for reverse bias (negative V) and higher on-current for forward bias (positive V). Instead, we see the opposite where off-current is measured in forward

bias and on-current is measured in reverse bias. With the device operating with rectification in the opposite V direction than we expected for a Ag Schottky contact, this indicates the Ag may have formed an ohmic contact while the bottom Pd formed a Schottky contact.

We hypothesize that the evaporated Ag contact to solution-processed ZTO in [16] formed a Schottky contact because the Ag reacted with the ZTO at the interface to form a AgO_x interfacial layer via out-diffusion of oxygen from the ZTO film. AgO_x has a workfunction of > 5.0 eV, which is higher than the 4.3 eV workfunction of Ag.[185], [186]. We hypothesize the higher workfunction interfacial AgO_x layer is needed to create a Schottky contact to ZTO. If AgO_x was not created at the junction with our ALD ZTO films, the result is an ohmic, rather than Schottky, behavior. Later in this section, we will attempt to directly deposit AgO_x to form a top Schottky contact.

Pd, on the other hand, appears to form a Schottky contact, rather than the expected ohmic contact. Previous work with bottom Pd intentionally oxidized the metal using O₂-plasma before ZTO deposition and then annealed the ZTO showing the oxidized Pd could act as a Schottky contact when the PdO_x reduced to Pd by filling oxygen vacancies in ZTO.[182] Here, our ALD ZTO has a lower concentration of oxygen vacancies than the solution-processed ZTO films, as shown in Chapter 2. As a result of a lower concentration of oxygen vacancies, the Pd may form a Schottky contact to ALD ZTO without the need to first oxidize the Pd to form PdO_x. In Section 6.4, we investigate whether oxidizing Pd before ZTO deposition and annealing will result in a higher rectification magnitude.



Figure 6.5 SEM image taken at a 45° angle showing the AgO_x film thickness after sputtering a Ag target for 1000 seconds at 100 W DC, 5 mTorr, and 9% O_2 .

As the Ag Schottky contact to solution processed ZTO appears to depend on the formation of AgO_x at the interface, and we hypothesize we do not have an AgO_x interfacial layer with our ALD ZTO, we attempted to directly deposit AgO_x at the interface using reactive sputtering. To do this, we first characterized the deposition rate of AgO_x by measuring film thickness after sputtering an Ag target for 1,000 seconds at 100 W DC, 5 mTorr, and 9% O₂ by taking an SEM image at a 45° angle. The SEM image can be seen in Figure 6.5 and the average calculated film thickness is approximately 470 nm, leading to a deposition rate of about 0.47 nm sec⁻¹. For the device contacts, we targeted a 40 nm AgO_x interface layer followed by a 60 nm Ag capping layer. As the deposition rate varies with O₂ partial pressure, we estimated the sputtering times in Table 6.2.

Table 6.2 Summary of sputtering parameters used.

O ₂ %	DC Sputtering Power [W]	Pressure [mTorr]	Reactive AgO _X Sputtering Time [sec]	Ag Sputtering Time [sec]
4.75	100	5	80	128
9	100	5	85	128
13	100	5	90	128



Figure 6.6 a) Schematic cross section of lateral co-planar Schottky diode. b) Representative *I-V* curves for diodes created using the sputtering parameters listed in Table 6.2. c) ideality factor, e) barrier height, and f) rectification magnitude extracted from *I-V* curves. The black error bars indicate standard deviation based on analysis of five to six measured devices.

The fabricated devices have a cross section as shown schematically in Figure 6.6a, with co-planar Mo ohmic contacts and AgO_x Schottky contacts. By measuring diodes with Schottky contacts formed using the sputtering parameters listed in Table 6.2, we report the first intentional Schottky contact to ALD ZTO, Figure 6.6. We can extract the saturation current density, J_s , ideality factory, n, and series resistance, R_s , by fitting the forward bias current density, J, equation

$$J = J_{\rm s} \left\{ \exp\left[\frac{q(V - JAR_{\rm s})}{nk_{\rm B}T}\right] - 1 \right\}$$
(6.3)

where V is the applied bias, T is the temperature (300 K for all measurements here), $k_{\rm B}$ is the Boltzmann's constant, A is the area of the device, and q is the charge of an electron. The extracted ideality factor is shown in Figure 6.6c and generally decreases with increased O₂ partial pressure as the Schottky contact improves also leading to an increase in rectification magnitude Figure 6.6c.

This result further illustrates the importance of having AgO_x at the surface, rather than Ag, to achieve a Schottky contact. The effective Schottky barrier height, $\Phi_{B,IV}$, can be extracted by the thermionic emission model given by

$$J_{\rm s} = A^* \times T^2 \exp\left(\frac{-q\Phi_{B,\rm IV}}{k_{\rm B}T}\right) \tag{6.4}$$

where A^* is the Richardson constant taken to be 41 A cm⁻².[182], [187] The extracted $\Phi_{B,IV}$ is about 0.68 eV which is what is expected from the work function of AgO_x (>5.0 eV) and the electron affinity of ZTO (4.35-4.60 eV). While this is a first step in creating devices based on Schottky contacts, there are issues with these devices.

First, ungated devices that have a lateral channel, as shown in Figure 6.6a, can suffer from a large series-resistance, minimizing the rectification magnitude. The lateral ungated portion acts like the offset region studied in Section 3.3.2. Without accumulation the ungated portion has high resistivity, reducing the forward current. Some groups have reduced this series resistance by minimizing the lateral dimension between contacts to approximately 15 nm using wafer-scale adhesion lithography.[188] Another option is to create a V-TFD where the separation between electrodes becomes the thickness of the semiconducting thin-film. As we already have Mo as an ohmic top contact to our ALD ZTO, we investigate other potential materials for a bottom Schottky contact to ALD ZTO in Section 6.4 to form a V-TFD.

6.4 Screening of Several Metals for Bottom Contact Behavior to ALD ZTO

In Section 6.3 we fabricated and briefly characterized a lateral Schottky diode and discovered the device performance is limited by the lateral distances between the coplanar Schottky and ohmic contacts. One way we to overcome the limitations of the lateral structure is to move to a V-TFD architecture, requiring Schottky and ohmic contacts to be placed on opposite

planes (above and below) the ZTO thin-film. As we already have Mo as a top ohmic contact and Pd, which has acted as an bottom ohmic contact with other ZTO films,[16] did not create an ohmic contact to our ALD ZTO film in Section 6.3, but rather a Schottky contact, we will investigate other potential metals as bottom Schottky contacts to ALD ZTO in this section. Table 6.3 is a brief summary of previous works using bottom metals or metal oxides to create a bottom Schottky contact to AOS thin-films. From this list, we can see that PtO_x, PdO_x, and Pt have all been shown to create a bottom Schottky contact to AOS thin-films with an ideality factor less than 1.36 and a rectification magnitude greater than 6.38. In this section, we will study PtO_x, PdO_x, and Pt as a bottom Schottky contact to ALD ZTO because of their previous success with other AOS thin-films. Additionally, we will study Pd to try to recreate the results in Section 6.3 and Ag and AgO_x because we know from Section 6.3 that AgO_x forms a top Schottky contact to our ALD ZTO.

Process Temp.	AOS Deposition Process	AOS Material	Schottky Metal	Ideality Factor	Rectification Magnitude	Reference
520°C	Solution-process	ZTO	MoOx	>3	3.00	[189]
RT	Sputter	IGZO	Pt	21	3.00	[190]
520°C	Solution-process	ZTO	PdO _x	1.9	3.70	[182]
300°C	Sputter	IGZO	Au	1.29	4.00	[191]
RT	Sputter	IGZO	PtO _x	1.36	6.38	[192]
RT	Sputter	IGZO	PdOx	1.22	6.86	[193]
RT	Sputter	IGZO	PdO _x	1.51	7.00	[194]
200°C	PLD	IGZO	Pt	1.04	8.00	[195]

Table 6.3 A brief summary of the properties of bottom Schottky contacts to AOS thin-films.


Figure 6.7 Left column: samples where Ag was not intentionally oxidized before further processing. Right column: samples with intentionally oxidized Ag. a) and b) show photographs of 2.5 x 2.5 cm samples after ZTO deposition. c) and d) show top-down microscope images of finished samples.

All of the as-deposited metals looked metallic before further processing, with the Pd and Pt based bottom layers remaining metallic in appearance throughout the entire process. The Ag based bottom layers, on the other hand, do not keep a metallic appearance with further processing. Figure 6.7b, shows the Ag sample that was intentionally oxidized through O₂-plasma exposure is no longer metallic immediately after O₂-plasma exposure, while Figure 6.7a shows the Ag sample that was not exposed to O₂-plasma becomes at least partially oxidized by the ALD ZTO and annealing processes. The resulting devices, Figure 6.7c and Figure 6.7d, show rough surfaces and unexpected ZTO and Mo interactions due to silver's low oxidation potential.[196] From this, we

conclude that using Ag for a bottom contact is unstable, at best, and therefore unsuitable for a bottom contact to ALD ZTO. Other materials with higher oxidation potentials should be investigated.



Figure 6.8 Representative *I-V* curves for diodes created with bottom Pd a) without intentional oxidation b) with intentional oxidation. Inset in b) shows layer of PdO_x that had to be scratched off to probe the electrode.

The *I-V* curves for devices fabricated using Pd based contacts are shown in Figure 6.8. As found in Section 6.3, the Pd bottom contact without intentional oxidation forms a Schottky contact to the ALD ZTO (Figure 6.8a). Here, we also test intentionally oxidized Pd on the premise that the oxidized Pd will out-diffuse oxygen to the ZTO and fill oxygen vacancies to form a better Schottky contact.[182] We find, however, that intentional oxidation of the Pd results in an increased reverse current and similar forward current, therefore decreasing the rectification magnitude. Furthermore, there is a possible reaction between the intentionally oxidized Pd and the ZTO during the ZTO processing that results in a surface layer on the PdO_x electrode, also seen in Figure 6.4, that cannot be etched by our ZTO wet-etchant. It had to be scratched through to probe the electrode (Figure

6.8b inset). Ideally, we would use a bottom metal that could withstand the air exposure during the ZTO anneal without oxidation in the probing areas.



Figure 6.9 a) Representative *I-V* curves for diodes created with bottom Pd without intentional oxidation after passivation. Note: the top Mo is biased for this figure rather than the bottom electrode. b) Top-down schematic showing the different V-TFD architectures.

The edges of our ALD ZTO films often demonstrate different characteristics than the bulk films which may result from defects at the edges caused by damage introduced during the fabrication process.[197] Such defects can result in lower resistivity films, increasing the reverse leakage of our V-TFDs. To passivate these defects and avoid possible surface conduction, the sample without intentional Pd oxidation was encapsulated with 30 nm of Al₂O₃ using the O₃ process from Chapter 4. After passivation, the resulting *I-V* curves (Figure 6.9a) are significantly different than the pre-passivation curves (Figure 6.8a). The main difference is that the Mo contact now acts as a Schottky contact for the rectangular and circular architecture V-TFDs.

In Section 5.3, we saw that passivation increases the interfacial contact resistance between Mo and ALD ZTO. We attributed the changes to diffusion of defects at the interface during the ALD process. While that may also be happening here, resulting in changes in the contacts, there is an additional change resulting in differences between the circular/rectangular and crossbar structures. The top-down schematic illustrations of the three different architectures used here, shown in Figure 6.9b, illustrate that the probing area, where the Al₂O₃ is etched to make contact to the top metal, overlaps with the ZTO only for the circular and rectangular structures and is therefore exposed to both the ALD process and the Al₂O₃ etchant. Whereas for the cross bar structure, the Mo/ZTO contact is only exposed to the ALD process. The combination of passivation and etching Al₂O₃ to contact Mo on-top of ZTO somehow results in a Mo Schottky contact for the circular and rectangular structures. While these devices exhibit the highest rectification magnitude we have seen thus far, the mechanism is not well understood and may be unstable or unrepeatable.



Figure 6.10 a) Representative *I-V* curves for diodes created with bottom Pt without intentional oxidation. b) SEM image of cross-bar diode.

Finally, we look at the devices fabricated with bottom Pt contacts. Representative I-V curves for rectangular, circular, and cross bar diodes are shown in Figure 6.10a. The diodes

fabricated using both the rectangular and circular structures result in an apparent short between the bottom and top metals. As these samples were annealed before ZTO wet-etching, the ZTO required long wet-etches for isolation. As seen by the SEM image in Figure 6.10b, it appears that ZTO on Pt etches faster than the ZTO on the glass substrate. As a result, the ZTO on the rectangular and circular architectures, which is completely on top of Pt and may etch isotropically, may have over-etched during these long wet-etches, causing a direct contact between the top and bottom metals. As the ZTO is only over Pt in one small area for the cross bar structure, in an area that is far away from the Mo contact, the two electrodes in the cross bar structures are not shorted together and can be measured. The cross bar devices result in the highest rectification magnitude measured in this section, but still suffer from high reverse current. One of the sources of high reverse current may be from edge conduction that would be minimized with the circular and rectangular architectures. As Pt has a very high oxidation potential, we will investigate etching the ZTO before annealing in Section 6.5 to fabricate the circular and rectangular devices.

6.5 Platinum as a Bottom Schottky Contact to ALD ZTO

In Section 6.4, we successfully fabricated crossbar diodes using Pt as a bottom Schottky contact. There were, however, issues with the circular and rectangular diode architectures because of apparent over-etching of ZTO deposited on Pt. In this section, we reverse the order of the ZTO etching and annealing to etch the ZTO before annealing so the ZTO has a more uniform etch rate, eliminating the over etching of ZTO on Pt. While in Section 6.3, we saw that Pd exposed to air during the annealing process oxidized, the Pt does not have that issue because of the high oxidation potential of Pt.



Figure 6.11 Representative a) *I*-*V* and b) *J*-*V* curves for diodes as a function of device area in μm^2 . b) inset: *J*-*V* curves corrected for the voltage dropped across the series resistance. c) ideality factor, d) barrier height, and e) rectification magnitude extracted from *I*-*V* curves. The black error bars indicate standard deviation based on analysis of five to six measured devices.

The *I-V* and *J-V* curves for Sample B, where the bottom Pt and ZTO were etched for device isolation, are shown in Figure 6.11a and Figure 6.11b, respectively. While the forward current increases with device area (Figure 6.11a), the forward current density does not scale properly with area (Figure 6.11b). When current-density does not scale properly with device area, it is usually due to series resistance.[182] The series resistance can be separated into two components. The first component scales with area and is due to the resistivity of the ZTO and any contact resistance while the second component does not scale with area and can be caused from parasitic resistance of the measurement setup or from the resistance of the bottom Pt metal. By assuming the non-

scaling resistance is negligible for the device with an area of 706 μ m, it is calculated as 13.6 Ω and is corrected for in the inset of Figure 6.11b which shows good agreement between devices with different areas. The difference in rectification magnitude shown in Figure 6.11e is also attributed to this series resistance. The barrier height shown in Figure 6.11d is lower than expected considering the work function of Pt (5.12-5.93 eV)[196] and the electron affinity of ZTO (4.35-4.6 eV)[198], [199]. The high reverse current that increases with increasing reverse bias and high ideality factor, Figure 6.11c, may be caused by parallel current paths.[200] Possible parallel current paths could be from the semiconductor surface or edges that exhibit different proprieties than the bulk ZTO. To minimize those sources of parallel current, we next study Sample A where blanket ZTO and Pt films are used.



Figure 6.12 Representative a) *I-V* and b) *J-V* curves for diodes as a function of device area in μ m². c) ideality factor, d) barrier height, and e) rectification magnitude extracted from *I-V* curves. The black error bars indicate standard deviation based on analysis of five to six measured devices. Reverse current densities extracted at *V* = -1 V for f) Sample A and g) Sample B.

The *I-V* and *J-V* curves for Sample A, where the bottom Pt and ZTO were not patterned,

are shown in Figure 6.11a and Figure 6.11b, respectively. By not patterning the bottom Pd or ZTO,

we decreased the reverse current density by about an order of magnitude (Figure 6.12f) compared to Sample B (Figure 6.12g). With the forward current remaining at the same magnitude, the one order of magnitude decrease in reverse current directly yields an order of magnitude increase in the rectification magnitude (Figure 6.12e). The decrease in reverse current is a result of minimizing sources of parallel current, possibly the semiconductor surface and/or edges. The extracted barrier height (Figure 6.12d) is also closer to what we would expect for Pt and ZTO. In addition, the ideality factor (Figure 6.12c) is approximately half of what it was for Sample B.

As there is still a voltage-dependent reverse current and high ideality factor, there may be persistent sources of parasitic parallel current. To further minimize surface conduction, a future study could explore passivating the surface using the process developed in Chapter 4. The photolithography process used could also be impacting the ZTO film as we saw in Section 6.3, where the photoresist developer was found to etch the ZTO film. A future study could use a shadow mask to deposit the top metal contact and rule out photolithography as a source of damage to the ZTO thin-films.

6.6 Conclusions and future work

6.6.1 Conclusions

The goal of this chapter was to characterize the ability of different metals and metal oxides to form a Schottky contact to ALD ZTO to create Schottky diodes and enable MESFETs for integrated circuits using unipolar devices. First, we fabricated devices using bottom Pd and top Ag contacts that were shown to create ohmic and Schottky contacts, respectively, to solutionprocessed ZTO. For ALD ZTO, however, the Pd acted as a Schottky contact while the Ag acted as ohmic contact. The formation of ohmic contacts using Pd requires a high-density of oxygen vacancies in the ZTO thin-film which, as we showed in Chapter 2, the ALD ZTO films do not have and therefore a Schottky contact is formed. While the formation of a Schottky contact to solution-processed ZTO using Ag resulted from the oxidation of Ag leading to a higher work function oxide, here, we hypothesize that the surface of the ALD ZTO was not favorable for oxidation of Ag at the interface, leading to an ohmic contact.

Since the formation of AgO_x at the interface between ZTO and the Schottky contact appears to be critical to the formation of a rectifying contact, we directly deposited AgO_x using reactive sputtering. With AgO_x at the interface between Ag and ALD ZTO, intentional rectifying contacts were demonstrated for the first time. The diodes, however, have a low rectification magnitude caused by the lateral device architecture used. To remove the limitations of a lateral structure, we move to a vertical structure which requires the creation of a bottom Schottky contact.

To find a suitable bottom Schottky contact to ALD ZTO, we screened several metals and metal oxides. Silver-based contacts, which we showed can create a Schottky contact to the top of ALD ZTO, are too unstable to be deposited before ZTO processing because of the low oxidation potential of silver. Palladium can be used to create a Schottky contact to ALD ZTO, but further work is needed to decrease the reverse current. Palladium oxide, on the other hand, leads to an undesirable interfacial layer between the PdO_x and ZTO. Finally, platinum was tested and formed a Schottky contact to ALD ZTO.

Of all the materials tested (Ag, AgO_x , Pd, PdO_x , and Pt), we further studied platinum because its high oxidation potential may form a stable Schottky contact. First, we showed that the forward current of large-area devices is limited by non-scaling parasitic series resistance. Then, we minimized the impact of parallel current paths by creating devices with blanket Pt and ZTO films. The devices fabricated using these blanket films show an order of magnitude increase in rectification magnitude caused by an order of magnitude decrease of parasitic parallel current. These devices still exhibit high reverse current that increase with increasing reverse bias and ideality factors greater than two. More work is required to fabricate high-performance Schottky-based devices.

6.6.2 Outstanding Scientific Questions and Future Work

This work raised several scientific questions:

1) Chemically and structurally, is the ZTO deposited for the thick layers used for V-TFDs identical to the thin layers deposited for MISFETs in previous chapters? The ellipsometry data of the thicker film did not fit our thickness model from our thinner films, possibly indicating changes in film composition or optical absorption. If the film is changing with thickness, this may change the band structure and how contacts are formed to the material. The same material analysis we performed in Chapter 2 could be performed on these thicker films to compare.

2) Chemically and structurally, is the ZTO deposited on different materials the same as the ZTO used for MISFETs in previous chapters? In this chapter, we saw that the ZTO deposited on Pt etches differently the ZTO on other parts of the sample. The same was seen for ZTO deposited on glass compared to ZTO deposited on Si/SiO₂ substrates. The same material analysis we performed in Chapter 2 could be performed on films grown on different substrates for comparison. If differences are found, they could result from differences in the surface[201] or the thermal profile of the substrate.

3) Can a passivation layer be deposited before top metallization to minimize edge and surface conduction? Many of the devices fabricated in this chapter show reverse current that increases with reverse bias and ideality factors greater than two, which are both evidence of parasitic parallel current sources. The surface and the edge of ZTO surfaces are potential sources of parasitic parallel current and can be passivated by depositing an encapsulation layer. While we

tried that in this chapter, there were unwanted changes in the ohmic contact caused by the process. By changing the fabrication process, i.e. depositing the passivation layer before ohmic contact deposition, the ohmic contacts would not be exposed to the passivation process that changes their characteristics.

4) Throughout this chapter we refer to metals that have been treated with O_2 plasma or deposited by reactive sputtering as oxidized because of previous works that have shown these processes oxidize the metals. In the future, chemical analysis, e.g. XPS, TEM, etc., could be performed to confirm the oxidation of the treated and reactively-sputtered metals.

Chapter 7 Scalable Precision Customizable Thin-film Electronics

7.1 Introduction

An increasing demand for customizable manufacturing, driven by increasingly specific end-user requirements, has motivated the development of processes to fabricate scalable, precise, and customizable thin-film electronics.[202], [203] While advances in photolithographic patterning have enabled the state-of-the-art 5 and 7 nm node ICs with ultra-low defect density, the multiple lithographic patterning steps required makes customizing the process to meet unique run requirements costly and inefficient.[1], [56] Additive manufacturing, building up layer-by-layer, can be tuned on-the-fly to allow for scalable, precise, and customizable thin-film electronics.

Not all additive microfabrication processes are created equal and there is often a tradeoff between spatial resolution, throughput, cost, and material compatibility. While there are current printing techniques that can print in the nanoscale, they are limited to certain materials that meet the strict ink requirements. Other patterning techniques, such as scanning-probe-microscopy-based techniques, can pattern with sub 10 nm resolution but are limited by cost and high process times.[204] Another patterning technique, direct laser writing using two-photon polymerization, can pattern polymers with sub-micron precision but requires expensive laser equipment and is limited to photoactive polymers.[205], [206]

Direct printing techniques, such as inkjet printing, are less expensive, are compatible with a wider range of inks, and are faster processes.[207], [208] Traditional direct ink-jet printing is limited to critical device dimensions of greater than 20 μ m.[57] Some research groups have studied using other ways to use ink-jet printing, without direct printing of the critical dimension, to achieve

dimensions of about 3.5 μ m.[58] Therefore, a challenge with additive microfabrication is that there is no technique that is best for high resolution, low cost, and high process speeds.

Electrohydrodynamic jet (e-jet) printing, an additive printing technique where an electric field is used to pull ink out of a conductive nozzle, is being studied to overcome this challenge because of its low cost, material compatibility, high process speeds, and sub-micron precision.[57] While e-jet printing has demonstrated resolution down to \sim 30 nm,[61] devices fabricated by e-jet have not broken into sub-µm resolution.[63], [209], [210] In addition to device dimensions greater than 1 µm, direct printing requires semiconductor deposited using a solution-process. As shown in Table 7.1, the direct printing of solution-processed thin-films generally require high temperature annealing for even moderate performance making the process incompatible with most flexible substrates. Therefore, we look to use our ALD-based AOS process to fabricate customizable high-performance devices.

Material	Printing Technique	Annealing Condition	μ _{FE} [cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹]	Reference
IGO	Inkjet	450°C	7.5	[211]
IGO	Inkjet	600°C	5.5	[212]
IGZO	Inkjet	200°C + Laser 400°C	1.5 1.6	[213]
IGZO	Inkjet	300°C	3-4	[214]
IGZO	Inkjet	400°C	2.45	[215]
IGZO	E-jet	400°C	1.3	[210]
InO	Inkjet	-	12.5	[216]
InO	Inkjet	150°C + DUV	1	[217]
InO	Inkjet	225°C	13.7	[218]
InO	Inkjet	250°C	10	[219]
InO	Inkjet	300°C	4.9	[58]
InO	Inkjet	350°C + UV Ozone	9.9	[220]
InO	Aerosol Jet	400°C	3.4	[221]
InO	E-jet	250°C	5-7.7	[222]
IZO	Inkjet	600°C	7.4	[223]
IZO	E-jet	500°C	3.7	[209]
IZTO	Inkjet	600°C	30	[224]
ZnO	Inkjet	150°C	3	[225]
ZnO	Inkjet	200°C	15-20	[226]
ZnO	Inkjet	150°C 300°C	0.4 4-6	[227]
ZnO	Aerosol Jet	250°C	1.61	[228]
ZnO	Aerosol Jet	300°C	1.9	[229]
ZTO	Inkjet	500°C	0.58	[230]
ZTO	Inkjet	500°C	5	[231]
ZTO	E-jet	500°C	9.8	[63]

Table 7.1 Summary of TFTs with direct printed semiconductor channel. Adapted with permission from [57].

As we discussed in Chapter 2, ALD is a conformal process that generally results in uniform coverage of a substrate surface and additional steps are required for patterning. Area-selective ALD (AS-ALD) has been studied to selectively grow ALD films resulting in patterned ALD films as-deposited. Growth is selectively inhibited by partially covering the surface with a self-assembled monolayer (SAM) or polymer. The AS-ALD patterns have been formed using a variety of direct printing techniques from electron-beam induced deposition to self-assembly of templates. Previous studies have combined AS-ALD and ink-jet printing to fabricate customizable ZnO devices.[65] After some process optimization, the ZnO devices fabricated using ink-jet printing and AS-ALD exhibit mobility approaching 20 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹.[67] As we stated above, however, the use of ink-jet printing confines device scaling to ~20 μ m without special tricks to push the resolution. Furthermore, there have been no demonstrations of AS-ALD of ZTO for TFTs.

In this chapter, we combine e-jet patterning of inhibitor polymers and ALD of thin-films, including transparent conducting oxides, semiconductors, and insulators, to fabricate a bottomgate top-contact ZTO TFT. This work required development of the process to fabricate devices using e-jet patterning and AS-ALD with understanding of the physical and electrical properties of ALD deposited materials, the interfaces between the materials, and how the manufacturing process impacts device performance. Once the first device was realized, we then investigate the limitations to device performance and propose improvements. In the future, this process could enable customizable processing on a variety of substrates, including flexible and non-planar substrates.

7.2 Experimental Section

7.2.1 Atomic Layer Deposition and Electrohydrodynamic Jet Patterning

The custom-built ALD tool introduced in Chapter 2 was used to deposit AZO, Al₂O₃, and ZTO thin-films at a temperature range of 100-170°C. A 130°C thermal ZTO process was used as

developed in Chapter 2. The Al_2O_3 process used dimethylaluminum isopropoxide (DMAI) and H_2O as the precursors. A 15:1 Zn:Al ratio was used for the AZO film. More information about the ALD processes can be found in [232].

The e-jet system used was custom-made by the Barton Research Group at the University of Michigan.[61] The e-jet printing nozzles of size 5 and 10 µm were formed from pulled-glass and were coated in 5 nm gold to make them conductive. After gold coating, they were coated in a hydrophobic solution to prevent wetting of the nozzle body. The polyvinyl-pyrrolidone (PVP) was additively printed using 10 wt % PVP dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). For subtractive printing, we start with a poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) coated sample that was coated by spin-coating a 950 MW 2% anisole- PMMA solution at 4000 rpm for 45 s and then baking at 180°C for 10 s. N-Methyl-2-pyrrolidone (NMP) was e-jet printed as the solvent for PMMA. Before the subtractive e-jet printing processing, the PMMA coated sample was exposed to UV O₃ for 20 min to improve solubility in NMP. Following subtractive printing, a 30 s O₂ plasma exposure at 100 W, 66 sccm O₂, 47 sccm Ar, and 50°C was performed to remove any residual PMMA in the printed regions. More information about the e-jet process can be found in [232].

7.2.2 Thin-film Transistor Fabrication and Electrical Measurements

ZTO was deposited for the channel layer and was subjected to a 1 hour 500°C postdeposition anneal before top AZO deposition, in ambient air with relative humidity less than 20%. Electrical measurements were taken in the dark at room temperature in ambient air using an HP4155A semiconductor parameter analyzer. The data were taken with continuous voltage sweeps from negative to positive V_{GS} and short integration.

7.3 Developing the E-jet and AS-ALD Process to Fabricate the First E-jet Patterned AS-ALD

Deposited TFT



Figure 7.1 Process flow for TFT fabrication with subtractive and additive e-jet printing. Using substrative e-jet printing a), the ZTO pattern was first defined b). After PMMA removal and ZTO annealing, c) PVP was additively printed on top of the gate insulator (SiO₂) and ZTO film to isolate and define the channel between the source and drain using AZO contacts d). After selective deposition of AZO e), PVP was removed. The final device is schematically illustrated in f). Reprinted with permission from [232]. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

The additive and subtractive e-jet/AS-ALD techniques developed in [232] can be combined to enable additive manufacturing of 3D architectures with deterministic control of geometry. To demonstrate fabrication of 3D metal oxide structures by a combination of subtractive and additive techniques, we developed the process shown in Figure 7.1 to fabricate a bottom-gate top-contact ZTO TFT. First, ZTO, the device active layer, was patterned on a n⁺ heavily doped Si substrate with 100 nm thermal oxide using subtractive e-jet printing of a solvent on spin-coated PMMA. After removal of the ZTO inhibitor polymer, the ZTO film was annealed at 500°C to improve its transport properties as discussed in Chapter 2. Finally, AZO, a transparent conducting oxide that will act as the source/drain contact electrode material, was patterned on top of the ZTO film using additive e-jet printing of PVP.



Figure 7.2 a) Illustration of TFT structure. In this first generation of e-jet/AS-ALD printed TFTs, device isolation is achieved by ensuring that the AZO source and drain contacts are separate from other AZO regions on the sample, and are the only AZO feature to contact the ZTO island. b) Transfer characteristics (I_D - V_{GS}) of a 5-µm channel length device with V_{DS} = 1 V. c) Top-down SEM image of a device with a 4-µm long channel with corresponding AES mapping of d) Sn and e) Zn. f) Cross-sectional scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) image of a 4-µm channel device after selective AZO deposition using additive PVP printing. Reprinted with permission from [232]. Copyright 2020 American Chemical Society.

The final device structure is illustrated in Figure 7.2a. Electrical measurements of the first

TFTs fabricated using e-jet and AS-ALD show that the devices are well-behaved (Figure 7.2b), with 0 V turn-on, on current > 1 μ A, and an on/off current ratio > 10⁵. The devices have a minimum channel length of approximately 5 μ m, 1 order of magnitude smaller than what has been achieved previously for inkjet printed inhibitors for AS-ALD.[67], [233] Thus, these devices demonstrate the ability to leverage the improved resolution of e-jet printing.



Figure 7.3 Field effect mobility as a function of anneal temperature for several ALD processes and deposition temperatures. From [234].

In Chapter 2, we achieved electron mobility > 22 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ for TFTs fabricated with ALD ZTO using traditional photolithography methods. To successfully fabricate the e-jet and AS-ALD device in this initial demonstration, the ZTO ALD deposition temperature was reduced to 130°C and thermal ALD was used, in order to maintain compatibility with the inhibitor polymers used here. As shown by Figure 7.3, reducing the temperature and using a thermal process results in lower ZTO mobilities which, at least partially, contributes to a reduced mobility of approximately $0.12 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ seen here. In the next section, we will explore the limitations of device performance by optimizing the e-jet and AS-ALD processes to increase ZTO mobility and by studying the impact of the contacts on device.

7.4 Exploring Performance Limitations of the First E-jet/AS-ALD Device

7.4.1 The ALD ZTO Film

As discussed at the end of Section 7.3, compatibility with the polymeric inhibitors used for the AS-ALD process we developed required a lower performance ALD ZTO thin-film process. To

be compatible with the polymers, the ALD process must not remove the polymers and selective growth must be observed. Our highest performance films, as seen in Figure 7.3, use a hybrid process at 200°C. This process, however, is not compatible with the AS-ALD process we developed because the PE-ALD portions of the process can remove the polymeric inhibitors. The next option is to use a high temperature (\sim 200°C) thermal (H₂O) process, but that process is not compatible either because at high deposition temperatures, the thermal process no longer exhibits selective growth. In this section, we develop and characterize a fourth ALD ZTO process to enable AS-ALD of higher performance ALD ZTO thin-films.

In Chapter 4, we studied ozone as an ALD oxidant for passivation processes because it minimized the change in device performance compared to H_2O and O_2 -plasma based processes. Ozone has additional benefits of generally providing higher growth rates, film density, and purity because it has a higher oxidation protentional compared to H_2O .[235]–[237] We found in Chapter 2 that a higher density film corresponded with a higher performance ZTO film and because ozone results in higher density films compared to H_2O , we next develop an O_3 -based ZTO process.



Figure 7.4 a) Transfer characteristics ($I_{\rm D}$ - $V_{\rm GS}$) of O₃-based ALD ZTO TFTs deposited at 200°C with $c_{\rm Sn}$ = 21% as a function of post-deposition anneal temperature. b) Field effect mobility as a function of anneal temperature, extracted from 27 V < $V_{\rm GS}$ < 30 V for several of the ALD ZTO processes we have developed. Error bars indicate standard deviation from measurement of at least five different transistors for each condition.

After tuning in the c_{Sn} to 21%, the TFTs annealed at 500°C fabricated using the O₃-based ALD process exhibit a μ_{FE} of 15.9 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, an SS of 0.25 V dec⁻¹, and a turn-on voltage near 0 V (Figure 7.4a and Table 7.2). Comparing this to the other 200°C processes, Figure 7.4b and Table 7.2, we see that when annealed at 500°C the O₃-based films underperform the μ_{FE} of the hybrid process, but is comparable with the thermal process. As the O₃-based process is also compatible with our AS-ALD process and the films outperform other compatible films, we have achieved our goal of finding a process compatible with inhibition that also yields good mobility. Furthermore, we beat the previous record μ_{FE} , 13.6 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, for O₃-based ALD ZTO while using a lower temperature process.[201] In the next section, we begin to integrate the O₃-based ALD process with the e-jet/AS-ALD process.

ALD Type (Deposition Temperature)	Post-Deposition Anneal Temperature	μ _{FE} [cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹]	SS [V dec ⁻¹]	V _{ON} [V]
Thermal (150°C)	As-deposited	9.90 × 10 ⁻⁴	2.2	7.4
Thermal (150°C)	500°C	5.44	0.57	0.54
Ozone (200°C)	As-deposited	8.16	0.36	0.20
Ozone (200°C)	500°C	15.9	0.26	-0.05
Thermal (200°C)	As-deposited	9.56 × 10 ⁻⁵	4.6	23
Thermal (200°C)	500°C	17.5	0.30	1.8
Hybrid (200°C)	As-deposited	13.8	0.43	4.6
Hybrid (200°C)	500°C	22.0	0.28	-0.78

Table 7.2 Comparison of O₃-based ALD ZTO performance with some of our other ALD ZTO processes

7.4.2 Ohmic Contacts to ALD ZTO



Figure 7.5 Transfer characteristics (I_D - V_{GS}) plotted on the left *y*-axis for devices with 200°C O₃-based ZTO patterned by photolithography and annealed at 500°C with a) sputtered Mo, b) ALD AZO, or c) ALD SnO₂ top source and drain contacts patterned by e-jet. Extracted field-effect mobility is plotted using the open circles on the right *y*-axis. Total width-normalized resistance of the same TFTs with d) sputtered Mo, e) ALD AZO, or f) ALD SnO₂ top source and drain contacts patterned by e-jet.

Now that we have developed a high-performance ALD ZTO process that is compatible with our AS-ALD process, we investigate the impact of contact resistance on our devices. To do this, we deposited ZTO using the 200°C ozone process developed in Section 7.4.1, patterned it using photolithography, annealed it at 500°C, and then used e-jet to pattern top source and drain contacts using sputtered Mo, ALD AZO, or ALD SnO₂. After the devices were fabricated, we measured transfer characteristics at 1 V V_{DS} and extracted μ_{FE} (Figure 7.5a-c). In Figure 7.5a-c, we can see that initially the extracted μ_{FE} increases with V_{GS} but then peaks and rolls off as V_{GS} increases. To explain these mobility roll-offs, we must consider the impact of contact resistance on our extraction of μ_{FE} .

Typically, we consider ohmic contacts to be perfect with no contact resistance resulting in the applied V_{DS} being identical to the voltage across the channel. In reality, contact resistance is non-zero and will reduce the voltage across the channel by I_DR_C . As I_D increases with increasing V_{GS} , the voltage dropped across the contacts, I_DR_C , also increases. Once the voltage drop across the contacts becomes a non-negligible percent of V_{DS} , the effective mobility begins to roll-off as seen in Figure 7.5a-c. How much the effective mobility rolls-off, and at what I_D the roll-off occurs, depends on the value of R_C . The worse the contact resistance, the more roll-off and the lower the peak mobility.



Figure 7.6 Output characteristics (*I*_D-*V*_{DS}) of e-jet/AS-ALD AZO contact TFTs.

Now that we know that contact resistance limits our devices because of the observed rolloff in mobility, we quantify it using transmission line method.[106], [238] First we measure output characteristics as shown in Figure 7.6. The inverse slope of the output curve in the linear region gives the total resistance by

$$R_{\rm Tot} = \frac{V_{\rm DS}}{I_{\rm D}} \approx \frac{R_{\rm sh}}{W} (L + 2L_{\rm T})$$
(7.1)

where $R_{\rm sh}$ is the sheet resistance of the ZTO and $L_{\rm T}$, or the transfer length, is the distance over which most of the current transfers between the semiconductor and metal.[106] By plotting the width normalized total resistance, $R_{\rm Total}W$, as a function of channel length, as shown in Figure 7.5df, we can extract the width normalized contact resistance, $R_{\rm C}W$, as the *y*-axis intercept when L = 0µm.



Figure 7.7 a) Width-normalized contact resistance of ZTO TFTs as a function of V_{GS} . The cyan curve shows sputtered Mo patterned by photolithography while the magenta curve shows Mo patterned by e-jet. As there is no significant change between the two patterning techniques, we conclude that the e-jet process is not limiting performance. b) Approximate band diagram of the AZO/ZTO interface, adapted with permission from [55], [239], [240].

By plotting the width-normalized contact resistance versus V_{GS} in Figure 7.7a, we see that the ALD AZO contacts show a dependence on V_{GS} and about a 40x increase in contact resistance value, compared to the sputtered Mo contacts. We sketch the band diagram for the AZO heterojunction with ALD ZTO in Figure 7.7b. The band diagram shows a barrier between the AZO and ZTO of about 0.9 eV which may cause the V_{GS} dependence: as V_{GS} increases, the bands will bend, decreasing the barrier. Finally, we calculate specific contact resistance, ρ_{C} , of the films to be approximately 1 Ω cm² for AZO and 30 $\mu\Omega$ cm² for Mo. The AZO specific contact resistance is five orders of magnitude greater than that of Mo. The transfer length, $L_{\rm T}$, is approximately 53 and 0.30 μ m for ALD AZO and sputtered Mo, respectively, and represents the minimum effective channel length for each contact material (*L* must be >> 2 $L_{\rm T}$ in order for channel resistance to dominate).[106] As channel length scaling is required for high-speed performance, the e-jet/AS-ALD contacts to ZTO must be improved.

There are a several material options to make source and drain contacts to ALD ZTO. First, contacts can be directly printed using e-jet.[241], [242] E-jet patterned materials, as discussed in Section 7.1, are generally lower quality than ALD films and thus do not outperform the AZO process we have developed. The next option is to look at materials that can be deposited and patterned by AS-ALD. One possible metallic choice is copper,[243] but Cu has also been shown to cause significant mobility roll-off with channel length scaling.[244] Another material, SnO₂, has been shown to be suitable as a transparent conducting oxide, but has not been studied as a contact material to ALD ZTO.[245] To see if we can make a high-quality SnO₂ conductor, we deposited SnO₂ using a 200°C O₃-based ALD process. The deposited film had resistivity of $5.92 \pm 1.8 \text{ m}\Omega$ cm, about an order of magnitude higher than previous results.[246]

We then applied the SnO₂ film as a top contact material and we measured the transfer curves shown in Figure 7.5c. Of the three contacts studied, the SnO₂ performs the worst with the highest *SS* and lowest μ_{FE} . The low-performance may be caused by the contact resistance that quickly increases below 30 V V_{GS} (Figure 7.7a). The increase in R_C with decreasing V_{GS} may indicate the SnO₂ is semiconducting and the *SS* captures the turn-on of the SnO₂ rather than the ZTO film. Further studies to improve SnO₂ contacts could investigate increased deposition temperatures or contact anneals.[246]

7.5 Towards an All E-jet/AS-ALD Device

In Section 7.3, the fabricated devices used bottom Si and SiO₂ as common gate and gate insulator, respectively. Common gated devices cannot be switched individually to be used in a circuit. To create separated gate devices, we must first develop a process that uses e-jet and AS-ALD to pattern all layers of the device, or an all e-jet/AS-ALD device. The first step in doing this is designing a process that works for the gate and gate insulator. As we already have an e-jet/AS-ALD process for AZO, we can use that for the gate electrode. The AZO process requires alumina cycles and can be patterned by e-jet/AS-ALD so we will use alumina for the gate insulator.



Figure 7.8 Transfer characteristics (I_D - V_{GS}) of devices with ALD AZO gate and Al₂O₃ gate insulator. The forward *I*-*V* curves are indicated by the solid lines and the reverse curves are indicated by the dashed lines. Gate leakage current is indicated by the blue line.

To check material and process compatibility, we fabricate devices with blanket gate and gate insulator layers. First, we deposit an *in situ* stack of 40 nm AZO, 30 nm Al₂O₃, and 10 nm of ZTO using a 200°C thermal process. The ZTO is then wet-etched for device isolation and the sample is then annealed at 500°C. Next, the Al₂O₃ is wet-etched to allow probing of the bottom AZO. Finally, approximately 100 nm of Mo is sputtered and patterned by liftoff to form the source and drain electrodes. Transfer characteristics are shown in Figure 7.8 and the devices have a V_t of 1.44 V, an SS of 0.213 V dec⁻¹ and a ΔV_C of 0.325 V. While we have demonstrated material and

process compatibility for an all ALD device, future work is needed to pattern each layer by e-jet and AS-ALD.

7.6 Conclusions and Future Work

7.6.1 Conclusions

In this chapter we developed a process to additively manufacture TFTs using electrohydrodynamic jet patterning of inhibitor polymers and area-selective ALD. The first demonstrated device using this process has a channel length of 5 μ m, an order of magnitude smaller than what has been achieved with inkjet patterning and AS-ALD, and are well-behaved with a V_{on} of 0 V, I_{on} greater than 1 μ A, and an on/off current ratio > 10⁵. Effective mobility, on the other hand, was much lower for the e-jet/AS-ALD device than the photolithographically patterned devices in Chapter 2. We identified two sources of performance limitation. The first is the low temperature thermal ALD process required for compatibility with the polymeric inhibitors and the second is high contact resistance between ALD ZTO and the AZO used for source and drain contacts.

To improve the performance of the ZTO layer, we developed a fourth ALD ZTO process using O₃ as the oxidant. TFTs fabricated with the O₃-based ALD ZTO film have good mobility > $15 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$. With a high-performance ALD ZTO film compatible with our AS-ALD process, we then looked at looked at the material choices for contacts to ALD ZTO. One option we investigated was ALD SnO₂ that shows promising film resistivity but requires future work to improve the performance as a contact material. Finally, to enable a separated gate device with all e-jet/AS-ALD layers, we demonstrated process and material compatibly of using ALD AZO and Al₂O₃ as the bottom gate and gate insulator. This chapter presents significant advancements in achieving customizable manufacturing of thin-film electronics based on ALD ZTO.

7.6.2 Outstanding Scientific Questions and Future Work

This work raised several outstanding scientific questions:

1) Can ALD materials be used to form a high-quality ohmic contact to ALD ZTO? In Section 7.4.2 we deposited SnO_2 with O_3 -based ALD that showed promising resistivity, but future work is required to improve performance a contact material to ALD ZTO. Questions remain on the band alignment and interfacial reactions between the ZTO and SnO_2 . The high-performance of our sputtered Mo contact is dependent on energetic ion bombardment creating defects that make the region heavily doped. Future work could investigate if the plasma processes of many ALD tools could be used *in situ* to create heavily doped regions in the ZTO, similar to the ion bombardment, before depositing the contact materials.

2) While each process necessary to fabricate a fully e-jet/AS-ALD TFT with separated gate has been demonstrated in this chapter, future work is required to combine all those processes to demonstrate devices.

3) Can a buffer layer between the gate insulator and ZTO be applied to improve the *SS*? In Section 2.6 we demonstrated *SS* approaching the Boltzmann limit using an *in situ* gate insulator. An *in situ* gate insulator may not be possible with our current e-jet/AS-ALD process because each layer is patterned separately during its deposition. Previous work has shown a buffer layer, a thin layer of the gate insulator material, deposited right before the semiconductor can improve device performance.[67] A similar buffer layer could be deposited after the e-jet patterning and *in situ* before the ZTO deposition possibly leading to near Boltzmann *SS*.

4) Can these devices be scaled to the sub-micron precision of e-jet? The goal of using e-jet patterning is to scale device dimensions to increase the cut-off frequency f_T , where f_T is inversely proportional to square of the device length as shown in Equation (7.2).[247]

$$f_T = \frac{\mu V_{DS}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{L^2}$$
(7.2)

As the device length approaches sub-micron, there are undesirable short channel effects. In particular, for AOS devices, source and drain contact resistance will impact device performance with decreased channel lengths. The contact resistance, $R_{\rm C}$, is controlled by the metal/semiconductor barrier height, $\phi_{\rm MS}$, and the semiconductor doping, $N_{\rm D}$, as shown in Equation (7.3).

$$R_{C} = \exp\left[\frac{2\sqrt{\varepsilon_{s}m^{*}}}{h}\left(\frac{\phi_{MS}}{\sqrt{N_{D}}}\right)\right]$$
(7.3)

In addition to $R_{\rm C}$, the overlap between the gate and source/drain electrodes, $L_{\rm OV}$, will impact the overlap capacitance, $C_{\rm OV}$, which also limits $f_{\rm T}$. Therefore, in addition to contact resistance, the frequency limit must be studied in terms of both $R_{\rm C}$ and $C_{\rm OV}$ as well as any other short channel effects while building up the capability to manufacture these devices using e-jet printing and AS-ALD.

Chapter 8 Conclusion and Future Work

8.1 Contributions to date

This thesis enables scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics for beyond-display applications, in particular for 3D monolithic integration and customizable thin-film electronics, through advancements in AOS devices, materials, and processes. The main contributions of this thesis are summarized as follows:

- 1. Three ALD ZTO processes were developed and characterized leading to as-deposited semiconducting behavior with μ_{FE} as high as 13.8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and record mobility of greater than 20 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ when annealed at BEOL compatible temperatures. As demonstrated in Chapter 2, the high-performance films were achieved through aggressive process optimization leading to high-density films with a low concentration of oxygen vacancies. After developing the high-performance semiconductor, we then fabricated devices with an *in situ* gate insulator resulting in a low density of interface defects and an excellent *SS* of 60 mV dec⁻¹, very close to the Boltzmann limit and better than other BEOL compatible TFT demonstrations. Together, this work enables high-performance TFTs compatible with 3D monolithic on low-voltage CMOS.
- 2. To exploit the advantages of the wide bandgap of AOS thin-films, we developed high-voltage thin-film transistors in Chapter 3. First Silvaco Atlas simulations were used to understand the impact of device architecture on breakdown voltage and on-resistance. Then, to validate the understanding, we fabricated and measured devices with specific gate-drain offset lengths. Encapsulated devices showed normal on/off current ratios and breakdown voltages above 100 V were demonstrated. Using a simple gate/drain offset structure, the breakdown voltage

saturated while the on-resistance continued to increase with increasing offset length. Finally, Silvaco Atlas modeling was used to design a future optimized device architecture using both offsets and field plates to co-optimize breakdown voltage and on-resistance. The ability to deposit AOS materials directly to fabricate HVTFTs on Si ICs adds new functionality as an HV interface to aggressively scaled low-voltage ($V_{DD} < 1 \text{ V}$) Si CMOS.

- 3. The encapsulation layer used in the Chapter 3 degraded the transfer characteristics and shifted the turn-on voltage to negative values. In Chapter 4 we investigated the impact of film thickness and ambient environment on TFT characteristics. Using our ZTO solution-process, we show that varying the solution molarity and number of spin-coated layers can be used to reduce ZTO film thickness to 6 nm with resulting device characteristics only dependent on the final film thickness. Thinner-films show better performance and under vacuum the hysteresis was reduced from 12.65 V to -0.05 V due to desorption of molecules at the back channel without re-adsorption. By implementing an O₃-based ALD Al₂O₃ passivation layer, surface interactions were blocked leading to normal TFT behavior with a hysteresis of 0.85 V and minimal performance degradation.
- 4. With the ambient instability solved in Chapter 4, we studied the temporal and bias stress stability of devices in Chapter 5. Devices exhibit slight changes within the first 25 days of aging, followed by excellent temporal stability for up to > 178 days. The positive bias stress instability, found to be predominately caused by interactions with ambient molecules in samples without passivation, is significantly reduced for sample with passivation. Passivation, however, causes and increase in contact resistance, *SS*, and NBIS instability which are explained by changes in the molybdenum ohmic contacts and defects at the interface between

the passivation layer and ZTO. By understanding and improving the stability of AOS TFTs, this works move towards adoption of these films for beyond-display technologies.

- 5. Through reactive sputtering of AgO_x on the top surface of ALD ZTO, we demonstrate the first Schottky contact to ALD ZTO in Chapter 6. With both the Schottky contact and ohmic contact deposited on the same plane, these first devices suffer from the series resistance challenges of a lateral structure. To move towards a vertical thin-film diode, we studied several materials as bottom contacts to ALD ZTO. Silver-based contacts were eliminated because of instabilities caused by its low oxidation potential. Pallidum and platinum may be promising as bottom Schottky contacts, but further work is required to remove surface and edge conduction as possible sources of parallel parasitic current.
- 6. We fabricated the first TFTs using a novel additive manufacturing technique by developing the design rules for using electrohydrodynamic jet printing and area-selective ALD to fabricate functional devices in Chapter 7. The first devices fabricated with this process have channel lengths of approximately 5 μ m, an order of magnitude smaller than what has been achieved through ink-jet and AS-ALD, with reasonable device behavior. The main limiters to device performance were identified as the low-performance ALD ZTO layer and the contact resistance of ALD ohmic contacts. To improve the performance of the ALD ZTO layer, we develop a fourth ALD ZTO process using O₃ as the oxidant that is compatible with our AS-ALD process and has a good μ_{FE} greater than 15 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. Finally, we demonstrate process and material compatibility for fabrication of separated gate devices with all layers deposited and patterned by e-jet and AS-ALD. This work demonstrates the ability to approach sub-µm pattering using customizable scalable additive manufacturing.

8.2 Future Work

The development of high-performance ALD ZTO films compatible with the additive manufacturing process developed in this thesis are great advancements in enabling customizable scalable manufacturing of thin-film electronics. Future studies can improve the performance of the additively manufactured devices to enable high-frequency thin-film electronics. The following future work, summarized in Figure 8.2, can improve performance and answer some of the scientific questions raised by this thesis.

- 1. Tuning of the Chemical States of Interfaces: In this thesis, oxygen plasma and ozone were used as oxidants to create high-quality ALD films. There are challenges, however, forming Schottky contacts and ALD-based ohmic contacts to the ALD AOS film. In both cases, the AOS film interface properties are important for the contact performance. For example, a high concentration of oxygen vacancies is necessary for ohmic contacts and a low concentration of oxygen vacancies is necessary for Schottky contacts.[78], [182] By incorporating *in situ* oxidation and/or reduction, through ozone and/or O₂/H₂ plasma treatment, at these interfaces, the chemical states may be tuned to promote formation of high quality ohmic or Schottky contacts (Figure 8.2).[163] This work would require more precise understanding of how these states impact the contact electrical behavior. This knowledge could then be used to tune the nanomanufacturing platform we have developed in this thesis.
- 2. Grading of Ternary Materials for Passivation and Stability: The work performed in this thesis achieved high-quality films with homogenous multi-component alloy films. To realize complex device geometry, it is necessary to create three-dimensional heterogeneity. ALD is uniquely able to deposit layers with graded chemical composition at the atomic-scale. Previous

work using ALD to create a composition gradient channel of aluminum-doped zinc oxide (AZO) by varying the amount of aluminum was performed to create high-performance, stable devices.[248] In that work, when the gradient direction was properly engineered, the energy bands were advantageously bent by the gradient to simultaneously achieve good mobility and back-channel passivation. These devices were limited to mobilities no greater than 4.5 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ because aluminum is an impurity in ZnO causing increased electron scattering. The mobility of the ZTO deposited using the processes we have developed in this thesis is much higher than that of AZO, and published work on the material properties of ALD deposited ZTO has shown varying the tin composition fraction varies the bandgap of the film.[49], [50], [55] As such, using a gradient of ZTO, varying the tin composition fraction, may align the bands in a way to create an *in situ* back-channel passivation layer, without sacrificing device performance (Figure 8.1).



Figure 8.1 Schematic illustration showing advantageous band bending caused by grading tin composition to form *in situ* back channel passivation.

4. Grading and Alloying of Ternary Materials for Contacts: A second application of engineered gradients is for minimizing ohmic contact resistance, which enables high-quality, dense interconnects between integrated system components. Our first-generation devices additively manufactured using e-jet and AS-ALD in Chapter 7 showed performance that was not as good as that of our traditionally-fabricated devices (Chapter 2). We identified the reasons
for the performance degradation in Section 7.4. One major reason is the low-quality ohmic contact created between the transparent conducting oxide (AZO) and the semiconductor (ZTO). The electrodes have a high contact resistance, so that voltage is dropped across the contact instead of across the transistor channel, leading to lower on-current. In traditional fabrication processes, graded or alloyed contacts have successfully been used to improve contact quality. [249], [250] Improving ohmic contacts may be possible by exploiting ALD to grade the ZTO and/or AZO near their interface *in situ* without the need for the high temperature processes that are normally required to drive alloying.



Figure 8.2 Schematic illustration of the proposed future work. 1) Tuning of chemical states or interfaces using oxidation/reduction. 2) More fully exploiting the capabilities of ALD to form alloys and/or graded layers to improve performance past vertically homogenous films by creating low resistance ohmic contacts, back channel passivation, and high Schottky barrier contacts. These key technologies present new challenges that will require further development of processes and control rules to guide selective-area growth.

Bibliography

- T. Hiramoto, "Five nanometre CMOS technology," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 2, no. 12, pp. 557–558, Dec. 2019, DOI: 10.1038/s41928-019-0343-x.
- [2] C. A. Mack, "Fifty Years of Moore's Law," IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 202–207, May 2011, DOI: 10.1109/TSM.2010.2096437.
- [3] S. Salahuddin, K. Ni, and S. Datta, "The era of hyper-scaling in electronics," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 1, no. 8, pp. 442–450, Aug. 2018, DOI: 10.1038/s41928-018-0117-x.
- [4] K. Kaneko, N. Inoue, S. Saito, N. Furutake, and Y. Hayashi, "A novel BEOL transistor (BETr) with InGaZnO embedded in Cu-interconnects for on-chip high voltage I/Os in standard CMOS LSIs," in VLSI Technology (VLSIT), 2011 Symposium on, 2011, pp. 120–121.
- [5] R. R. Tummala, "Moore's Law Meets Its Match," *IEEE Spectrum*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 44–49, Jun. 2006, DOI: 10.1109/MSPEC.2006.1638044.
- [6] G. Katti, A. Merc, J. Van Olmen, C. Huyghebaert, A. Jourdain, M. Stucchi, M. Rakowski, I. Debusschere, P. Soussan, W. Dehaene, K. De Meyer, Y. Travaly, E. Beyne, S. Biesemans, and B. Swinnen, "3D stacked ICs using Cu TSVs and Die to Wafer Hybrid Collective bonding," in 2009 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), Baltimore, MD, USA, 2009, pp. 1–4.
- [7] C.-T. Ko and K.-N. Chen, "Wafer-level bonding/stacking technology for 3D integration," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 481–488, Apr. 2010, DOI: 10.1016/j.microrel.2009.09.015.
- [8] P. Batude, C. Fenouillet-Beranger, L. Pasini, V. Lu, F. Deprat, L. Brunet, B. Sklenard, F. Piegas-Luce, M. Casse, B. Mathieu, O. Billoint, G. Cibrario, O. Turkyilmaz, H. Sarhan, S. Thuries, L. Hutin, S. Sollier, J. Widiez, L. Hortemel, C. Tabone, M.-P. Samson, B. Previtali, N. Rambal, F. Ponthenier, J. Mazurier, R. Beneyton, M. Bidaud, E. Josse, E. Petitprez, O. Rozeau, M. Rivoire, C. Euvard-Colnat, A. Seignard, F. Fournel, L. Benaissa, P. Coudrain, P. Leduc, J.-M. Hartmann, P. Besson, S. Kerdiles, C. Bout, F. Nemouchi, A. Royer, C. Agraffeil, G. Ghibaudo, T. Signamarcheix, M. Haond, F. Clermidy, O. Faynot, and M. Vinet, "3DVLSI with CoolCube process: An alternative path to scaling," in *2015 Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSI Technology)*, Kyoto, Japan, 2015, pp. T48–T49.
- [9] P. S. Peercy, "The drive to miniaturization," *Nature*, vol. 406, no. 6799, pp. 1023–1026, Aug. 2000, DOI: 10.1038/35023223.
- [10] C.-C. Yang, J.-M. Shieh, T.-Y. Hsieh, W.-H. Huang, H.-H. Wang, C.-H. Shen, F.-K. Hsueh, P.-Y. Hsieh, M.-C. Wu, and W.-K. Yeh, "Footprint-efficient and power-saving monolithic IoT 3D⁺IC constructed by BEOL-compatible sub-10nm high aspect ratio (AR>7) singlegrained Si FinFETs with record high I_{on} of 0.38 mA/μm and steep-swing of 65 mV/dec. and I_{on}/I_{off} ratio of 8," in 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), San Francisco, CA, USA, 2016, p. 9.1.1-9.1.4.
- [11] K. Usuda, Y. Kamata, Y. Kamimuta, T. Mori, M. Koike, and T. Tezuka, "High-performance tri-gate poly-Ge junction-less p- and n-MOSFETs fabricated by flash lamp annealing

process," in 2014 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting, San Francisco, CA, USA, 2014, p. 16.6.1-16.6.4.

- [12] M. M. Shulaker, T. F. Wu, A. Pal, L. Zhao, Y. Nishi, K. Saraswat, H.-S. P. Wong, and S. Mitra, "Monolithic 3D integration of logic and memory: Carbon nanotube FETs, resistive RAM, and silicon FETs," in 2014 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting, San Francisco, CA, USA, 2014, p. 27.4.1-27.4.4.
- [13] A. B. Sachid, M. Tosun, S. B. Desai, C.-Y. Hsu, D.-H. Lien, S. R. Madhvapathy, Y.-Z. Chen, M. Hettick, J. S. Kang, Y. Zeng, J.-H. He, E. Y. Chang, Y.-L. Chueh, A. Javey, and C. Hu, "Monolithic 3D CMOS Using Layered Semiconductors," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 28, no. 13, pp. 2547–2554, Apr. 2016, DOI: 10.1002/adma.201505113.
- [14] T. Onuki, W. Uesugi, A. Isobe, Y. Ando, S. Okamoto, K. Kato, T. R. Yew, J. Y. Wu, C. C. Shuai, S. H. Wu, J. Myers, K. Doppler, M. Fujita, and S. Yamazaki, "Embedded Memory and ARM Cortex-M0 Core Using 60-nm C-Axis Aligned Crystalline Indium–Gallium–Zinc Oxide FET Integrated With 65-nm Si CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 925–932, Apr. 2017, DOI: 10.1109/JSSC.2016.2632303.
- [15] H. Sunamura, N. Inoue, N. Furutake, S. Saito, M. Narihiro, M. Hane, and Y. Hayashi, "Enhanced drivability of high-V_{bd} dual-oxide-based complementary BEOL-FETs for compact on-chip pre-driver applications," in 2014 Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSI-Technology): Digest of Technical Papers, Honolulu, HI, USA, 2014, pp. 1–2.
- [16] Y. Son, B. Frost, Y. Zhao, and R. L. Peterson, "Monolithic integration of high-voltage thinfilm electronics on low-voltage integrated circuits using a solution process," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 2, no. 11, pp. 540–548, Nov. 2019, DOI: 10.1038/s41928-019-0316-0.
- [17] A. M. Hussain and M. M. Hussain, "CMOS-Technology-Enabled Flexible and Stretchable Electronics for Internet of Everything Applications," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 28, no. 22, pp. 4219–4249, Jun. 2016, DOI: 10.1002/adma.201504236.
- [18] B. Kumar, B. K. Kaushik, and Y. S. Negi, "Organic Thin Film Transistors: Structures, Models, Materials, Fabrication, and Applications: A Review," *Polymer Reviews*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 33–111, Jan. 2014, DOI: 10.1080/15583724.2013.848455.
- [19] K. Nomura, H. Ohta, A. Takagi, T. Kamiya, M. Hirano, and H. Hosono, "Room-temperature fabrication of transparent flexible thin-film transistors using amorphous oxide semiconductors," *Nature*, vol. 432, no. 7016, pp. 488–492, Nov. 2004, DOI: 10.1038/nature03090.
- [20] H. Hosono, "Transparent amorphous oxide semiconductors: Materials design, electronic structure, and device applications," in 2017 75th Annual Device Research Conference (DRC), 2017, pp. 1–2.
- [21] P. Schlupp, F.-L. Schein, H. von Wenckstern, and M. Grundmann, "All amorphous oxide bipolar heterojunction diodes from abundant metals," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 1, no. 1–2, p. 1400023, Feb. 2015, DOI: 10.1002/aelm.201400023.
- [22] E. Nakamura and K. Sato, "Managing the scarcity of chemical elements," *Nature Materials*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 158–161, Mar. 2011, DOI: 10.1038/nmat2969.
- [23] C. Kim, N.-H. Lee, Y.-K. Kwon, and B. Kang, "Effects of film thickness and Sn concentration on electrical properties of solution-processed zinc tin oxide thin film transistors," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 544, pp. 129–133, Oct. 2013, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2013.04.051.

- [24] H. Frenzel, A. Lajn, and M. Grundmann, "One decade of fully transparent oxide thin-film transistors: fabrication, performance and stability," *physica status solidi (RRL) – Rapid Research Letters*, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 605–615, Sep. 2013, DOI: 10.1002/pssr.201307259.
- [25] S. Weng, R. Chen, W. Zhong, S. Deng, G. Li, F. S. Y. Yeung, L. Lan, Z. Chen, and H. Kwok, "High-Performance Amorphous Zinc–Tin–Oxide Thin-Film Transistors With Low Tin Concentration," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 7, pp. 632–637, 2019, DOI: 10.1109/JEDS.2019.2919424.
- [26] O. Lahr, Z. Zhang, F. Grotjahn, P. Schlupp, S. Vogt, H. von Wenckstern, A. Thiede, and M. Grundmann, "Full-Swing, High-Gain Inverters Based on ZnSnO JFETs and MESFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 3376–3381, Aug. 2019, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2019.2922696.
- [27] O. Lahr, S. Vogt, H. von Wenckstern, and M. Grundmann, "Low-Voltage Operation of Ring Oscillators Based on Room-Temperature-Deposited Amorphous Zinc-Tin-Oxide Channel MESFETs," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, p. 1900548, Sep. 2019, DOI: 10.1002/aelm.201900548.
- [28] B. D. Ahn, D. Choi, C. Choi, and J.-S. Park, "The effect of the annealing temperature on the transition from conductor to semiconductor behavior in zinc tin oxide deposited atomic layer deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 105, no. 9, p. 092103, Sep. 2014, DOI: 10.1063/1.4895102.
- [29] J. Heo, S. Bok Kim, and R. G. Gordon, "Atomic layer deposited zinc tin oxide channel for amorphous oxide thin film transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 101, no. 11, p. 113507, Sep. 2012, DOI: 10.1063/1.4752727.
- [30] C. R. Allemang and R. L. Peterson, "Passivation of Thin Channel Zinc Tin Oxide TFTs Using Al₂O₃ Deposited by O₃-Based Atomic Layer Deposition," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 1120–1123, Jul. 2019, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2019.2914238.
- [31] C. Allemang and R. L. Peterson, "Increased blocking voltage in solution processed ZTO HVTFTs through drain offset," in 2017 75th Annual Device Research Conference (DRC), South Bend, IN, 2017, vol. 2017, pp. 1–2.
- [32] T. Minami, "Present status of transparent conducting oxide thin-film development for Indium-Tin-Oxide (ITO) substitutes," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 516, no. 17, pp. 5822–5828, Jul. 2008, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2007.10.063.
- [33] J. S. Park, W.-J. Maeng, H.-S. Kim, and J.-S. Park, "Review of recent developments in amorphous oxide semiconductor thin-film transistor devices," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 520, no. 6, pp. 1679–1693, Jan. 2012, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2011.07.018.
- [34] K. Hoshino, B. Yeh, and J. F. Wager, "Impact of humidity on the electrical performance of amorphous oxide semiconductor thin-film transistors," *Journal of the Society for Information Display*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 310–316, 2013, DOI: 10.1002/jsid.184.
- [35] D. Severin, O. Kappertz, T. Nyberg, S. Berg, and M. Wuttig, "The effect of target aging on the structure formation of zinc oxide during reactive sputtering," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 515, no. 7–8, pp. 3554–3558, Feb. 2007, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2006.10.130.
- [36] M. G. McDowell, R. J. Sanderson, and I. G. Hill, "Combinatorial study of zinc tin oxide thinfilm transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 92, no. 1, p. 013502, 2008, DOI: 10.1063/1.2828862.
- [37] S. Bitter, P. Schlupp, H. von Wenckstern, and M. Grundmann, "Vital Role of Oxygen for the Formation of Highly Rectifying Schottky Barrier Diodes on Amorphous Zinc–Tin–Oxide

with Various Cation Compositions," *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces*, vol. 9, no. 31, pp. 26574–26581, Aug. 2017, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.7b06836.

- [38] S. S. Mao and X. Zhang, "High-Throughput Multi-Plume Pulsed-Laser Deposition for Materials Exploration and Optimization," *Engineering*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 367–371, Sep. 2015, DOI: 10.15302/J-ENG-2015065.
- [39] M. Tyunina, J. Wittborn, C. Björmander, and K. V. Rao, "Thickness distribution in pulsed laser deposited PZT films," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 2381–2384, Jul. 1998, DOI: 10.1116/1.581356.
- [40] N. P. Dasgupta, H.-B.-R. Lee, S. F. Bent, and P. S. Weiss, "Recent Advances in Atomic Layer Deposition," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 1943–1947, Apr. 2016, DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.6b00673.
- [41] J. Robertson and R. M. Wallace, "High-K materials and metal gates for CMOS applications," *Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports*, vol. 88, pp. 1–41, Feb. 2015, DOI: 10.1016/j.mser.2014.11.001.
- [42] R. W. Johnson, A. Hultqvist, and S. F. Bent, "A brief review of atomic layer deposition: from fundamentals to applications," *Materials Today*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 236–246, Jun. 2014, DOI: 10.1016/j.mattod.2014.04.026.
- [43] M. H. Cho, H. Seol, A. Song, S. Choi, Y. Song, P. S. Yun, K.-B. Chung, J. U. Bae, K.-S. Park, and J. K. Jeong, "Comparative Study on Performance of IGZO Transistors With Sputtered and Atomic Layer Deposited Channel Layer," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 1783–1788, Apr. 2019, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2019.2899586.
- [44] J. Sheng, T. Hong, H.-M. Lee, K. Kim, M. Sasase, J. Kim, H. Hosono, and J.-S. Park, "Amorphous IGZO TFT with High Mobility of ~70 cm² /(V s) via Vertical Dimension Control Using PEALD," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 11, no. 43, pp. 40300– 40309, Oct. 2019, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.9b14310.
- [45] J. Sheng, J.-H. Lee, W.-H. Choi, T. Hong, M. Kim, and J.-S. Park, "Review Article: Atomic layer deposition for oxide semiconductor thin film transistors: Advances in research and development," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A*, vol. 36, no. 6, p. 060801, Nov. 2018, DOI: 10.1116/1.5047237.
- [46] I.-H. Baek, J. J. Pyeon, S. H. Han, G.-Y. Lee, B. J. Choi, J. H. Han, T.-M. Chung, C. S. Hwang, and S. K. Kim, "High-Performance Thin-Film Transistors of Quaternary Indium-Zinc-Tin Oxide Films Grown by Atomic Layer Deposition," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 11, no. 16, pp. 14892–14901, Apr. 2019, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.9b03331.
- [47] I. M. Choi, M. J. Kim, N. On, A. Song, K.-B. Chung, H. Jeong, J. K. Park, and J. K. Jeong, "Achieving High Mobility and Excellent Stability in Amorphous In–Ga–Zn–Sn–O Thin-Film Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 1014–1020, Mar. 2020, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2020.2968592.
- [48] A. Hultqvist, C. Platzer-Björkman, U. Zimmermann, M. Edoff, and T. Törndahl, "Growth kinetics, properties, performance, and stability of atomic layer deposition Zn–Sn–O buffer layers for Cu(In,Ga)Se2 solar cells," *Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 883–891, 2012, DOI: 10.1002/pip.1153.
- [49] M. Kapilashrami, C. X. Kronawitter, T. Törndahl, J. Lindahl, A. Hultqvist, W.-C. Wang, C.-L. Chang, S. S. Mao, and J. Guo, "Soft X-ray characterization of Zn_{1-x}Sn_xO_y electronic structure for thin film photovoltaics," *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, vol. 14, no. 29, pp. 10154–10159, Jul. 2012, DOI: 10.1039/C2CP41394A.

- [50] M. N. Mullings, C. Hägglund, J. T. Tanskanen, Y. Yee, S. Geyer, and S. F. Bent, "Thin film characterization of zinc tin oxide deposited by thermal atomic layer deposition," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 556, pp. 186–194, Apr. 2014, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2014.01.068.
- [51] J. T. Tanskanen, C. Hägglund, and S. F. Bent, "Correlating Growth Characteristics in Atomic Layer Deposition with Precursor Molecular Structure: The Case of Zinc Tin Oxide," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 26, no. 9, pp. 2795–2802, May 2014, DOI: 10.1021/cm403913r.
- [52] J. Lindahl, C. Hägglund, J. T. Wätjen, M. Edoff, and T. Törndahl, "The effect of substrate temperature on atomic layer deposited zinc tin oxide," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 586, pp. 82–87, Jul. 2015, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2015.04.029.
- [53] C. Hägglund, T. Grehl, J. T. Tanskanen, Y. S. Yee, M. N. Mullings, A. J. M. Mackus, C. MacIsaac, B. M. Clemens, H. H. Brongersma, and S. F. Bent, "Growth, intermixing, and surface phase formation for zinc tin oxide nanolaminates produced by atomic layer deposition," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films*, vol. 34, no. 2, p. 021516, Mar. 2016, DOI: 10.1116/1.4941411.
- [54] A. J. M. Mackus, C. MacIsaac, W.-H. Kim, and S. F. Bent, "Incomplete elimination of precursor ligands during atomic layer deposition of zinc-oxide, tin-oxide, and zinc-tinoxide," *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, vol. 146, no. 5, p. 052802, Feb. 2017, DOI: 10.1063/1.4961459.
- [55] S. Lee, S. Kim, S. Shin, Z. Jin, and Y.-S. Min, "Band structure of amorphous zinc tin oxide thin films deposited by atomic layer deposition," *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, vol. 58, pp. 328–333, Feb. 2018, DOI: 10.1016/j.jiec.2017.09.045.
- [56] T. Song, J. Jung, W. Rim, H. Kim, Y. Kim, C. Park, J. Do, S. Park, S. Cho, H. Jung, B. Kwon, H.-S. Choi, J. Choi, and J. S. Yoon, "A 7nm FinFET SRAM using EUV lithography with dual write-driver-assist circuitry for low-voltage applications," in 2018 IEEE International Solid - State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC), San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 198–200.
- [57] F. Shao and Q. Wan, "Recent progress on jet printing of oxide-based thin film transistors," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, vol. 52, no. 14, p. 143002, Apr. 2019, DOI: 10.1088/1361-6463/aafd79.
- [58] Y. Li, L. Lan, P. Xiao, S. Sun, Z. Lin, W. Song, E. Song, P. Gao, W. Wu, and J. Peng, "Coffee-Ring Defined Short Channels for Inkjet-Printed Metal Oxide Thin-Film Transistors," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 8, no. 30, pp. 19643–19648, Aug. 2016, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.6b07204.
- [59] M. S. Onses, E. Sutanto, P. M. Ferreira, A. G. Alleyne, and J. A. Rogers, "Mechanisms, Capabilities, and Applications of High-Resolution Electrohydrodynamic Jet Printing," *Small*, vol. 11, no. 34, pp. 4237–4266, Sep. 2015, DOI: 10.1002/smll.201500593.
- [60] J.-U. Park, M. Hardy, S. J. Kang, K. Barton, K. Adair, D. kishore Mukhopadhyay, C. Y. Lee, M. S. Strano, A. G. Alleyne, J. G. Georgiadis, P. M. Ferreira, and J. A. Rogers, "Highresolution electrohydrodynamic jet printing," *Nature Materials*, vol. 6, no. 10, pp. 782–789, Oct. 2007, DOI: 10.1038/nmat1974.
- [61] C. P. Pannier, L. Ojeda, Z. Wang, D. Hoelzle, and K. Barton, "An electrohydrodynamic jet printer with integrated metrology," *Mechatronics*, vol. 56, pp. 268–276, Dec. 2018, DOI: 10.1016/j.mechatronics.2018.01.001.
- [62] Y.-J. Kwack and W.-S. Choi, "Electrohydrodynamic Jet Spraying Technique for Oxide Thin-Film Transistor," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 78–80, Jan. 2013, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2012.2226557.

- [63] Y. G. Lee and W.-S. Choi, "Electrohydrodynamic Jet-Printed Zinc–Tin Oxide TFTs and Their Bias Stability," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 6, no. 14, pp. 11167–11172, Jul. 2014, DOI: 10.1021/am5009826.
- [64] W.-S. Choi, "Electrical Properties of a ZTO Thin-Film Transistor Prepared with Near-Field Electrohydrodynamic Jet Spraying," *Electronic Materials Letters*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 171– 178, Mar. 2019, DOI: 10.1007/s13391-018-00105-8.
- [65] C. R. Ellinger and S. F. Nelson, "Selective Area Spatial Atomic Layer Deposition of ZnO, Al 2 O 3, and Aluminum-Doped ZnO Using Poly(vinyl pyrrolidone)," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 1514–1522, Feb. 2014, DOI: 10.1021/cm402464z.
- [66] A. J. M. Mackus, M. J. M. Merkx, and W. M. M. Kessels, "From the Bottom-Up: Toward Area-Selective Atomic Layer Deposition with High Selectivity," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 2–12, Jan. 2019, DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.8b03454.
- [67] S. F. Nelson, C. R. Ellinger, and D. H. Levy, "Improving Yield and Performance in ZnO Thin-Film Transistors Made Using Selective Area Deposition," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 2754–2759, Feb. 2015, DOI: 10.1021/am5077638.
- [68] L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, C. Vogt, H. Faber, L. Büthe, G. Cantarella, F. Bottacchi, T. D. Anthopoulos, and G. Tröster, "Metal oxide semiconductor thin-film transistors for flexible electronics," *Applied Physics Reviews*, vol. 3, no. 2, p. 021303, Jun. 2016, DOI: 10.1063/1.4953034.
- [69] S. Sedky, A. Witvrouw, H. Bender, and K. Baert, "Experimental determination of the maximum post-process annealing temperature for standard CMOS wafers," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 377–385, Feb. 2001, DOI: 10.1109/16.902741.
- [70] C. R. Allemang, T. H. Cho, O. Trejo, S. Ravan, R. E. Rodríguez, N. P. Dasgupta, and R. L. Peterson, "High-Performance Zinc Tin Oxide TFTs with Active Layers Deposited by Atomic Layer Deposition," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 6, no. 7, p. 2000195, Jun. 2020, DOI: 10.1002/aelm.202000195.
- [71] S. M. George, "Atomic Layer Deposition: An Overview," *Chemical Reviews*, vol. 110, no. 1, pp. 111–131, Jan. 2010, DOI: 10.1021/cr900056b.
- [72] E. Kazyak, K.-H. Chen, K. N. Wood, A. L. Davis, T. Thompson, A. R. Bielinski, A. J. Sanchez, X. Wang, C. Wang, J. Sakamoto, and N. P. Dasgupta, "Atomic Layer Deposition of the Solid Electrolyte Garnet Li₇La₃Zr₂O₁₂," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp. 3785–3792, Apr. 2017, DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.7b00944.
- [73] A. R. Bielinski, S. Lee, J. J. Brancho, S. L. Esarey, A. J. Gayle, E. Kazyak, K. Sun, B. M. Bartlett, and N. P. Dasgupta, "Atomic Layer Deposition of Bismuth Vanadate Core–Shell Nanowire Photoanodes," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 3221–3227, May 2019, DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.9b00065.
- [74] A. Daus, C. Vogt, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, S. Knobelspies, G. Cantarella, M. Luisier, G. A. Salvatore, and G. Tröster, "Charge Trapping Mechanism Leading to Sub-60-mV/decade-Swing FETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 2789–2796, Jul. 2017, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2017.2703914.
- [75] M. Si, C.-J. Su, C. Jiang, N. J. Conrad, H. Zhou, K. D. Maize, G. Qiu, C.-T. Wu, A. Shakouri, M. A. Alam, and P. D. Ye, "Steep-slope hysteresis-free negative capacitance MoS 2 transistors," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 24–28, Jan. 2018, DOI: 10.1038/s41565-017-0010-1.

- [76] N. P. Dasgupta, J. F. Mack, M. C. Langston, A. Bousetta, and F. B. Prinz, "Design of an atomic layer deposition reactor for hydrogen sulfide compatibility," *Review of Scientific Instruments*, vol. 81, no. 4, p. 044102, Apr. 2010, DOI: 10.1063/1.3384349.
- [77] Y. Son, A. Liao, and R. L. Peterson, "Effect of relative humidity and pre-annealing temperature on spin-coated zinc tin oxide films made via the metal–organic decomposition route," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 5, no. 32, pp. 8071–8081, 2017, DOI: 10.1039/C7TC02343J.
- [78] W. Hu and R. L. Peterson, "Molybdenum as a contact material in zinc tin oxide thin film transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 104, no. 19, p. 192105, May 2014, DOI: 10.1063/1.4875958.
- [79] C. R. Allemang, T. Lu, S. Ravan, T. H. Cho, Neil P. Dasgupta, and R. L. Peterson, "Steep Subthreshold Swing ALD ZTO TFTs with *in situ* Gate Insulator," in 79th Device Research Conference, accepted.
- [80] C. N. Ginestra, R. Sreenivasan, A. Karthikeyan, S. Ramanathan, and P. C. McIntyre, "Atomic Layer Deposition of Y₂O₃/ZrO₂ Nanolaminates," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. B161–B165, Jul. 2007, DOI: 10.1149/1.2759606.
- [81] A. J. M. Mackus, J. R. Schneider, C. MacIsaac, J. G. Baker, and S. F. Bent, "Synthesis of Doped, Ternary, and Quaternary Materials by Atomic Layer Deposition: A Review," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 1142–1183, Feb. 2019, DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.8b02878.
- [82] W. Hu and R. L. Peterson, "Charge transport in solution-processed zinc tin oxide thin film transistors," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 27, no. 17, pp. 2286–2292, 2012, DOI: 10.1557/jmr.2012.134.
- [83] W. M. Haynes, Ed., "Electron Work Function of the Elements," in CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 97th Edition (Internet Version 2017), Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press/Taylor & Francis, 2017.
- [84] T. Tynell and M. Karppinen, "Atomic layer deposition of ZnO: a review," Semiconductor Science and Technology, vol. 29, no. 4, p. 043001, Apr. 2014, DOI: 10.1088/0268-1242/29/4/043001.
- [85] D. L. Young, H. Moutinho, Y. Yan, and T. J. Coutts, "Growth and characterization of radio frequency magnetron sputter-deposited zinc stannate, Zn2SnO4, thin films," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 92, no. 1, pp. 310–319, Jun. 2002, DOI: 10.1063/1.1483104.
- [86] H. Q. Chiang, J. F. Wager, R. L. Hoffman, J. Jeong, and D. A. Keszler, "High mobility transparent thin-film transistors with amorphous zinc tin oxide channel layer," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 86, no. 1, p. 013503, Jan. 2005, DOI: 10.1063/1.1843286.
- [87] Y. J. Kim, S. Oh, B. S. Yang, S. J. Han, H. W. Lee, H. J. Kim, J. K. Jeong, C. S. Hwang, and H. J. Kim, "Impact of the Cation Composition on the Electrical Performance of Solution-Processed Zinc Tin Oxide Thin-Film Transistors," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 6, no. 16, pp. 14026–14036, Aug. 2014, DOI: 10.1021/am503351e.
- [88] D. Choi, W. J. Maeng, and J.-S. Park, "The conducting tin oxide thin films deposited via atomic layer deposition using tetrakis-dimethylamino tin and peroxide for transparent flexible electronics," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 313, pp. 585–590, Sep. 2014, DOI: 10.1016/j.apsusc.2014.06.027.
- [89] J. K. Jeong, H. Won Yang, J. H. Jeong, Y.-G. Mo, and H. D. Kim, "Origin of threshold voltage instability in indium-gallium-zinc oxide thin film transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 93, no. 12, p. 123508, Sep. 2008, DOI: 10.1063/1.2990657.

- [90] D. W. Greve, Field effect devices and applications : devices for portable, low-power, and imaging systems /, xiv, 379 p. : vols. Upper Saddle River, NJ : Prentice Hall, 1998.
- [91] K.-S. Son, T.-S. Kim, J.-S. Jung, M.-K. Ryu, K.-B. Park, B.-W. Yoo, K. Park, J.-Y. Kwon, S.-Y. Lee, and J.-M. Kim, "Threshold Voltage Control of Amorphous Gallium Indium Zinc Oxide TFTs by Suppressing Back-Channel Current," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, vol. 12, no. 1, p. H26, 2009, DOI: 10.1149/1.3020766.
- [92] J.-S. Kim, M.-K. Joo, M. Xing Piao, S.-E. Ahn, Y.-H. Choi, H.-K. Jang, and G.-T. Kim, "Plasma treatment effect on charge carrier concentrations and surface traps in a-InGaZnO thin-film transistors," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 115, no. 11, p. 114503, Mar. 2014, DOI: 10.1063/1.4868630.
- [93] K. K. Banger, Y. Yamashita, K. Mori, R. L. Peterson, T. Leedham, J. Rickard, and H. Sirringhaus, "Low-temperature, high-performance solution-processed metal oxide thin-film transistors formed by a 'sol-gel on chip' process," *Nature Materials*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 45–50, Jan. 2011, DOI: 10.1038/nmat2914.
- [94] S.-J. Seo, Y. H. Hwang, and B.-S. Bae, "Postannealing Process for Low Temperature Processed Sol–Gel Zinc Tin Oxide Thin Film Transistors," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, vol. 13, no. 10, p. H357, 2010, DOI: 10.1149/1.3474606.
- [95] C. Donley, D. Dunphy, D. Paine, C. Carter, K. Nebesny, P. Lee, D. Alloway, and N. R. Armstrong, "Characterization of Indium-Tin Oxide Interfaces Using X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy and Redox Processes of a Chemisorbed Probe Molecule: Effect of Surface Pretreatment Conditions," *Langmuir*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 450–457, Jan. 2002, DOI: 10.1021/la011101t.
- [96] Y. Zhao, L. Duan, G. Dong, D. Zhang, J. Qiao, L. Wang, and Y. Qiu, "High-Performance Transistors Based on Zinc Tin Oxides by Single Spin-Coating Process," *Langmuir*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 151–157, Jan. 2013, DOI: 10.1021/la304581c.
- [97] M. Fakhri, H. Johann, P. Görrn, and T. Riedl, "Water as Origin of Hysteresis in Zinc Tin Oxide Thin-Film Transistors," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 4, no. 9, pp. 4453– 4456, Sep. 2012, DOI: 10.1021/am301308y.
- [98] C. Guerra-Nuñez, M. Döbeli, J. Michler, and I. Utke, "Reaction and Growth Mechanisms in Al ₂ O ₃ deposited via Atomic Layer Deposition: Elucidating the Hydrogen Source," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 29, no. 20, pp. 8690–8703, Oct. 2017, DOI: 10.1021/acs.chemmater.7b02759.
- [99] B. Yang, S. Oh, Y. Kim, S. Han, H. Lee, H. J. Kim, S. Kim, H. Park, J. Heo, and J. K. Jeong, "The Anomalous Effect of Oxygen Ratio on the Mobility and Photobias Stability of Sputtered Zinc–Tin–Oxide Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, pp. 2071– 2077, Jun. 2014, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2014.2318055.
- [100] J. Provine, P. Schindler, Y. Kim, S. P. Walch, H. J. Kim, K.-H. Kim, and F. B. Prinz, "Correlation of film density and wet etch rate in hydrofluoric acid of plasma enhanced atomic layer deposited silicon nitride," *AIP Advances*, vol. 6, no. 6, p. 065012, Jun. 2016, DOI: 10.1063/1.4954238.
- [101] S. Y. Lee, S. Chang, and J.-S. Lee, "Role of high-k gate insulators for oxide thin film transistors," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 518, no. 11, pp. 3030–3032, Mar. 2010, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2009.09.165.
- [102] T.-J. Ha and A. Dodabalapur, "Photo stability of solution-processed low-voltage high mobility zinc-tin-oxide/ZrO2 thin-film transistors for transparent display applications," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 102, no. 12, p. 123506, Mar. 2013.

- [103] A. Kumar, S. Mondal, and K. S. R. Koteswara Rao, "Critical investigation of high performance spin-coated high-κ titania thin films based MOS capacitor," *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 5264–5270, May 2016.
- [104] E. P. Gusev, E. Cartier, D. A. Buchanan, M. Gribelyuk, M. Copel, H. Okorn-Schmidt, and C. D'Emic, "Ultrathin high-K metal oxides on silicon: processing, characterization and integration issues," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 59, no. 1–4, pp. 341–349, Nov. 2001, DOI: 10.1016/S0167-9317(01)00667-0.
- [105] Y. Song, R. Xu, J. He, S. Siontas, A. Zaslavsky, and D. C. Paine, "Top-Gated Indium-Zinc–Oxide Thin-Film Transistors With In Situ Al2O3/HfO2 Gate Oxide," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 1251–1253, Dec. 2014, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2014.2360922.
- [106] D. Schroder, "Wiley: Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization, 3rd Edition -Dieter K. Schroder." [Online]. Available: http://www.wiley.com/WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-0471739065.html. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2016].
- [107] M. R. Shijeesh, A. C. Saritha, and M. K. Jayaraj, "Investigations on the reasons for degradation of zinc tin oxide thin film transistor on exposure to air," *Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing*, vol. 74, pp. 116–121, Feb. 2018, DOI: 10.1016/j.mssp.2017.10.015.
- [108] C. Avis and J. Jang, "High-performance solution processed oxide TFT with aluminum oxide gate dielectric fabricated by a sol-gel method," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 21, no. 29, pp. 10649–10652, Jul. 2011, DOI: 10.1039/C1JM12227D.
- [109] A. Liu, Z. Guo, G. Liu, C. Zhu, H. Zhu, B. Shin, E. Fortunato, R. Martins, and F. Shan, "Redox Chloride Elimination Reaction: Facile Solution Route for Indium-Free, Low-Voltage, and High-Performance Transistors," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 3, no. 3, p. 1600513, Mar. 2017, DOI: 10.1002/aelm.201600513.
- [110] S. Samanta, U. Chand, S. Xu, K. Han, Y. Wu, C. Wang, A. Kumar, H. Velluri, Y. Li, X. Fong, A. V. Thean, and X. Gong, "Low Subthreshold Swing and High Mobility Amorphous Indium–Gallium–Zinc-Oxide Thin-Film Transistor With Thin HfO2 Gate Dielectric and Excellent Uniformity," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 856–859, Jun. 2020, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2020.2985787.
- [111] W. Cai, S. Park, J. Zhang, J. Wilson, Y. Li, Q. Xin, L. Majewski, and A. Song, "One-Volt IGZO Thin-Film Transistors With Ultra-Thin, Solution-Processed AlxOy Gate Dielectric," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 375–378, Mar. 2018, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2018.2798061.
- [112] L.-Y. Su, H.-Y. Lin, H.-K. Lin, S.-L. Wang, L.-H. Peng, and J. Huang, "Characterizations of Amorphous IGZO Thin-Film Transistors With Low Subthreshold Swing," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 1245–1247, Sep. 2011, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2011.2160931.
- [113] B. Radisavljevic, A. Radenovic, J. Brivio, V. Giacometti, and A. Kis, "Single-layer MoS2 transistors," *Nature nanotechnology*, vol. 6, pp. 147–50, Jan. 2011, DOI: 10.1038/nnano.2010.279.
- [114] X. Zou, J. Wang, C.-H. Chiu, Y. Wu, X. Xiao, C. Jiang, W.-W. Wu, L. Mai, T. Chen, J. Li, J. C. Ho, and L. Liao, "Interface Engineering for High-Performance Top-Gated MoS2 Field-Effect Transistors," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 26, no. 36, pp. 6255–6261, 2014, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201402008.

- [115] L.-C. Liu, J.-S. Chen, and J.-S. Jeng, "Ambient Constancy of Passivation-Free Ultra-Thin Zinc Tin Oxide Thin Film Transistor," *ECS Solid State Letters*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. Q59–Q62, Jan. 2015, DOI: 10.1149/2.0051512ssl.
- [116] D. A. Mourey, M. S. Burberry, D. A. Zhao, Y. V. Li, S. F. Nelson, L. Tutt, T. D. Pawlik, D. H. Levy, and T. N. Jackson, "Passivation of ZnO TFTs," *Journal of the Society for Information Display*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 753–761, Oct. 2010, DOI: 10.1889/JSID18.10.753.
- [117] Y. Wang, X. W. Sun, G. K. L. Goh, H. V. Demir, and H. Y. Yu, "Influence of Channel Layer Thickness on the Electrical Performances of Inkjet-Printed In-Ga-Zn Oxide Thin-Film Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 480–485, Feb. 2011, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2010.2091131.
- [118] R. A. Martin, V. M. D. Costa, M. Hack, and J. G. Shaw, "High-voltage amorphous silicon thin-film transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 634–644, Mar. 1993, DOI: 10.1109/16.199371.
- [119] K. Kaneko, H. Sunamura, M. Narihiro, S. Saito, N. Furutake, M. Hane, and Y. Hayashi, "Operation of functional circuit elements using BEOL-transistor with InGaZnO channel for on-chip high/low voltage bridging I/Os and high-current switches," in VLSI Technology (VLSIT), 2012 Symposium on, 2012, pp. 123–124.
- [120] Y. Gong and T. N. Jackson, "Drain-offset ZnO thin film transistors for high voltage operations," in 2016 74th Annual Device Research Conference (DRC), Newark, DE, 2016, vol. 2016, pp. 1–2.
- [121] M. Mativenga, M. H. Choi, D. H. Kang, and J. Jang, "High-Performance Drain-Offset a-IGZO Thin-Film Transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 644–646, May 2011, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2011.2119290.
- [122] J. Jeong, G. J. Lee, J. Kim, J.-H. Kim, and B. Choi, "High operating voltage application of transparent a-InGaZnO thin-film transistors," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 28, no. 2, p. 025015, 2013, DOI: 10.1088/0268-1242/28/2/025015.
- [123] W. Hu, "Yttrium and Scandium in Solution-processed Oxide Electronic Materials," PhD thesis, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, 2016.
- [124] A. Reznik, S. D. Baranovskii, O. Rubel, G. Juska, S. O. Kasap, Y. Ohkawa, K. Tanioka, and J. A. Rowlands, "Avalanche multiplication phenomenon in amorphous semiconductors: Amorphous selenium versus hydrogenated amorphous silicon," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 102, no. 5, p. 053711, 2007, DOI: 10.1063/1.2776223.
- [125] Y. Son, "Solution-processed Amorphous Oxide Semiconductors for Thin-film Power Management Circuitry," Thesis, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, 2019.
- [126] B. J. Baliga, *Modern power devices*. New York: Wiley, 1987.
- [127] J.-S. Park, J. K. Jeong, H.-J. Chung, Y.-G. Mo, and H. D. Kim, "Electronic transport properties of amorphous indium-gallium-zinc oxide semiconductor upon exposure to water," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 92, no. 7, p. 072104, Feb. 2008, DOI: 10.1063/1.2838380.
- [128] H. Xing, Y. Dora, A. Chini, S. Heikman, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "High breakdown voltage AlGaN-GaN HEMTs achieved by multiple field plates," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 161–163, Apr. 2004, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2004.824845.
- [129] W. J. Maeng, J. S. Park, H. Kim, E. S. Kim, K. S. Son, T. S. Kim, M. Ryu, and S. Lee, "The Effect of Active-Layer Thickness and Back-Channel Conductivity on the Subthreshold Transfer Characteristics of Hf–In–Zn–O TFTs," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 8, pp. 1077–1079, Aug. 2011, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2011.2156756.

- [130] E. S. Sundholm, R. E. Presley, K. Hoshino, C. C. Knutson, R. L. Hoffman, D. A. Mourey, D. A. Keszler, and J. F. Wager, "Passivation of Amorphous Oxide Semiconductors Utilizing a Zinc-Tin-Silicon-Oxide Barrier Layer," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 836–838, Jun. 2012, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2012.2191530.
- [131] K. Nomura, T. Kamiya, and H. Hosono, "Stability and high-frequency operation of amorphous In–Ga–Zn–O thin-film transistors with various passivation layers," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 520, no. 10, pp. 3778–3782, Mar. 2012, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2011.10.068.
- [132] Y. Li, Y. L. Pei, R. Q. Hu, Z. M. Chen, Y. Zhao, Z. Shen, B. F. Fan, J. Liang, and G. Wang, "Effect of channel thickness on electrical performance of amorphous IGZO thin-film transistor with atomic layer deposited alumina oxide dielectric," *Current Applied Physics*, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 941–945, Jul. 2014, DOI: 10.1016/j.cap.2014.04.011.
- [133] S. Yang, D.-H. Cho, M. K. Ryu, S.-H. K. Park, C.-S. Hwang, J. Jang, and J. K. Jeong, "High-Performance Al-Sn-Zn-In-O Thin-Film Transistors: Impact of Passivation Layer on Device Stability," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 144–146, Feb. 2010, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2009.2036944.
- [134] S.-E. Liu, M.-J. Yu, C.-Y. Lin, G.-T. Ho, C.-C. Cheng, C.-M. Lai, C.-J. Lin, Y.-C. King, and Y.-H. Yeh, "Influence of Passivation Layers on Characteristics of a-InGaZnO Thin-Film Transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 161–163, Feb. 2011, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2010.2091620.
- [135] Y. Jeong, K. Song, D. Kim, C. Y. Koo, and J. Moon, "Bias Stress Stability of Solution-Processed Zinc Tin Oxide Thin-Film Transistors," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 156, no. 11, pp. H808–H812, Nov. 2009, DOI: 10.1149/1.3212847.
- [136] P. Görrn, T. Riedl, and W. Kowalsky, "Encapsulation of Zinc Tin Oxide Based Thin Film Transistors," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, vol. 113, no. 25, pp. 11126–11130, Jun. 2009, DOI: 10.1021/jp9018487.
- [137] T. T. Nguyen, B. Aventurier, T. Terlier, J.-P. Barnes, and F. Templier, "Impact of Passivation Conditions on Characteristics of Bottom-Gate IGZO Thin-Film Transistors," *Journal of Display Technology*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 554–558, Jun. 2015, DOI: 10.1109/JDT.2015.2396476.
- [138] B. S. Yang, S. Park, S. Oh, Y. J. Kim, J. K. Jeong, C. S. Hwang, and H. J. Kim, "Improvement of the photo-bias stability of the Zn–Sn–O field effect transistors by an ozone treatment," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 22, no. 22, pp. 10994–10998, May 2012, DOI: 10.1039/C2JM30242J.
- [139] S. Ho Rha, U. Ki Kim, J. Jung, E. Suk Hwang, S. Jun Lee, W. Jeon, Y. Woo Yoo, J.-H. Choi, and C. Seong Hwang, "Variation in the threshold voltage of amorphous-In₂Ga₂ZnO₇ thin-film transistors by ultrathin Al₂O₃ passivation layer," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B*, vol. 31, no. 6, p. 061205, Oct. 2013, DOI: 10.1116/1.4827276.
- [140] X. Xu, L. Feng, S. He, Y. Jin, and X. Guo, "Solution-Processed Zinc Oxide Thin-Film Transistors With a Low-Temperature Polymer Passivation Layer," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 10, pp. 1420–1422, Oct. 2012, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2012.2210853.
- [141] D. Kim, S. Yoon, Y. Jeong, Y. Kim, B. Kim, and M. Hong, "Role of Adsorbed H₂O on Transfer Characteristics of Solution-Processed Zinc Tin Oxide Thin-Film Transistors," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 5, no. 2, p. 021101, Jan. 2012, DOI: 10.1143/APEX.5.021101.
- [142] J. Jeong and Y. Hong, "Debye Length and Active Layer Thickness-Dependent Performance Variations of Amorphous Oxide-Based TFTs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 710–714, Mar. 2012, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2011.2180908.

- [143] S. Y. Lee, D. H. Kim, E. Chong, Y. W. Jeon, and D. H. Kim, "Effect of channel thickness on density of states in amorphous InGaZnO thin film transistor," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 98, no. 12, p. 122105, Mar. 2011, DOI: 10.1063/1.3570641.
- [144] Z. Yang, J. Yang, T. Meng, M. Qu, and Q. Zhang, "Influence of channel layer thickness on the stability of amorphous indium zinc oxide thin film transistors," *Materials Letters*, vol. 166, pp. 46–50, Mar. 2016, DOI: 10.1016/j.matlet.2015.12.029.
- [145] D. C. Corsino, J. P. S. Bermundo, M. N. Fujii, K. Takahashi, Y. Ishikawa, and Y. Uraoka, "Dimethylaluminum hydride for atomic layer deposition of Al₂O₃ passivation for amorphous InGaZnO thin-film transistors," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 11, no. 6, p. 061103, Jun. 2018, DOI: 10.7567/APEX.11.061103.
- [146] S. E. Potts, G. Dingemans, C. Lachaud, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Plasma-enhanced and thermal atomic layer deposition of Al₂O₃ using dimethylaluminum isopropoxide, [Al(CH₃)₂(μ-OiPr)]₂, as an alternative aluminum precursor," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A*, vol. 30, no. 2, p. 021505, Feb. 2012, DOI: 10.1116/1.3683057.
- [147] J. C. Park and H.-N. Lee, "Improvement of the Performance and Stability of Oxide Semiconductor Thin-Film Transistors Using Double-Stacked Active Layers," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 818–820, Jun. 2012, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2012.2190036.
- [148] J. Gwang Um, M. Mativenga, P. Migliorato, and J. Jang, "Increase of interface and bulk density of states in amorphous-indium-gallium-zinc-oxide thin-film transistors with negative-bias-under-illumination-stress time," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 101, no. 11, p. 113504, Sep. 2012, DOI: 10.1063/1.4751849.
- [149] S. Y. Lee, "Comprehensive Review on Amorphous Oxide Semiconductor Thin Film Transistor," *Transactions on Electrical and Electronic Materials*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 235– 248, Jun. 2020, DOI: 10.1007/s42341-020-00197-w.
- [150] M. G. Yun, S. H. Kim, C. H. Ahn, S. W. Cho, and H. K. Cho, "Effects of channel thickness on electrical properties and stability of zinc tin oxide thin-film transistors," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, vol. 46, no. 47, p. 475106, Nov. 2013, DOI: 10.1088/0022-3727/46/47/475106.
- [151] J. F. Conley, "Instabilities in amorphous oxide semiconductor thin-film transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Device and Materials Reliability*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 460–475, Dec. 2010, DOI: 10.1109/TDMR.2010.2069561.
- [152] X. Yu, T. J. Marks, and A. Facchetti, "Metal oxides for optoelectronic applications," *Nature Materials*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 383–396, Apr. 2016, DOI: 10.1038/nmat4599.
- [153] C. R. Allemang, T. H. Cho, N. P. Dasgupta, and R. L. Peterson, "Robustness of Passivated ALD Zinc Tin Oxide TFTs to Aging and Bias Stress," *in preparation*.
- [154] M. Fakhri, N. Babin, A. Behrendt, T. Jakob, P. Görrn, and T. Riedl, "Facile Encapsulation of Oxide based Thin Film Transistors by Atomic Layer Deposition based on Ozone," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 25, no. 20, pp. 2821–2825, May 2013, DOI: 10.1002/adma.201300549.
- [155] T.-C. Fung, C.-S. Chuang, C. Chen, K. Abe, R. Cottle, M. Townsend, H. Kumomi, and J. Kanicki, "Two-dimensional numerical simulation of radio frequency sputter amorphous In–Ga–Zn–O thin-film transistors," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 106, no. 8, p. 084511, Oct. 2009, DOI: 10.1063/1.3234400.
- [156] Y. Kim, M. Bae, W. Kim, D. Kong, H. K. Jung, H. Kim, S. Kim, D. M. Kim, and D. H. Kim, "Amorphous InGaZnO Thin-Film Transistors—Part I: Complete Extraction of Density

of States Over the Full Subband-Gap Energy Range," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 10, pp. 2689–2698, Oct. 2012, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2012.2208969.

- [157] S. Lee, K. Ghaffarzadeh, A. Nathan, J. Robertson, S. Jeon, C. Kim, I.-H. Song, and U.-I. Chung, "Trap-limited and percolation conduction mechanisms in amorphous oxide semiconductor thin film transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 98, no. 20, p. 203508, May 2011, DOI: 10.1063/1.3589371.
- [158] H. Q. Chiang, B. R. McFarlane, D. Hong, R. E. Presley, and J. F. Wager, "Processing effects on the stability of amorphous indium gallium zinc oxide thin-film transistors," *Journal* of Non-Crystalline Solids, vol. 354, no. 19–25, pp. 2826–2830, May 2008, DOI: 10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2007.10.105.
- [159] Y. Song, A. Katsman, A. L. Butcher, D. C. Paine, and A. Zaslavsky, "Temporal and voltage stress stability of high performance indium-zinc-oxide thin film transistors," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 136, pp. 43–50, Oct. 2017, DOI: 10.1016/j.sse.2017.06.023.
- [160] Y. S. Chun, S. Chang, and S. Y. Lee, "Effects of gate insulators on the performance of a-IGZO TFT fabricated at room-temperature," *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 88, no. 7, pp. 1590–1593, Jul. 2011, DOI: 10.1016/j.mee.2011.01.076.
- [161] H. Im, H. Song, J. Jeong, Y. Hong, and Y. Hong, "Effects of defect creation on bidirectional behavior with hump characteristics of InGaZnO TFTs under bias and thermal stress," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 54, no. 3S, p. 03CB03, Mar. 2015, DOI: 10.7567/JJAP.54.03CB03.
- [162] B. Shin, J. R. Weber, R. D. Long, P. K. Hurley, C. G. Van de Walle, and P. C. McIntyre, "Origin and passivation of fixed charge in atomic layer deposited aluminum oxide gate insulators on chemically treated InGaAs substrates," *Applied physics letters*, vol. 96, no. 15, p. 152908, 2010.
- [163] Y.-H. Joo, J.-H. Wi, W.-J. Lee, Y.-D. Chung, D.-H. Cho, S. Kang, D.-S. Um, and C.-I. Kim, "Work Function Tuning of Zinc–Tin Oxide Thin Films Using High-Density O₂ Plasma Treatment," *Coatings*, vol. 10, no. 11, p. 1026, Oct. 2020, DOI: 10.3390/coatings10111026.
- [164] H. Yang, X. Zhou, H. Fu, B. Chang, Y. Min, H. Peng, L. Lu, and S. Zhang, "Metal Reaction-Induced Bulk-Doping Effect in Forming Conductive Source-Drain Regions of Self-Aligned Top-Gate Amorphous InGaZnO Thin-Film Transistors," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, p. acsami.0c21123, Feb. 2021, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.0c21123.
- [165] "Bias-induced oxygen adsorption in zinc tin oxide thin film transistors under dynamic stress," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 26, p. 262104, Jun. 2010, DOI: 10.1063/1.3457996.
- [166] A. Kiazadeh, H. L. Gomes, P. Barquinha, J. Martins, A. Rovisco, J. V. Pinto, R. Martins, and E. Fortunato, "Improving positive and negative bias illumination stress stability in parylene passivated IGZO transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 109, no. 5, p. 051606, Aug. 2016, DOI: 10.1063/1.4960200.
- [167] K. Nomura, T. Kamiya, H. Yanagi, E. Ikenaga, K. Yang, K. Kobayashi, M. Hirano, and H. Hosono, "Subgap states in transparent amorphous oxide semiconductor, In–Ga–Zn–O, observed by bulk sensitive x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 92, no. 20, p. 202117, May 2008, DOI: 10.1063/1.2927306.
- [168] S. Sallis, K. T. Butler, N. F. Quackenbush, D. S. Williams, M. Junda, D. A. Fischer, J. C. Woicik, N. J. Podraza, B. E. White, A. Walsh, and L. F. J. Piper, "Origin of deep subgap states in amorphous indium gallium zinc oxide: Chemically disordered coordination of

oxygen," Applied Physics Letters, vol. 104, no. 23, p. 232108, Jun. 2014, DOI: 10.1063/1.4883257.

- [169] P. Migliorato, M. D. H. Chowdhury, J. G. Um, M. Seok, and J. Jang, "Light/negative bias stress instabilities in indium gallium zinc oxide thin film transistors explained by creation of a double donor," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 101, no. 12, p. 123502, Sep. 2012, DOI: 10.1063/1.4752238.
- [170] C.-C. Yen, A.-H. Tai, Y.-C. Liu, T.-L. Chen, C.-H. Chou, and C. W. Liu, "Oxygen-related Reliability of Amorphous InGaZnO Thin Film Transistors," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, pp. 1–1, 2020, DOI: 10.1109/JEDS.2020.2993018.
- [171] S.-J. Seo, C. G. Choi, Y. H. Hwang, and B.-S. Bae, "High performance solution-processed amorphous zinc tin oxide thin film transistor," *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics*, vol. 42, no. 3, p. 035106, Feb. 2009, DOI: 10.1088/0022-3727/42/3/035106.
- [172] T. Kawamura, H. Wakana, K. Fujii, H. Ozaki, K. Watanabe, T. Yamazoe, H. Uchiyama, and K. Torii, "Oxide TFT Rectifier Achieving 13.56-MHz Wireless Operation," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 11, pp. 3002–3008, Nov. 2012, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2012.2213091.
- [173] Kichan Kim, Keun-Yeong Choi, and Hojin Lee, "a-InGaZnO Thin-Film Transistor-Based Operational Amplifier for an Adaptive DC–DC Converter in Display Driving Systems," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 1189–1194, Apr. 2015, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2015.2402684.
- [174] C.-Y. Huang, W.-Y. Li, Y.-H. Hsiao, W.-N. Gao, and C.-J. Chen, "Trap-assisted photomultiplication in a-IGZO/p-Si heterojunction ultraviolet photodiodes," *Smart Materials and Structures*, vol. 29, no. 11, p. 115019, Nov. 2020, DOI: 10.1088/1361-665X/aba81a.
- [175] D. H. Lee, K. Nomura, T. Kamiya, and H. Hosono, "Metal-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor Made Using Amorphous In-Ga-Zn-O Channel and Bottom Pt Schottky Contact Structure at 200 C," *ECS Solid State Letters*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. Q8–Q10, Jan. 2012, DOI: 10.1149/2.008201ssl.
- [176] G. T. Dang, T. Kawaharamura, M. Furuta, and M. W. Allen, "Metal-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors With In–Ga–Zn–O Channel Grown by Nonvacuum-Processed Mist Chemical Vapor Deposition," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 463–465, May 2015, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2015.2412124.
- [177] J. Kaczmarski, J. Grochowski, E. Kaminska, A. Taube, M. A. Borysiewicz, K. Pagowska, W. Jung, and A. Piotrowska, "Enhancement of Ru–Si–O/In–Ga–Zn–O MESFET Performance by Reducing Depletion Region Trap Density," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 469–471, May 2015, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2015.2411749.
- [178] G. T. Dang, T. Kawaharamura, M. Furuta, and M. W. Allen, "Zinc tin oxide metal semiconductor field effect transistors and their improvement under negative bias (illumination) temperature stress," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 110, no. 7, p. 073502, Feb. 2017, DOI: 10.1063/1.4976196.
- [179] S. Vogt, H. von Wenckstern, and M. Grundmann, "MESFETs and inverters based on amorphous zinc-tin-oxide thin films prepared at room temperature," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 113, no. 13, p. 133501, Sep. 2018, DOI: 10.1063/1.5038941.
- [180] S. Müller, H. von Wenckstern, F. Schmidt, D. Splith, R. Heinhold, M. Allen, and M. Grundmann, "Method of choice for fabrication of high-quality ZnO-based Schottky diodes," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 116, no. 19, p. 194506, Nov. 2014, DOI: 10.1063/1.4901637.

- [181] L. J. Brillson and Y. Lu, "ZnO Schottky barriers and Ohmic contacts," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 109, no. 12, p. 121301, 2011, DOI: 10.1063/1.3581173.
- [182] Y. Son, J. Li, and R. L. Peterson, "In Situ Chemical Modification of Schottky Barrier in Solution-Processed Zinc Tin Oxide Diode," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 8, no. 36, pp. 23801–23809, 2016, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.6b05953.
- [183] P. Schlupp, H. von Wenckstern, and M. Grundmann, "Schottky barrier diodes based on room temperature fabricated amorphous zinc tin oxide thin films: Schottky barrier diodes on amorphous zinc tin oxide," *physica status solidi (a)*, p. e201700210, Jun. 2017, DOI: 10.1002/pssa.201700210.
- [184] A. M. Hyland, R. A. Makin, S. M. Durbin, and M. W. Allen, "Giant improvement in the rectifying performance of oxidized Schottky contacts to ZnO," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 121, no. 2, p. 024501, Jan. 2017, DOI: 10.1063/1.4973487.
- [185] U. Kumar Barik, S. Srinivasan, C. L. Nagendra, and A. Subrahmanyam, "Electrical and optical properties of reactive DC magnetron sputtered silver oxide thin films: role of oxygen," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 429, no. 1–2, pp. 129–134, Apr. 2003, DOI: 10.1016/S0040-6090(03)00064-6.
- [186] M. S. White, D. C. Olson, S. E. Shaheen, N. Kopidakis, and D. S. Ginley, "Inverted bulkheterojunction organic photovoltaic device using a solution-derived ZnO underlayer," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 89, no. 14, p. 143517, Oct. 2006, DOI: 10.1063/1.2359579.
- [187] A. Takagi, K. Nomura, H. Ohta, H. Yanagi, T. Kamiya, M. Hirano, and H. Hosono, "Carrier transport and electronic structure in amorphous oxide semiconductor, a-InGaZnO₄," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 486, no. 1–2, pp. 38–41, Aug. 2005, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2004.11.223.
- [188] D. G. Georgiadou, J. Semple, A. A. Sagade, H. Forstén, P. Rantakari, Y.-H. Lin, F. Alkhalil, A. Seitkhan, K. Loganathan, H. Faber, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "100 GHz zinc oxide Schottky diodes processed from solution on a wafer scale," *Nature Electronics*, Oct. 2020, DOI: 10.1038/s41928-020-00484-7.
- [189] Y. Son and R. L. Peterson, "Exploiting In Situ Redox and Diffusion of Molybdenum to Enable Thin-Film Circuitry for Low-Cost Wireless Energy Harvesting," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 29, no. 5, p. 1806002, Feb. 2019, DOI: 10.1002/adfm.201806002.
- [190] J. Zhang, Y. Li, B. Zhang, H. Wang, Q. Xin, and A. Song, "Flexible indium-gallium-zincoxide Schottky diode operating beyond 2.45 GHz," *Nature Communications*, vol. 6, p. 7561, Jul. 2015, DOI: 10.1038/ncomms8561.
- [191] K. Shiojima and M. Shingo, "Mapping of Au/a-IGZO Schottky contacts by using scanning internal photoemission microscopy," *physica status solidi* (b), vol. 254, no. 2, p. 1600587, Feb. 2017, DOI: 10.1002/pssb.201600587.
- [192] J. Zhang, Q. Xin, and A. Song, "High performance Schottky diodes based on indiumgallium-zinc-oxide," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films*, vol. 34, no. 4, p. 04C101, Jul. 2016, DOI: 10.1116/1.4945102.
- [193] L. Du, J. Zhang, Y. Li, M. Xu, Q. Wang, A. Song, and Q. Xin, "High-Performance Flexible Schottky Diodes Based on Sputtered InGaZnO," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 65, no. 10, pp. 4326–4333, Oct. 2018, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2018.2864165.
- [194] A. Chasin, S. Steudel, K. Myny, M. Nag, T.-H. Ke, S. Schols, J. Genoe, G. Gielen, and P. Heremans, "High-performance a-In-Ga-Zn-O Schottky diode with oxygen-treated metal contacts," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 101, no. 11, p. 113505, 2012, DOI: 10.1063/1.4752009.

- [195] D. H. Lee, K. Nomura, T. Kamiya, and H. Hosono, "Diffusion-Limited a-IGZO/Pt Schottky Junction Fabricated at 200°C on a Flexible Substrate," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 1695–1697, Dec. 2011, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2011.2167123.
- [196] W. M. Haynes, CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 96th Edition. CRC Press, 2015.
- [197] M. Mativenga, M. Seok, and J. Jang, "Gate bias-stress induced hump-effect in transfer characteristics of amorphous-indium-galium-zinc-oxide thin-fim transistors with various channel widths," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 99, no. 12, p. 122107, Sep. 2011, DOI: 10.1063/1.3641473.
- [198] A. Kim, K. Song, Y. Kim, and J. Moon, "All Solution-Processed, Fully Transparent Resistive Memory Devices," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 3, no. 11, pp. 4525– 4530, Nov. 2011, DOI: 10.1021/am201215e.
- [199] J. Jeon, T. I. Lee, J.-H. Choi, J. P. Kar, W. J. Choi, H. K. Baik, and J.-M. Myoung, "Performance Enhanced Carbon Nanotube Films by Mechanical Pressure for a Transparent Metal Oxide Thin Film Field Effect Transistor," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. H76–H79, Feb. 2011, DOI: 10.1149/1.3505361.
- [200] F. A. Padovani and R. Stratton, "Field and thermionic-field emission in Schottky barriers," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 695–707, 1966.
- [201] J. S. Kim, Y. Jang, S. Kang, Y. Lee, K. Kim, W. Kim, W. Lee, and C. S. Hwang, "Substrate-Dependent Growth Behavior of Atomic-Layer-Deposited Zinc Oxide and Zinc Tin Oxide Thin Films for Thin-Film Transistor Applications," *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, vol. 124, no. 49, pp. 26780–26792, Dec. 2020, DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpcc.0c07800.
- [202] D. S. Engstrom, B. Porter, M. Pacios, and H. Bhaskaran, "Additive nanomanufacturing A review," *Journal of Materials Research*, vol. 29, no. 17, pp. 1792–1816, Sep. 2014, DOI: 10.1557/jmr.2014.159.
- [203] A. Zhakeyev, P. Wang, L. Zhang, W. Shu, H. Wang, and J. Xuan, "Additive Manufacturing: Unlocking the Evolution of Energy Materials," *Advanced Science*, vol. 4, no. 10, p. 1700187, Oct. 2017, DOI: 10.1002/advs.201700187.
- [204] D. M. Eigler and E. K. Schweizer, "Positioning single atoms with a scanning tunnelling microscope," *Nature*, vol. 344, no. 6266, pp. 524–526, Apr. 1990, DOI: 10.1038/344524a0.
- [205] Y.-L. Zhang, Q.-D. Chen, H. Xia, and H.-B. Sun, "Designable 3D nanofabrication by femtosecond laser direct writing," *Nano Today*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 435–448, 2010, DOI: 10.1016/j.nantod.2010.08.007.
- [206] M. Deubel, G. von Freymann, M. Wegener, S. Pereira, K. Busch, and C. M. Soukoulis, "Direct laser writing of three-dimensional photonic-crystal templates for telecommunications," *Nature Materials*, vol. 3, no. 7, pp. 444–447, Jul. 2004, DOI: 10.1038/nmat1155.
- [207] B. Derby, "Inkjet Printing of Functional and Structural Materials: Fluid Property Requirements, Feature Stability, and Resolution," *Annual Review of Materials Research*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 395–414, Jun. 2010, DOI: 10.1146/annurev-matsci-070909-104502.
- [208] M. Gao, L. Li, and Y. Song, "Inkjet printing wearable electronic devices," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 5, no. 12, pp. 2971–2993, 2017, DOI: 10.1039/C7TC00038C.
- [209] S. Lee, J. Kim, J. Choi, H. Park, J. Ha, Y. Kim, J. A. Rogers, and U. Paik, "Patterned oxide semiconductor by electrohydrodynamic jet printing for transparent thin film transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 100, no. 10, p. 102108, Mar. 2012, DOI: 10.1063/1.3691177.
- [210] S. Jeong, J.-Y. Lee, S. S. Lee, Y.-H. Seo, S.-Y. Kim, J.-U. Park, B.-H. Ryu, W. Yang, J. Moon, and Y. Choi, "Metal salt-derived In–Ga–Zn–O semiconductors incorporating

formamide as a novel co-solvent for producing solution-processed, electrohydrodynamic-jet printed, high performance oxide transistors," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 1, no. 27, p. 4236, 2013, DOI: 10.1039/c3tc30530a.

- [211] Y. Li, L. Lan, S. Sun, Z. Lin, P. Gao, W. Song, E. Song, P. Zhang, and J. Peng, "All Inkjet-Printed Metal-Oxide Thin-Film Transistor Array with Good Stability and Uniformity Using Surface-Energy Patterns," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 8194–8200, Mar. 2017, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.7b00435.
- [212] S.-Y. Han, D.-H. Lee, G. S. Herman, and C.-H. Chang, "Inkjet-Printed High Mobility Transparent–Oxide Semiconductors," *Journal of Display Technology*, vol. 5, no. 12, pp. 520– 524, Dec. 2009, DOI: 10.1109/JDT.2009.2024330.
- [213] H. Huang, H. Hu, J. Zhu, and T. Guo, "Inkjet-Printed In-Ga-Zn Oxide Thin-Film Transistors with Laser Spike Annealing," *Journal of Electronic Materials*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 4497–4502, Jul. 2017, DOI: 10.1007/s11664-017-5440-x.
- [214] K. Everaerts, L. Zeng, J. W. Hennek, D. I. Camacho, D. Jariwala, M. J. Bedzyk, M. C. Hersam, and T. J. Marks, "Printed Indium Gallium Zinc Oxide Transistors. Self-Assembled Nanodielectric Effects on Low-Temperature Combustion Growth and Carrier Mobility," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 5, no. 22, pp. 11884–11893, Nov. 2013, DOI: 10.1021/am403585n.
- [215] J. W. Hennek, Y. Xia, K. Everaerts, M. C. Hersam, A. Facchetti, and T. J. Marks, "Reduced Contact Resistance in Inkjet Printed High-Performance Amorphous Indium Gallium Zinc Oxide Transistors," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 1614–1619, Mar. 2012, DOI: 10.1021/am201776p.
- [216] T. T. Baby, S. K. Garlapati, S. Dehm, M. Häming, R. Kruk, H. Hahn, and S. Dasgupta, "A General Route toward Complete Room Temperature Processing of Printed and High Performance Oxide Electronics," ACS Nano, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 3075–3083, Mar. 2015, DOI: 10.1021/nn507326z.
- [217] J. Leppäniemi, K. Eiroma, H. Majumdar, and A. Alastalo, "Far-UV Annealed Inkjet-Printed In 2 O 3 Semiconductor Layers for Thin-Film Transistors on a Flexible Polyethylene Naphthalate Substrate," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 8774–8782, Mar. 2017, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.6b14654.
- [218] D. Sun, C. Chen, J. Zhang, X. Wu, H. Chen, and T. Guo, "High performance inkjet-printed metal oxide thin film transistors via addition of insulating polymer with proper molecular weight," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 112, no. 1, p. 012102, Jan. 2018, DOI: 10.1063/1.5000313.
- [219] W. J. Scheideler, R. Kumar, A. R. Zeumault, and V. Subramanian, "Low-Temperature-Processed Printed Metal Oxide Transistors Based on Pure Aqueous Inks," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 27, no. 14, p. 1606062, Apr. 2017, DOI: 10.1002/adfm.201606062.
- [220] S. Meyer, D. V. Pham, S. Merkulov, D. Weber, A. Merkulov, N. Benson, and R. Schmechel, "Soluble Metal Oxo Alkoxide Inks with Advanced Rheological Properties for Inkjet-Printed Thin-Film Transistors," ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 2625–2633, Jan. 2017, DOI: 10.1021/acsami.6b12586.
- [221] W. Xie, X. Zhang, C. Leighton, and C. D. Frisbie, "2D Insulator-Metal Transition in Aerosol-Jet-Printed Electrolyte-Gated Indium Oxide Thin Film Transistors," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 3, no. 3, p. 1600369, Mar. 2017, DOI: 10.1002/aelm.201600369.

- [222] S.-Y. Kim, K. Kim, Y. H. Hwang, J. Park, J. Jang, Y. Nam, Y. Kang, M. Kim, H. J. Park, Z. Lee, J. Choi, Y. Kim, S. Jeong, B.-S. Bae, and J.-U. Park, "High-resolution electrohydrodynamic inkjet printing of stretchable metal oxide semiconductor transistors with high performance," *Nanoscale*, vol. 8, no. 39, pp. 17113–17121, 2016, DOI: 10.1039/C6NR05577J.
- [223] D.-H. Lee, Y.-J. Chang, G. S. Herman, and C.-H. Chang, "A General Route to Printable High-Mobility Transparent Amorphous Oxide Semiconductors," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 19, no. 6, pp. 843–847, Mar. 2007, DOI: 10.1002/adma.200600961.
- [224] D.-H. Lee, S.-Y. Han, G. S. Herman, and C. Chang, "Inkjet printed high-mobility indium zinc tin oxide thin film transistors," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 19, no. 20, p. 3135, 2009, DOI: 10.1039/b822893k.
- [225] S. C. Lim, J. Y. Oh, J. B. Koo, C. W. Park, S.-W. Jung, B. S. Na, and H. Y. Chu, "Electrical Properties of Solution-Deposited ZnO Thin-Film Transistors by Low-Temperature Annealing," *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, vol. 14, no. 11, pp. 8665–8670, Nov. 2014, DOI: 10.1166/jnn.2014.10002.
- [226] Y.-Y. Noh, X. Cheng, H. Sirringhaus, J. I. Sohn, M. E. Welland, and D. J. Kang, "Ink-jet printed ZnO nanowire field effect transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 91, no. 4, p. 043109, Jul. 2007, DOI: 10.1063/1.2760041.
- [227] S. T. Meyers, J. T. Anderson, C. M. Hung, J. Thompson, J. F. Wager, and D. A. Keszler, "Aqueous Inorganic Inks for Low-Temperature Fabrication of ZnO TFTs," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 130, no. 51, pp. 17603–17609, Dec. 2008, DOI: 10.1021/ja808243k.
- [228] K. Hong, S. H. Kim, K. H. Lee, and C. D. Frisbie, "Printed, sub-2V ZnO Electrolyte Gated Transistors and Inverters on Plastic," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 25, no. 25, pp. 3413–3418, Jul. 2013, DOI: 10.1002/adma.201300211.
- [229] K. Hong, Y. H. Kim, S. H. Kim, W. Xie, W. D. Xu, C. H. Kim, and C. D. Frisbie, "Aerosol Jet Printed, Sub-2 V Complementary Circuits Constructed from *P* - and *N*-Type Electrolyte Gated Transistors," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 26, no. 41, pp. 7032–7037, Nov. 2014, DOI: 10.1002/adma.201401330.
- [230] D. Kim, Y. Jeong, K. Song, S.-K. Park, G. Cao, and J. Moon, "Inkjet-Printed Zinc Tin Oxide Thin-Film Transistor," *Langmuir*, vol. 25, no. 18, pp. 11149–11154, Sep. 2009, DOI: 10.1021/la901436p.
- [231] Y.-H. Kim, K.-H. Kim, M. S. Oh, H. J. Kim, J.-I. Han, M.-K. Han, and S. K. Park, "Ink-Jet-Printed Zinc-Tin-Oxide Thin-Film Transistors and Circuits With Rapid Thermal Annealing Process," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 8, pp. 836–838, Aug. 2010, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2010.2051404.
- [232] T. H. Cho, N. Farjam, C. R. Allemang, C. P. Pannier, E. Kazyak, C. Huber, M. Rose, O. Trejo, R. L. Peterson, K. Barton, and N. P. Dasgupta, "Area-Selective Atomic Layer Deposition Patterned by Electrohydrodynamic Jet Printing for Additive Manufacturing of Functional Materials and Devices," *ACS Nano*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 17262–17272, Dec. 2020, DOI: 10.1021/acsnano.0c07297.
- [233] D. H. Levy, C. R. Ellinger, and S. F. Nelson, "Metal-oxide thin-film transistors patterned by printing," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 103, no. 4, p. 043505, Jul. 2013, DOI: 10.1063/1.4816322.
- [234] C. Allemang, T. H. Cho, N. Farjam, O. Trejo, K. Barton, N. P. Dasgupta, and R. L. Peterson, "Area-selective Atomic Layer Deposition of High Mobility Zinc-Tin-Oxide for

Thin-film Transistors Patterned by Electrohydrodynamic-jet Printing," in 78th Device Research Conference, Columbus, OH, 2020.

- [235] X. Liu, S. Ramanathan, A. Longdergan, A. Srivastava, E. Lee, T. E. Seidel, J. T. Barton, D. Pang, and R. G. Gordon, "ALD of Hafnium Oxide Thin Films from Tetrakis(ethylmethylamino)hafnium and Ozone," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 152, no. 3, p. G213, 2005, DOI: 10.1149/1.1859631.
- [236] M. Seo, Y.-S. Min, S. K. Kim, T. J. Park, J. H. Kim, K. D. Na, and C. S. Hwang, "Atomic layer deposition of hafnium oxide from tert-butoxytris(ethylmethylamido)hafnium and ozone: rapid growth, high density and thermal stability," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 18, no. 36, p. 4324, 2008, DOI: 10.1039/b806382f.
- [237] S.-J. Won, H.-S. Jung, S. Suh, Y. Jin Choi, N.-I. Lee, C. Seong Hwang, and H. Joon Kim, "Growth and electrical properties of silicon oxide grown by atomic layer deposition using Bis(ethyl-methyl-amino)silane and ozone," *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films*, vol. 30, no. 1, p. 01A126, Jan. 2012, DOI: 10.1116/1.3664122.
- [238] C. R. Kagan and P. Andry, *Thin-Film Transistors*. CRC Press, 2003.
- [239] Z. Kan, Z. Wang, Y. Firdaus, M. Babics, H. N. Alshareef, and P. M. Beaujuge, "Atomiclayer-deposited AZO outperforms ITO in high-efficiency polymer solar cells," *Journal of Materials Chemistry A*, vol. 6, no. 22, pp. 10176–10183, 2018, DOI: 10.1039/C8TA02841A.
- [240] Y. Wu, P. M. Hermkens, B. W. H. van de Loo, H. C. M. Knoops, S. E. Potts, M. A. Verheijen, F. Roozeboom, and W. M. M. Kessels, "Electrical transport and Al doping efficiency in nanoscale ZnO films prepared by atomic layer deposition," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 114, no. 2, p. 024308, Jul. 2013, DOI: 10.1063/1.4813136.
- [241] T. T. Can, T. C. Nguyen, and W.-S. Choi, "Patterning of High-Viscosity Silver Paste by an Electrohydrodynamic-Jet Printer for Use in TFT Applications," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 9180, Dec. 2019, DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-45504-5.
- [242] T. T. T. Can, T. C. Nguyen, and W.-S. Choi, "High-Viscosity Copper Paste Patterning and Application to Thin-Film Transistors Using Electrohydrodynamic Jet Printing," *Advanced Engineering Materials*, vol. 22, no. 3, p. 1901384, Mar. 2020, DOI: 10.1002/adem.201901384.
- [243] T. Törndahl, M. Ottosson, and J.-O. Carlsson, "Growth of copper metal by atomic layer deposition using copper(I) chloride, water and hydrogen as precursors," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 458, no. 1–2, pp. 129–136, Jun. 2004, DOI: 10.1016/j.tsf.2003.12.063.
- [244] S. Hu, H. Ning, K. Lu, Z. Fang, Y. Li, R. Yao, M. Xu, L. Wang, J. Peng, and X. Lu, "Mobility Enhancement in Amorphous In-Ga-Zn-O Thin-Film Transistor by Induced Metallic in Nanoparticles and Cu Electrodes," *Nanomaterials*, vol. 8, no. 4, p. 197, Mar. 2018, DOI: 10.3390/nano8040197.
- [245] D. V. Nazarov, N. P. Bobrysheva, O. M. Osmolovskaya, M. G. Osmolovsky, and V. M. Smirnov, "ATOMIC LAYER DEPOSITION OF TIN DIOXIDE NANOFILMS: A REVIEW," *Reviews on Advanced Materials Science*, vol. 40, pp. 262–275, 2015.
- [246] D. Choi and J.-S. Park, "Highly conductive SnO2 thin films deposited by atomic layer deposition using tetrakis-dimethyl-amine-tin precursor and ozone reactant," *Surface and Coatings Technology*, vol. 259, pp. 238–243, Nov. 2014, DOI: 10.1016/j.surfcoat.2014.02.012.
- [247] R. F. Pierret, *Semiconductor Device Fundamentals*. Reading, Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1996.

- [248] C. H. Ahn, S. Hee Kim, M. Gu Yun, and H. Koun Cho, "Design of step composition gradient thin film transistor channel layers grown by atomic layer deposition," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 105, no. 22, p. 223513, Dec. 2014, DOI: 10.1063/1.4901732.
- [249] Y. Fan, J. Han, L. He, J. Saraie, R. L. Gunshor, M. Hagerott, H. Jeon, A. V. Nurmikko, G. C. Hua, and N. Otsuka, "Graded band gap ohmic contact to p -ZnSe," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 61, no. 26, pp. 3160–3162, Dec. 1992, DOI: 10.1063/1.107945.
- [250] H. Sheng, N. W. Emanetoglu, S. Muthukumar, B. V. Yakshinskiy, S. Feng, and Y. Lu, "Ta/Au ohmic contacts to n-type ZnO," *Journal of Electronic Materials*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 935–938, Sep. 2003, DOI: 10.1007/s11664-003-0226-8.